
 
 

 

 
Meeting of:   

 
Cabinet 

Date: Tuesday, 1st December, 2020 
Time: 6.00 pm. 
Venue: Virtual via Zoom and on YouTube 

 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by 
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page No 

1   Apologies   

 To receive any apologies for absence.  

2   Minutes   

 To consider the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 27 October 

2020. 

 

3   Declarations of Interest   

 Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 

or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 

those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 

of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

 

4   Urgent Items of Business   

 To determine whether there are any additional items of business 

which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 

be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

5   Items for Exclusion of Public and Press   

 To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 

be excluded from the meeting. 

 

 

Public Document Pack



6   Finance Update Report Period 6  5 - 52 

 To consider the attached report of the Cabinet Mewmber for Corporate 

Delivery / Chief Finance Officer. 

 

7   Calculation of 2021-22 Taxbase  53 - 59 

 To consider the attached report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate 

Delivery / Chief Finance Officer. 

 

8   Council Tax Empty Property Charges  60 - 62 

 To consider the attached report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate 

Delivery / Chief Finance Officer. 

 

9   2021/22 Setting the Business Rate Base  63 - 67 

 To consider the attached report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate 

Delivery / Chief Finance Officer. 

 

10   Special Guardianship  68 - 93 

 To consider the attached report from the Cabinet Member for Getting a 

Good Start / Monitoring Officer. 

 

11   Savings Programme 2021/22  94 - 251 

 To consider the attached report of the Leader of the Council / Cabinet 

Member for Corporate Delivery / Chief Finance Officer. 

 

12   Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026  252 - 306 

 To consider the Authority’s Statement of Licensing Policy 2021 – 2026 

and to make appropriate recommendations to Full Council thereon. 

 

13   Exclusion of Press and Public   

 To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 

part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 

 



 
 

likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 

interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

14   Savings Programme 2021/22 (Part 2)  307 - 464 

 To consider the attached report of the Leader of the Council / Cabinet 

Member for Corporate Delivery / Chief Finance Officer. 

 

15   Financial Assessment (DLA) Review  465 - 470 

 To consider the attached report of the Cabinet Member for Social Care 

and Ageing Well / Director of Commissioning. 

 

16   Bulk Printing Procurement  471 - 473 

 To consider the attached report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate 

Delivery / Chief Finance Officer. 

 

17   Littleborough Primary School Project  474 - 485 

 To consider the attached report from the Cabinet Member for Getting a 

Good Start / Director of Children’s Services. 

 

18   Proposed changes to EM Services - Bowlee Nursery  486 - 488 

 To consider the attached report from the Cabinet Member for Quality 

of Place / Director of Environment. 

 

 

Cabinet Members 
Councillor Daalat Ali Councillor Allen Brett 
Councillor Neil Emmott Councillor Janet Emsley 
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Councillor John Blundell 
Councillor Kieran Heakin Councillor Sara Rowbotham 
Councillor Carol Wardle  
 

For more information about this meeting, please contact  
Alison James 
01706 924711/924715 
alison.james@Rochdale.Gov.UK 



 
 

 

Report to Cabinet  

 

 

Date of Meeting 1st December 2020 

Portfolio Cabinet Member for Corporate 

Delivery 

Report Author Samantha Smith 

Public/Private Document Public 

 

Finance Update Report Period 6 

 

Executive Summary 

 

1. To inform Cabinet and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 

Council’s forecast 2020/21 financial position as at the end of September 2020, and 

the additional Covid-19 funding received in October. 

1.1 The Finance Update report contains details of the following: 

 The forecast Revenue outturn position, which is an in-year saving of £1,745k. The 

General Fund net pressure relating to Covid-19 is £125k, largely offset by the use 

of government funding relating to Covid-19 of £22,231k, including an additional 

£6,199k being received in October 2020.  Non-Covid-19 in-year savings are 

currently reported at £1,870k, which is an improvement of £2,408k from the period 

4 forecast. The large movements being within Adult Social Care and Economy 

which are reporting a breakeven position and Children’s Social Care and 

Neighbourhoods where underspends are forecast. 

 

 Savings plans of £4,169k ongoing and £280k one off, with a balance to address 

of £870k, relating to the impact of Covid-19. 

 

 An update on the Health & Social Care Pool Fund position. 

 

 Forecast Capital expenditure of £70,688k, after re-phasing of £5,579k into future 

years. 

 

 The forecast 2020/21 Collection Fund position of a deficit of £30,450k, which will 

be partially mitigated by increased government Section 31 grant of £20,950k, 

Page 4

Agenda Item 6



 
 

leaving a residual pressure of £9,500k, with this pressure relating to the impact of 

Covid-19. The Council’s share of the forecast net 2020/21 Collection Fund deficit 

is £8,497k, which will impact on the Council’s General Fund budget for 2021/22. 

 

 The mid-year 2020/21 Treasury Management update. 

Recommendation 

 

2.1 Cabinet notes the forecast 2020/21 financial positions for Revenue, Capital, and 

the Collection Fund as at the end of September 2020, as detailed in section 4. 

2.2 Cabinet approves the utilisation of the 4th tranche of emergency Covid 19 funding 
of £6,199k detailed in section 4.1. 

 
2.3 Cabinet notes the forecast Health & Social Care Pool Budget position as detailed 

in section 4.2 
 
2.4 Cabinet approves the Budget Pressure requests for 2021/22 in section 4.3 
 
2.6 Cabinet note the forecast unachieved savings target in section 4.4 
 
2.7 Cabinet notes the net Capital budget changes of £1,066k detailed in section 

4.6.1 
 
2.8 Cabinet notes the Capital re-phasing of £5,579k detailed in section 4.6.2. 
 
2.9 Cabinet approves the reversal of the £140k reduction in Townships capital 

budget in 2020/21, and rephasing of that budget into 2021/22, as detailed in 
section 4.6.3. 

 
2.10 Cabinet notes the budget returns of £1,001k detailed in 4.6.4 
 
2.11 Cabinet approves the budget switch detailed in 4.6.5 
 
2.12 Cabinet notes the mid-year 2020/21 Treasury Management update report 

contained in section 4.8. 
 

Reason for Recommendation 

 

3. Cabinet Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the authority, 

as effective budget management is critical to ensuring financial resources are 

spent in line with the budget and are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. 

This report focuses on the forecast 2020/21 financial position as at the end 
September 2020. 

  

Page 5



 
 

Key Points for Consideration 

 

4. Revenue Budget 2020/21 

 

The budget set by Budget Council on 26th February 2020 was £224,127k. 
Increases in budget in this financial year up to period 6 are detailed in the 
following table: 

4.1 

 
 The following amount has increased the Council’s Revenue budget since the 

period 4 Finance Update report was finalised: 

 £6,199k Emergency funding for local government (tranche 4) in relation to 

Covid-19 

 

Approval for the utilisation of funding provided by the Government to mitigate the 

additional expenditure/loss of income resulting from the impact of Covid-19 has 

been obtained in accordance with the Council’s constitution for previous funding 

received.  

Members are asked to approve the use of the fourth tranche of emergency Covid 

19 funding of £6,199k received in October 2020 to help to offset the financial 

impact of Covid 19. The total non-ring-fenced emergency Covid 19 funding is 

now £22,231k. 

 

The Revenue Budget Table in 4.1.2 provides detail of budget allocations and the 
estimated 2020/21 financial position. 
 

4.1.1 The forecast position as at the end of September 2020 is a General Fund in-year 

saving of £1,745k.  

Approved 
by 

When Reason for change 
Amount 
(£'000) 

Budget 
Council  Mar-20 Approved budget 

   
224,127  

Cabinet Apr-20 Emergency Covid-19 Funding tranche 2   6,116  

Cabinet Apr-20 Hardship Funding   3,064  

Cabinet Apr-20 
S31 - Covid-19 Grant Business Rates relief 
compensation 

20,950  

Cabinet Jul-20 Emergency Covid-19 Funding tranche 3 2,416  

Cabinet Jul-20 
Business Rates Top up Grant - final settlement 
adjustment 

677  

Cabinet Jul-20 New Burdens grant relating to Covid 19 170  

Cabinet Jul-20 S31-Business Rates Grant Relief adjustment 292  

Pending Oct-20 Emergency Covid-19 Funding tranche 4 6,199 

    GRAND TOTAL   264,011  

Page 6



 
 

This is an improvement of £13,171k from period 4, of which:  
 

 £10,763k relates to Covid-19. £6,199k is due to increased non- ringfenced 
government funding, £2,873k forecast compensation for lost income and 
use of reserves, and the remaining improvement of £1,691k relates mostly 
to an improved forecast position for Covid-19 related loss of income.  

 

 £2,408k relates to non-Covid 19 issues across most directorates. The 
table in section 4.1.2 provides further detail of the movements by 
directorate since September Cabinet. 

 
4.1.2 £125k pressure is attributable to Covid-19 which is net of Covid-19 emergency 

funding; the pressures include £870k of 2020/21 savings proposals that are not 

currently achievable. Budget will be allocated to Directorates to offset the 

pressures related to Covid-19. 

Non Covid-19 in-year savings are forecast currently at £1,870k. 

Page 7



 
 

The table below provides detail by Directorate:  
 

Directorate/Detail Current 

Controllable 

Net Budget 

Forecast 

Controllable 

Outurn P6 

Forecast In-

Year Saving 

(Overspend) 

Previous 

Monitoring 

Report P4 

Movement 

since 

September 

Cabinet 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Adult Care 57,660 57,660 - (500) 500 

Children’s 49,483 48,727 756 192 564 

Economy 15,251 15,251 - (170) 170 

Neighbourhoods 51,700 51,541 159 (219) 378 

Public Health  19,302 19,302 - - - 

Resources 14,310 14,149 161 152 9 

Total Services Spending 207,706 206,630 1,076 (545) 1,621 

Contribution from Integrated Pool Budget  (102,339) (102,339) - - - 

Contribution to Integrated Pool Budget 102,339 102,339 - - - 

Total Pooled Budgets 0 0 - - - 

Finance Control Corporately Held Budgets 30,782 29,998 794 7 787 

Covid-19 Emergency Funding 22,231 22,356 (125) (10,888) 10,763 

Finance Control Budget Pressures 576 576 - - - 

Total Finance Control Spending 53,590 52,920 669 (10,881) 11,550 

Net Expenditure 261,295 259,550 1,745 (11,426) 13,171 

Uncontrollable Budget Spend 2,716 2,716 - - - 

Total Budget 264,011 262,266 1,745 (11,426) 13,171 

 
 

 
 

P
age 8



 
 

The variations to controllable Revenue budget, by service, which are not related 

to Covid-19 are detailed below, and further detail may be found in Appendix A: 

Service Narrative 
Amount 
£'000 

Adult Care 

The Core Service provision is expected to break 
even with a pressure from commissioned 
placements being matched by in year savings, 
mainly from staff turnover. 

0 

Children's  

 
General Fund - Children's Social Care (CSC) is 
reporting an underspend of £0.581m in relation to a 
reduction in placement costs. As at 28th September 
2020 Cared for Children's numbers are showing a 
net reduction of 4, and a net reduction of 44 at child 
protection level since 1st April 2020. This is a 
positive position as the service have reduced 
numbers alongside managing the additional 
pressures of Covid-19. The critical point for CSC is 
now children have returned to school, and the 
service are seeing an increase in referrals and 
complex cases. If CSC are able to hold or continue 
to reduce cared for children and child protection 
numbers then Covid-19 related projected costs may 
be significantly reduced. There are forecast in year 
savings of £0.300m relating to the Youth Service, 
Sure Start/Early Help services mainly due to staffing 
savings, and £0.271m relating to the 
overachievement of income in the Schools Support 
service area. There is a pressure of £0.396m within 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities relating 
to transport costs which is in line with the growth 
throughout 2019/20 now having full year impact and 
continued growth within 2020/21. 
 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) - There continues 
to be a pressure on the High Needs Block Dedicated 
Schools grant due to the continued growth in 
Education Health Care Plans and Special 
Educational Needs Support. The period 6 position is 
a £1,595m deficit; all special schools within the 
borough are now at maximum capacity, therefore 
any further requests for places will ultimately have to 
be placed out of borough at independent schools 
which is a high cost provision. The service are 
working with schools at both primary and secondary 
level to increase SEND provision within the borough. 
 

756 

Page 9



 
 

Service Narrative 
Amount 
£'000 

Neighbourhoods 

 
The Neighbourhoods Directorate is reporting a 
potential in-year saving of £159k. 
In-year savings are being achieved through Facilities 
Management £49k, Environmental Management 
£84k, Coroners £65k, Community & Townships 
£95k; these are partially being used to offset 
overspends in Strategic Housing £53k and 
Properties £81k. 

159 

Finance Control 

 
No new external borrowing has been undertaken so 
far this year due to the use of internal balances, and 
a robust balance sheet position maintained. The 
rephasing and reductions of Capital Budget 
approved at September Cabinet has resulted in 
savings of £787k. Reduced debt has increased the 
reported in-year saving by a further £7k. 
 

794 

Resources 

 
The Resources Directorate is reporting a potential 
in-year saving of £161k from current year employee 
savings from vacant posts, temporary arrangements 
and one off funding. These savings are being used 
to mitigate pressures within the Legal Shared 
Service with Manchester which are currently under 
discussion, and increased maintenance costs for the 
new I Trent Payroll system.  
 

161 

Total   1,870 

 
  

Page 10



 
 

4.1.3 The variations to controllable Revenue budget, by service, which are related to 

Covid-19 are detailed below: 

Expenditure £'000s 

Adult Social Care  9,257 

Children's Social Care 2,729 

Education 68 

Highways and transport, Public Health & Housing 3,617 

Cultural & Related 2,970 

Environmental and regulatory services 1,727 

Finance & Corporate  4,647 

Other services 1,215 

Estimated Total Spending Pressure 26,230 

Less funding received for Infection Control, Test & Trace, 
Hardship Fund and Health (via CCG) 

(15,300) 

Estimated Funding Pressure 10,930  

Income £'000s 

Sales, fees and charges 3,703  

Commercial Income 10,596  

Estimated Total reduction in Income 14,299  

Total Estimated Pressure 25,229  

Government Emergency Funding (22,231) 

Forecast Government compensation re: Sales, Fees & 

Charges Income, and use of Reserves (2,873)   

Residual Pressure 125    

 

The Government has developed an income compensation scheme for lost sales, 

fees and charges for 2020/21 as a result of the impact of Covid 19. The Council 

will be submitting claims that meet the criteria of the scheme to reduce the residual 

pressure. The current forecast claim for lost 2020/21 income is £2,073k, although 

this is subject to change during the remainder of the financial year. The scheme 

does not compensate the Council for the majority of income lost due to commercial 

loses not being eligible for compensation. 

 The forecast cost projections relating to Covid-19 include possible financial 

support for Link4Life, the Council’s culture and leisure provider. A recovery plan 

has been developed for Link4Life as it emerges from lockdown, which will be 

Page 11



 
 

monitored through the contract. Link4Life have recently been awarded c£666k of 

funding from the government’s Cultural Recovery Fund. 

The Council has reviewed its level of Reserves, and Treasury Management 

strategy to assess the availability of one off funds to offset against any pressures 

caused by the impact of Covid-19. The Council has indicated to the government 

that £7m of Reserves could be used; a £3m reserve established for Manchester 

Airport dividend pressures, and £4m of General Balances, established for various 

unforeseen issues, including demand pressures and a reduction in the collection 

of Business Rates and Council Tax. The current forecast position for 2020/21 

indicates that the Council will not need to utilise reserves in this financial year. 

However, these reserves will be earmarked to offset future year pressures relating 

to commercial losses and the Collection Fund, as the impact of Covid-19 is 

estimated to have a longer term impact than previously predicted. 

Work is on-going to assess the financial impact and timeframe involved relating 

to Covid-19. The longer term implications are being considered to support the 

Council in its financial planning going forward. 

The Council will, with other Greater Manchester councils, continue to lobby the 

government to provide further funding to offset the ongoing financial impact of 

Covid-19. 

4.2 Health & Social Care Pool Budget 
 

As at the end of September 2020 the forecast gap in the Pool Fund for 2020/21 

is £8,800k: 

 £1,000k of which is the forecast remaining element of the opening pool gap; 

this figure is a reduction of £1,100k from period 4 and is subject to change 

 £7,800k relating to Covid-19 pressures. 

  

Page 12



 
 

4.3 Budget Pressures 

The Budget Pressure Fund for 2020/21 reported to September Cabinet was 

£576k; the following table details adjustments and requests received to the end 

of September 2020: 

 Service 

Ongoing 

£000s 

One 

off 

£000's 

Total 

£000s 

Narrative 

Opening Balance 
2020/21 Period 6 

492.7 83.1 575.8 The balance brought forward is net 
of previously approved allocations 

Period 6 Requests: 
Ongoing 

£’000s  

One 
off 

£’000s  
Total 

£’000s   Narrative 

    
There are no Budget Pressure 
Requests for 2020/21 reported in 
Period 6. 

Remaining Balance 
2020/21 

492.7 83.1 575.8 
Total of remaining pressures 
budget 

Children’s 16  16 

Parent Assessment Manual (PAMS 
assessment) software and training 
pressure of £16k cannot be met by 
Service and Budget Pressures 
funding is requested for 2021/22 
onwards. 

Neighbourhoods  330 330 

Request to extend the Integrated 
Place Team for 12 months due to 
the resource being used for Covid-
19 work. This request is one off in 
2021/22 

Neighbourhoods  46 46 
Cabinet report 27th October 
requested Homelessness Scheme 
funding 2021/22 

Neighbourhoods  23 23 
Cabinet report 27th October 
requested Homelessness Scheme 
funding 2021/22 

 

If the requests are approved the balance remaining for budget pressures in 

2020/21 is £576k; £493k ongoing and £83k one off. 

4.4 Savings 

The overall savings target for Services for 2020/21 is £4,451k (£4,171k recurrent, 

and £280k one-off). Services have identified savings proposals which have a 

balance to address relating to Covid-19 of £870k (which is included in the 

reported pressure of £125k in 4.1.2) as shown in the table below:  

Page 13



 
 

Service Nature of Saving Savings 

Target - 

Ongoing 

Savings 

Target - 

One Off 

Achieved On-

Target 

Mitigating 

Actions 

Total 

Balance 

to 

Address 

Balance to 

Address 

relating to 

Covid-19 

Balance 

to 

Address 

Non 

Covid-19 

     £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 

Adult Care Improved opportunities 

through person centred 

planning for people in 

Supported Living 

300 (45) - 55 - 200 200 - 

Adult Care Prevention Contracts 

(previously supported living) 

180 - - - - 180 180 - 

Adult Care Adult Care Commissioned 

Day Services 

134 (15) (15) - - 134 134 - 

Adult Care Moving On 50 - 40 - - 10 10 - 

  Sub Total Adults 1,282 60 253 565 - 524 524 - 

  Sub Total Children's 166 - - 166 - - - - 

Economy N1 Riverside Utilisation 

Income 

35 - - - - 35 35 - 

  Sub Total Economy 60 - 25 - - 35 35 - 

Neighbourhoods Capitalisation of Building 

Support Team and reduction 

in Training Budget 

100 - - 56 - 44 44 - 

Neighbourhoods Waste Vehicle cleaning 17 - - - - 17 17 - 

Neighbourhoods Additional SIMS income from 

schools outside Borough 

20 - - - - 20 20 - 

P
age 14



 
 

Service Nature of Saving Savings 

Target - 

Ongoing 

Savings 

Target - 

One Off 

Achieved On-

Target 

Mitigating 

Actions 

Total 

Balance 

to 

Address 

Balance to 

Address 

relating to 

Covid-19 

Balance 

to 

Address 

Non 

Covid-19 

     £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000 

Neighbourhoods Income generation from 

advertising / Digital 

advertising screens 

 

7 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

7 

 

7 

 

- 

Neighbourhoods Place based asset 

management system 

100 - - - 60 40 40 - 

  Sub Total Neighbourhoods 499 100 268 77 126 128 128 0 

Public Health System wide prevention 

review (including YP 

Substance Misuse and 

Sexual Health Contract 

review) 

129 - 26 - - 103 103 - 

  Sub Total Public Health 230 0 127 0 0 103 103 0 

Resources Early Payment Initiative - 120 - 40 - 80 80 - 

  Sub Total Public 

Resources 

1,932 120 1,932 40 - 80 80 0 

Savings Grand Total with Balance to 

Address 

4,169 280 2,605 848 126 870 870 0 

P
age 15



 
 

4.5 Transformation Fund 

The table below provides a summary of projects which have received funds in 2020/21 and prior years and includes details on 

progress. 

Each of the projects aim to deliver and enable transformation and reform activity which as well as achieving wider objectives 

aim to deliver financial savings, or increased efficiency and effectiveness of service delivery. 

 

Directorate Project Overview Savings / Benefits Total 

funding 

allocation 

Adult Care 

 

 

Accommodation with support strategy  

 

The current project follows on from a previous 

allocation of £68,200 to enable the development on 

an accommodation strategy, market position 

statement, commissioning plans and stakeholder 

engagement around ensuring we have the correct 

supply of the right accommodation, reducing the 

need for expensive out of the borough placements. 

 

A further £148,000 has been allocated for 

programme and project management costs to 

support the continuation of the work around the 

accommodation strategy, and specifically to deliver 

the following three projects: 

 

This project aims to achieve recurrent annual 

savings of £108k per year by 2021/22 for a one off 

£148k investment in programme and project 

management resource through a reduction in out 

of borough crisis placements, which cost 

approximately double the cost of in borough 

provision.  

 

If the Council does not commission on a strategic 

basis it is unlikely to have allocation rights; control 

over the supply in the market or its stability; 

difficulty in assessing the quality and 

appropriateness of the support being delivered 

within the properties.  This could lead to: 

 

 

£148,000 

P
age 16



 
 

Directorate Project Overview Savings / Benefits Total 

funding 

allocation 

 

1. Un-commissioned support 

2. Pipeline development (working age adults with 

long-term conditions) 

3. Pipeline development (preventative services) 

a) Inflated costs via out of borough or crisis 

placements 

b) Additional ‘un-commissioned’ units being built 

in borough 

c) ‘Demand’ being brought into Rochdale from 

other boroughs and Rochdale residents missing 

out on allocations when required 

d) Empty or dis-used properties, due to business 

failure 

e) A missed opportunity to supply actual demand, 

as there is potential demand in other areas of 

the borough and from other customer groups 

f) People with low-level support needs accessing 

accommodation with support, when they could 

manage with a standard tenancy, creating 

dependency.   

Furthermore, if the provider is a ‘for profit’ landlord, 

the Council may be exposed to the resultant cost 

via un-recoverable, uplifted housing benefit claims. 

 

P
age 17



 
 

Directorate Project Overview Savings / Benefits Total 

funding 

allocation 

Economy A successful future for Development 

Management 

External consultants have been commissioned to 

undertake a review of the service focused on 

improving the quality of the service offers to 

customers, investors and developers. In addition it 

will also explore the potential to develop a premium 

planning service which has the potential to boost 

non–statutory fee income.  

 

 

As well as aiming to improve the quality of the 

service for customers, investors and developers 

the project estimates that additional (non-statutory) 

fee income of £10,000 per year could be achieved 

through offering a premium planning service. 

 

 

 

 

£50,000 

Economy Strategic Planning 

Transformation funding of £106,357 per annum for 

five years has been approved to support the 

strategic planning team staffing budget. They play 

a critical role in supporting the Council’s 

aspirations for growth, investment and 

regeneration and also have a strong track record in 

securing external grant funding. 

 

The work that the team does is essential to allow 

us to plan for the delivery of new homes and 

employment sites, which in turn supports the 

generation and growth of council tax receipts, new 

homes bonus and business rates. In addition the 

funding will allow the team to continue to maximise 

income from a range of grant funding opportunities.   

The application assumes that additional income 

through either Business Rates or grant funding will 

offset the cost of the transformation funding. 

 

 

£531,785 

P
age 18



 
 

Directorate Project Overview Savings / Benefits Total 

funding 

allocation 

Economy One Public Estate/GMCA  

The transformation funding is for two new posts 

within the Estates and Assets service to enable 

participation and contribution to the One Public 

Estate and GMCA programmes. 

 

Benefits may include asset rationalisation across 

the public estate, rental income, capital receipts 

and access to sources of funding which we may 

not otherwise be aware of. 

 

 

£127,400 

Neighbourhoods Place Based Asset Management 

This project will implement a new corporate asset 

management system that will cover the planned 

and reactive maintenance of assets across 

Highways and Environmental Management as a 

well as a review and redesign of the processes 

where possible.  

 

 

Recurrent cashable savings of £100,000 in the first 

year, rising to £150,000 in the second year and 

beyond are expected to be achieved through 

rationalisation of systems and process redesign.  

The cashable savings from redesign are subject to 

the organisations ability to redesign the work 

differently. 

 

 

£149,400  

Neighbourhoods Housing allocations and Homelessness 

Strategic Housing has embarked on an ambitious 

project to transform and redesign the Council’s 

Homelessness and Housing Allocation services. 

 

£85,000 transformation funding was approved to 

deliver phase 1 which was to commission a review 

 

The future Homelessness and Housing Allocation 

services aims to provide holistic, person centred 

and sustainable solutions to customers to 

 reduce repeat referrals / contacts with 

Council services; 

 reduce duplication of work; and 

 

 

£216,952 

P
age 19



 
 

Directorate Project Overview Savings / Benefits Total 

funding 

allocation 

of the current position of the service including 

homelessness and housing allocations process.  

The current project, which has received a further 

£216,952 funding is to prototype new ways to 

deliver services and build skills and capacity of in 

house team to implement the new service models. 

 reduce costs. 

 

Estimated savings of between £86k and £145k per 

annum (on-going) are anticipated by reducing the 

Housing Benefit subsidy loss on bed and breakfast 

/temporary accommodation costs through varying 

how these facilities are sourced and utilised and, in 

the medium term, reducing the length of stay and 

the total number of individuals/families requiring 

emergency housing. 

Neighbourhoods Integrated Place Team 

The Integrated Place team is a small, mobile and 

flexible team who work with colleagues through 

multi-disciplinary approaches in neighbourhoods to 

support people to make progress and 

improvements in their lives.  

 

Originally created from staff in the Economic 

Affairs team, the team is currently funded from the 

transformation fund for 19/20 and 20/21. 

 

The Integrated Place Teams in Rochdale borough 

have been delivering cashable cost savings to the 

council and the public sector system, through their 

work in Kirkholt, College Bank and Lower Falinge, 

since 2014. Most recent independent analysis has 

proven that in Lower Falinge and College Bank, for 

every £1 spent, £4.13 of savings has been 

delivered in cashable savings.  Non cashable 

savings are as much as £34.50 per £1 invested.  

 

 

 

£815,900 

P
age 20



 
 

Directorate Project Overview Savings / Benefits Total 

funding 

allocation 

Studies by MHCLG and Edge Hill evidence value 

of team’s work which has been acclaimed at GM 

and a national level. Request for Budget pressures 

funding has been made for 2021/22. 

 

Resources Council property title and marketing project 

Originally intended to fund 2 full time posts (1 x 

property, 1 x legal) to enable the quicker release 

for sale of council land. Better 

management/disposal of the council’s property 

portfolio. Now funding one post. 

  

No income/savings targets identified however the 

proposal will enable the quicker release for sale of 

council land. This will accelerate capital receipts and 

realise reduction in revenue requirements for those 

properties where this is a feature. 

 

 

£144,400 

Resources Invoice Processing / Oxygen Project 

The first objective of this project is the 

centralisation of all invoice processing to the 

Support team in Revenues and Benefits service. 

The funding is for an additional post to implement 

of an early payment programme proposed by 

Oxygen Finance. An additional one off investment 

maybe needed for Civica systems development in 

relation to these changes. 

 

The project also aims to improve the purchase to 

pay process and limit the Council’s exposure to 

late payment and charges. 

 

If successful the project could deliver income of up 

to £750,000 over a five year period. 

 

 

£97,000 

P
age 21



 
 

Directorate Project Overview Savings / Benefits Total 

funding 

allocation 

Resources Stepping up our approach to transformation 

and reform 

This funding was approved to establish a two year 

fixed term post and Programme Management 

Office approach to driving change and to deliver 

significant financial benefits across a range of 

transformation and reform across the Council. 

 

It is expected that through this work we will 

address the challenges the organisation has faced 

in relation to taking forwards transformation, such 

as capacity, planning, governance and benefits 

realisation skills. In addition, £200,000 savings will 

be identified/achieved to offset the funding.  

 

 

 

£200,000 

Resources AI/Automation Proof of Concept 

This project will implement AI/Automation 

technology in a number of service ares in the 

Resources directorate as a proof of concept, with 

the aim of demonstrating the benefits and 

effectiveness of the technology, which could then 

be rolled out in other areas of the authority and 

CCG. 

 

This technology automates high volume 

transactional and administrative processes quickly 

and accurately freeing up capacity of officers and 

processing things more quickly, which will benefit 

 

Following implementation of AI/Automation 

technology across 2 -3 processes and services 

areas, financial savings in the region of £105,000 

per year could be realised. This is based on the 

reduction of 4 posts (mid-point Grade 4). Assuming 

these post could be taken out by year 2, the 

breakeven point for the investment would be 

achieved by the end of Year 4. 

 Non-financial benefits include: 

 Reduction in processing error rates. 

 Improved performance, processing higher 

volumes of work, much more quickly. 

 

 

£250,000 

P
age 22



 
 

Directorate Project Overview Savings / Benefits Total 

funding 

allocation 

customers whether they be internal ones or our 

residents. 

 

It uses software robots, also called a digital 

workforce to perform tasks using the same tools 

that human workers use. At a basic level this kind 

of technology can take information from emails, 

eForms, existing systems and even paper, and 

based on a work flow which we would set based on 

our systems and processes, it would process the 

information in the same way that our officers 

currently do. 

 Increased customer satisfaction through 

quicker processing times and also for more 

complex cases it will free capacity to provide 

more support 

 In some cases it can reduce the cost of digital 

transformation/integration costs with legacy 

systems – as the digital workforce can transfer 

data between systems without the need for 

costly integrations. 

 Automates the low value, high volume 

mundane and repetative tasks – freeing up our 

officers to do more rewarding work. 

 

The following schemes were due to achieve savings during 2020/21, but have been impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic: 

 Adult Care, Accommodation Strategy - delay in progression of the Accommodation Strategy as consultancy support has been 

re-focused to Covid-19 work; projected savings of £60k now reduced to £6k, and remainder to be realised in 2021/22 

 

 Resources, Invoice Processing/Oxygen Project – the initiative has been impacted by the decision at the end of March 2020 to 

make immediate payment to suppliers with the intention of ensuring service continuity and supporting suppliers as the impact of 

Covid-19 progressed. 2020/21 savings are forecast to be £40k rather than the original £120k. At 27th October Cabinet it was 

agreed to resume standard supplier payment terms of 30 days, from 1st November 2020. 

 

P
age 23



 
 

 Neighbourhoods, Place Based Asset Management – delays with the project. Projected savings of £100k have been partially 

mitigated by £60k in year savings within Neighbourhoods service, and the remaining £40k is forecast not to be achieved due to 

the impact of Covid-19.  

 

P
age 24



 
 

 

4.6 Capital Budget 2020/21 

 

As part of the financial monitoring and analysis of the ongoing pressures 

being placed on the Council following the Covid 19 pandemic, a review of the 

Capital Programme has been undertaken to reduce the future debt repayment 

burden on the Council, as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy and to 

understand spend in the current year and the impact on the Council’s cash 

flow. 

The review of 2020/21 and 2021/22 capital budgets focused on Economy and 

Neighborhoods’ budgets to consider whether schemes could be re-prioritised, 

and rephased into future years or reduced, to achieve a reduction of £1m of 

borrowing costs for the 2021/22 and future years’ Revenue budgets. It is 

intended that such reviews will form part of the budget monitoring and setting 

processes going forward. 

As a result of the review, the updated forecast position for the 2020/21 Capital 

Budget is £70,688k, with spend to date of £17,995k (25.5% of budget).  The 

table below shows a summary of the budget movements to the end of 

September 2020: 

  
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

£'000s £'000s £'000s 

BUDGET AS AT END OF JULY 2020 135,430 73,801 32,653 

Rephasing Neighbourhoods & Economy 
reported September Cabinet 

(59,228) 43,225 16,003 

Future Year Capital Programme 
Adjustments reported September Cabinet 

- (9,578) (4,532) 

Capital Budget Reductions  (1,001) - - 

Rephasing requests at September 2020 (5,579) 4,259 1,320 

Capital Budget Increases 1,063 -     -      

Capital reporting Overspends 3 - -    

BUDGET AS AT END OF SEPTEMBER 
2020 

70,688 111,707 45,444 

 

  

Page 25



 
 

 

4.6.1 Capital Budget Changes 

 

Details of the increases to capital budgets are shown in the table below 

Service Narrative 
Funding 
Method 

Capital Budget 
Increases  
£000's 

Children’s 
Additional Schools 
Condition grant received 

External 
Funding 

840 

Economy 
Minor adjustment to correct 
2019/20  

Prudential 
Borrowing 

4 

Neighbourhoods 
Townships Wardle & 
Smallbridge Football Club 

RCCO 9  

Neighbourhoods S106 grants 
External 
Funding 

210 

Resources 
New HR & Payroll System 
reported overspend to be 
funded from RCCO 

RCCO 3 

Total Capital Budget Increases   1,066 

 

4.6.2 Capital Re-phasing requests to the end of September 2020 which have been 

approved by the Chief Finance Officer are shown in the table below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



 
 

  

 

4.6.3 Neighbourhoods Service have previously returned Townships Capital budgets 

of £140k to contribute to the overall savings on the 2020/21 Capital 

Programme as part of the Capital Programme review and setting of the 2021 

– 2026 Programme.  As the Programme is now out for consultation, it has 

been requested by Members that this budget is instead rephased into 

2021/22.  It is also requested that the rephased budget should remain 

available to be brought back into 2020/21 should the expenditure be incurred 

in 2020/21. 

4.6.4 Capital Budget Returns 

 Budget returns due to reassessment of budget required are reported at 

£1,001k for the period ending September 2020 and relate to the following 

schemes: 

 

 
Service Narrative 

Rephasing 
Requested 
£000s 

 
 
Children’s 
Service 

Aiming High for Disabled Children - specific 
project for the adaptation of a property to be 
utilised for Short Breaks. The project has been 
delayed and will not commence until 2021/22 

42 

 
 
 
Children’s 
Service 

Schools Capital Condition Programme - an 
additional allocation of funding was received in 
September and October which is not planned 
to be spent this year due to issues with 
contractors and is requested to be rephased 
into 2021/2022. 

840  

 
Neighbourhoods 
Service 

J19 Feasibility - Forecast in line with latest 
TFGM return. Request is made to rephase to 
21/22. 

2,767  

 
Neighbourhoods 
Service 

GM Full Fibre Programme - Request is made 
to rephase funding to 21/22 due to delay in 
project 

626  

 
Neighbourhoods 
Service 
 

Highways Investment Programme - Carriage 
Ways / Footpaths - Rephase budget in line with 
programme. 

320 

 
Neighbourhoods 
Service 
 

Bowlee Free School - Request to rephase 
budget to 2021/22 due to delays in the project.    

1,184 

Neighbourhoods 
Service 
 

Kirkholt Investment - Request to vire £200k 
from Accelerated Housing future years budget 
to cover project costs. 

(200) 

 Total Rephasing 5,579 

Page 27



 
 

 Service Scheme Budget Returns 
£000s 

Neighbourhoods Waste Services Investment 521 

Neighbourhoods Asset Management Group 480 

 Total Returns 1,001 

 

4.6.5 The following budget switch is requested to fund expenditure incurred for play 

equipment: 

 Service Scheme Budget Returns 
£000s 

Neighbourhoods Replacement Parks/Street 
Machinery 

(44) 

Neighbourhoods Upgrade Play Equipment 44 

 Total - 

 

4.6.6 Capital Receipts 

Capital receipts are received on the sale of various assets including land, 

buildings and vehicles. The forecast movements in the Capital Receipts 

Reserve during 2020/21, and provisionally for 2021/22 to 2022/23 are 

included in the table below. 

Description 
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

 
£000’s 

 
£000’s 

 
£000’s 

Capital Receipts balance as at 1st April 2020 11,142 - - 

Use of Capital Receipts to fund 2020/21 Capital 
Programme, including prior year schemes 
rephased into 2021/22 

(4,960) - - 

Use of Capital Receipts to fund provisional 
2021/22 and 2022/23 Capital Programmes, and 
2020/21 rephasing into future years 

- (3,739) (0.044) 

Earmarked use of receipts to fund other future 
commitments  

(8,602) (1,845) (0.706) 

Capital Receipts income 2,421 1,894 0.750 

Forecast uncommitted Capital Receipts 
balance as at 31st March 2021 

 -   -   -  

 

4.6.7 The forecast uncommitted Capital Receipts Reserve balance as at the end of 

2022/23 is nil as all uncommitted receipts are being earmarked towards the 

cost of the Highways Investment. 

  

Page 28



 
 

 

4.7 Collection Fund 

4.7.1 The forecast Collection Fund outturn position for 2020/21 is a deficit of 
£30,450k, comprising: 

 

 £25,599k deficit relating to Business Rates, partially offset by 

Section 31 grant of £20,950k; 

 £4,851k deficit relating to Council Tax. 

The 2020/21 Collection Fund is forecast to be significantly impacted by the 

impact of Covid-19 and Government initiatives. This will impact on the 

Council’s General Fund in 2021/22, and there is expected to be a longer term 

impact on the level of Business Rates and Council Tax income. 

4.7.2 Table 1 shows the forecast 2020/21 Collection Fund position, and the 

allocation between precepting authorities. 

Table 1 – 2020/21 Collection Fund forecast deficit 

  Business Rates Council Tax Total 

  % £'000 % £'000 £'000 

Forecast Collection Fund 
(surplus)/deficit at 31/03/21   25,599   4,851 30,450 

            
Preceptors' Share of 
2020/21 outturn           

Rochdale BC 99 25,343 84.61 4,104 29,447 
GMCA Mayoral Police & 
Crime Commissioner  0 0 10.71 520 520 
GMCA Mayoral General  
(including Fire Services)    1.00  256 4.68 227 483 

            

Total forecast outturn 
(surplus)/deficit 100 25,599 100 4,851 30,450 

 

The Council’s share of the forecast Collection Fund deficit is £29,447k, which 

will be partially offset by Government Section 31 grant funding of £20,950k. 

The following table provides the explanation of variances relating to Business 

Rates: 

  

Page 29



 
 

 

Explanation of variance 

Variation 
to 

budget, 
£'000 

Decreased net Business Rates income principally due to the 
government decision to give 100% relief to the Retail, Leisure and 
Hospitality sectors for 2020/21, linked to the Covid19 pandemic; 
Section 31 grant to offset the discount given is received in the 
Council's General Fund. Reduced levels of gross income and higher 
levels of Empty Property discount are also forecast, linked to the 
impact of the pandemic.  

23,981 

Increased charge relating to the bad debt provision due to the likely 
impact of Covid19 on debt collection. 

2,384 

Actual surplus brought forward from 2019/20 is £766k higher than had 
been forecast as part of the 2020/21 Budget process.  

(766) 

2020/21 Deficit 25,599 

 

The following table provides an explanation of variances relating to Council 

Tax: 

Explanation of variance 
Variation 
to budget, 

£000 

Minor forecast variation relating to Council Tax income raised 7 

Forecast increased level of Local Council Tax Support discount 
given due to increased numbers of claimants, partially offset by 
government Hardship Funding. 

2,249 

Increased charge relating to the bad debt provision as a result of 
anticipated impact of Covid 19 on debt collection. 

981 

A deficit of £937k brought forward from 2019/20 instead of the 
£(677)k surplus forecast as part of the 2020/21 Budget process. 
This was mainly due to the decision to increase the level of the 
Bad Debt provision as a consequence of the likely impact of 
Covid19. 

1,614 

2020/21 Forecast Deficit 4,851 

 

The Council’s share of any 2020/21 Collection Fund deficit will be brought into 

the Council’s General Fund budget for 2021/22. 

There will be a longer term impact on Collection Fund income which is 

dependent on the recovery of businesses and households. This will impact on 

the Council’s core funding for services. Work is ongoing to assess the longer 

term impact on the Council’s financial position. 

4.8 Treasury Management 

4.8.1 Treasury Management activity aims to effectively manage the Council’s cash 

flow requirements through borrowing and investment. The service operates 

Page 30



 
 

within CIPFA’s / MHCLG’s Prudential Framework and our own approved 

Treasury Management Strategy to ensure risk is appropriately managed when 

seeking to minimise the costs of borrowing and maximise returns on 

investment. 

4.8.2 The first half of the year has been dominated by the Covid pandemic with 

additional concerns around Brexit. Gross Domestic Product has fallen by 23% 

with the pace of recovery expected to be slower than the original V-shaped 

‘bounce back’ envisaged and the economy facing some painful long term 

adjustments. 

 Gilt yields (which drive PWLB rates) fell initially during the crisis. However, our 

main borrowing rates (via PWLB) still suffer from the additional 1% margin 

imposed in October 2019.  This is subject on an ongoing Central Government 

review after which it is hoped that authorities that forego overtly commercial 

investments will benefit from some form of lower borrowing rate. 

 Interest rates for deposits fell sharply in line with the Bank of England’s base 

cut to 0.1% in March 2020. We continue to face speculation on the prospect of 

future negative interest rates. The Bank’s latest thinking appears to suggest 

that such a move would do more harm than good. Our projections assume that 

the current base rate will remain unchanged throughout this financial year, 

though we continue to explore options to help mitigate against any further 

reductions. 

Please see Appendix D for details. 

4.9 Alternatives considered 

4.9.1 Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 

Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Effective budget management is 

critical to ensuring financial resources are spent in line with the budget and 

are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early 

identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective 

action. 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

The main body of the report provides a detailed analysis of the forecast 
2020/21 Finance Outturn position. 

 
 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. There are no significant legal implications arising as a result of this Report but 

it should be noted that debts, which are recoverable, can be enforced by 
Court action in accordance with the Court Procedure Rules. 

 

Page 31



 
 

The impact of Covid-19 pressures relating to additional expenditure and lost 

income is estimated to have a very significant impact on the Council’s financial 

position both in 2020/21 and in the medium term. The Council has completed a 

review of its reserves to assess whether some of the financial pressure may be 

mitigated in both the short and longer term. The use of reserves to address 

pressures as a result of the Covid-19 outbreak is a one off solution which cannot 

be sustained in the long term. The Council has indicated that any reserves 

deployed would require replenishing to their original value. The Council is 

continuing to lobby the government to provide further funding to offset the 

pressures. 

Unresolved appeals against the revaluation assessments for 2005, 2010 and 

2017 cause uncertainty and financial risk for the Business Rates income 

retained by the Council. The situation is monitored on a monthly basis to ensure 

that any changes in the trend for successful appeals are recognised due to the 

future impact on Business Rates income and the impact for the provision for 

any backdated elements. 

 The VOA alters rating assessments if new information comes to light indicating 

that the valuation is inaccurate. These could relate to a demolition, new property 

builds or other physical changes to a property. The number of alterations, 

financial impact and timing of the revaluations are not within the control of the 

Council. There is an on-going risk that issues decided nationally by the VOA 

could potentially impact on Rochdale BC’s Business Rates income. 

 The future level of collection of Corporate Debt, Business Rates and Council 

Tax debt is a potential financial risk, particularly with the impact of the Covid-19 

pandemic. Collection performance is being monitored on a monthly basis to 

ensure that debt is recovered as efficiently and effectively as possible, whilst 

making adjustments to reflect the current circumstances being imposed on 

businesses and residents, and so that any trends may be highlighted and action 

taken as necessary, at the appropriate time. Debt collection is likely to be 

significantly affected by the impact of Covid-19 both in this financial year and 

future years, and the forecast 2020/21 bad debt charges and provisions have 

been increased to reflect the increased risk of non-collection. 

  

Page 32



 
 

 

 

Consultation 

 
7. All services engage with the production of the directorate based financial 

information within this report. The Leadership Team, the Leader, Cabinet 

Member for Finance, and Opposition Portfolio holder for Finance have been 

informed of the forecast 2020/21 financial position of the Council and its 

implications for future years. The report has been presented to the Corporate 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 24th November 2020. 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. For further information about this 

report or access to any 

background papers contact 

Samantha Smith 

No1 Riverside Floor 2  

 

For Further Information Contact: Samantha Smith, Samantha.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk  

Tel : 01706 924198 

 

  

Page 33

mailto:Samantha.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk


 
 

Appendix A – Revenue Budget ‘Variations to budget’ narrative – September 2020 

Service Narrative Budget 

£'000s 

Forecast 

Spend 

£’000s 

Variance 

£’000s 

Adult Care Management :- Minor variations 6,637 6,651 (14) 

Adult Care Neighbourhoods:- Forecast pressure from commissioned places for service 

users 

41,798 42,177 (379) 

Adult Care Boroughwide Services:- Forecast pressures from commissioned places for 

service users 

3,675 3,755 (80) 

Adult Care In House Provider Services:-  Forecast in-year saving due to staff turnover 895 629 266 

Adult Care Governance Business Support & Home Improvement Agency:-  Forecast in-

year saving due to staff turnover 

883 752 131 

Adult Care Commissioning:-  Forecast in-year saving from contracts and staff turnover 2,364 2,295 69 

Adult Care Statutory Functions:- minor variations 827 820 7 

Adult Care Adult Care Variation to Budget  57,079 57,079 0 

Children's  Cared for Children: - Underspend related to a reduction in placement costs as 

cared for children’s numbers continue to slowly reduce. 

26,669 26,088 581 

Children's  Sure Start/Early Help: - Savings in relation to vacant posts and delays in 

recruitment, the service are in the final stages of a restructure. 

5,046 4,796 250 

Children's  School Support: - Overachievement of income on Personnel and Governors 

Service and underspends on bus passes. 

1,391 1,120 271 

Children's  Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND):- The significant growth 

within SEND is putting increased pressure on SEND transport. This is in line 

with the pressure on the High Needs Dedicated Schools Grant (discussed 

below) both budgets are now feeling the pressure of full year impact of the 

growth in SEND numbers in 2019/20 and continued growth in 2020/21. 

6,356 6,752 (396) 

P
age 34



 
 

Service Narrative Budget 

£'000s 

Forecast 

Spend 

£’000s 

Variance 

£’000s 

Children's  Youth Service: - Underspends re Vacant posts and activities as events cannot 

happen in the same format due to Covid. 

74 24 50 

Children's  High Needs Block - Pressure due to the full year impact of 2019/20 growth of 

Education Health Care Plans and the continued growth within 2020/21. 

Rochdale special schools are now at full capacity so all future requests for 

places will result in out of borough Independent schools which is a high cost 

provision. The service and schools are working together to increase in borough 

provision. 

0 1,595 (1,595) 

Children's  Contribution from DSG Reserve: - 2019/20 High Needs deficit £3.2m, including 

the in-year position this is now £4.8m. 

0 (1,595) 1,595 

Children's  Children's Services Variation to Budget  39,536 38,780 756 

Finance Control Interest: - Continued internal borrowing and rephasing the capital program 

offset by reduced investment income. 

7,311 6,524 787 

Finance Control Debt Repayment:-  Small ad hoc variations 9,964 9,957 7 

Finance Control Finance Control Variation to Budget 17,275 16,481 794 

Neighbourhoods Facilities Management:-  In-year saving due to staff vacancies within School 

Trading Accounts 

2,602 2,553 49 

Neighbourhoods Environmental Management: - Pressures relating to the under achievement of 

income targets and an increase in the rent of the depot.  These are offset by 

in-year savings on supplies, fuel and from delayed filling of vacant posts. 

10,980 10,896 84 

Neighbourhoods Coroners :-   In-year saving due to delay in scanning machine implementation 642 577 65 

Neighbourhoods Community & Townships:-   In-year saving due to staff vacancies with Libraries 4,017 3,922 95 

P
age 35



 
 

Service Narrative Budget 

£'000s 

Forecast 

Spend 

£’000s 

Variance 

£’000s 

Neighbourhoods Strategic Housing: - There is a £438k pressure in respect of housing benefit 

and homelessness costs which are not fully covered by Government subsidy. 

Corporate funding has been earmarked to address any shortfall.  There is an 

in-year pressure of £53k in respect of the Discretionary Crisis Fund. 

2,235 2,288 (53) 

Neighbourhoods Properties: - Pressure of £60k to manage the renewal of statutory service 

contracts and a shortfall of £21k of income generated from solar sites. 

254 335 (81) 

Neighbourhoods Neighbourhoods Service Variation to Budget 20,730 20,571 159 

Resources Finance Services: - In-year savings due to staffing and Audit Fees savings. 1,822 1,766 56 

Resources Other Managed Budgets: - In-year savings as a result of vacant posts at Head 

of Service level, plus other temporary arrangements and one-off savings in 

2020/21. 

4,994 4,702 292 

Resources Revenues and Benefits: - In-year savings as a result of one off funding. 1,301 1,257 44 

Resources Legal Services: - Pressure within the Shared Legal Service with Manchester 

City Council which is currently under discussion with partners. 

1,907 2,259 (352) 

Resources Human Resources: - In-year saving as a result of the re-tendering of the 

Occupational Health Contract. 

1,860 1,806 54 

Resources Internal Audit: - In-year savings due to staffing. 628 614 14 

Resources Governance: - In-year savings due to vacancies in staffing. 1,798 1,745 53 

Resources Resources Service Variation to Budget 14,310 14,149 161 

Grand Total Total Variation to Revenue Budget - September 2020 1,870 

 

P
age 36



 
 

Appendix B – Capital Forecast Spend by Scheme as at September 2020 

 

Service Scheme 2020/21 
Budget,  

£k  

2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

Variation 

£k  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

Total 
budget, 
£k  

Adult Care Better Care Fund            563           563                 -    
 

            -                -           563  

Adult Care Disabled Facilities Grant         2,706        2,706                -    
 

    2,633      2,633      7,972  

Adult Care           3,269        3,269                -    
 

    2,633      2,633      8,535  

Children's Aiming High For Disabled Child             42               -                42  
 

            -                -             42  

Children's Devolved Formula Capital        1,260        1,260               -    
 

       483         483      2,226  

Children's Early Years Capital Grant               -                 -                   -    
 

         19              -             19  

Children's New Place Planning        9,520        9,520                -    
 

  27,200      5,200    41,920  

Children's Schools Access               2              2                -    
 

            -               -               2  

Children's Schools Cap Condition Programme        4,614        3,774           840  
 

    1,833      1,833      8,280  

Children's Healthy Pupils Capital Fund             16             16                -    
 

            -                -             16  

Children's Special Provision Capital Fund           304          304               -    
 

      304             -           608  

Children's CWD Residential Home             30            30               -    
 

   1,084             -        1,114  

Children's        15,788    14,906           882  
 

 30,923     7,516   54,227  

Economy Definitive ROW Improvement 

Programme 

            54            54                -    
 

            -               -            54  

Economy River Roch Flood Storage        597          597               -    
 

   1,000     1,250     2,847  

P
age 37



 
 

Service Scheme 2020/21 
Budget,  

£k  

2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

Variation 

£k  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

Total 
budget, 
£k  

Economy Rochdale Gateways Environmental 

Programme 

                  

46  

                  

46  

                   

-    

 
                   

-    

                   

-    

                  

46  

Economy Stakehill Industrial Estate               1              1               -    
 

        50             -            51  

Economy Asset Development Fund        2,713       2,713               -    
 

           -               -       2,713  

Economy Property Growth Fund        5,582       5,582               -    
 

  20,000   15,000   40,582  

Economy East Lancashire Railway           102          102               -    
 

      300             -          402  

Economy Lower Falinge              4              4               -    
 

           -                -               4  

Economy Heywood South/Junction 19            64            64              -    
 

   2,700             -       2,764  

Economy Railway Strategy Park & Ride          106          106               -    
 

      200             -          306  

Economy Northern Gateway Feasibility & Study         301           301               -    
 

      244             -          545  

Economy Pennine Holl Lake Feasibility           46            46               -    
 

           -                -            46  

Economy Springfield Park Master Plan                 -                 -                  -    
 

           -               -               -    

Economy Metrolink Feasibility             50            50               -    
 

           -               -            50  

Economy Birch Fountain & Horse Trough-

Middleton 

           22            22               -    
 

           -               -             22  

P
age 38



 
 

Service Scheme 2020/21 
Budget,  

£k  

2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

Variation 

£k  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

Total 
budget, 
£k  

Economy East Lancashire Railway - Castleton 

Mast 

          500         500            -    
 

       750             -       1,250  

Economy Hopwood Old Hall - Feasibility            50            50               -    
 

          -               -            50  

Economy SmithyBridge Railway Station           100           100               -    
 

      300             -           400  

Economy Middleton Town Centre Phase 3             10            10               -  
 

           -               -             10  

Economy P2 TCMP - Conservation area 

improvements 

             -                 -                  -    
 

           -               -               -    

Economy Town Centre East Feasibility           272          272                -    
 

      200             -          472  

Economy Town Hall Adaptation and Restoration        2,586       2,586                -    
 

    1,700      3,500      7,786  

Economy Rochdale Market           205          205                -    
 

           -                -           205  

Economy Town Hall Square PH2           330          330                -    
 

       634      2,200    3,164  

Economy Drake Street Phase 2             20            20                -    
 

       600         100         720  

Economy Town Centre Schemes 2016/17           589          589               -    
 

         50              -           639  

Economy Rochdale Town Centre 3 Year Strategy        1,272       1,272                -    
 

      250             -       1,522  

Economy Hopwood Hall Refurbishment             48            48               -  
 

           -               -            48  

P
age 39



 
 

Service Scheme 2020/21 
Budget,  

£k  

2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

Variation 

£k  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

Total 
budget, 
£k  

Economy Town Centre Residential Strategy           267           267                -    
 

   2,200             -       2,467  

Economy Rochdale Riverside Phase 2        2,279       2,279               -    
 

           -               -        2,279  

Economy Milkstone Road Master Plan           250          250               -    
 

   1,997             -       2,247  

Economy Hey/Midd/Litt Town Centre Masterplans           160          160               -    
 

           -               -          160  

Economy        18,626     18,626               -  
 

 33,175    22,050   73,851  

Neighbourhoods ICT Infrastructure Refresh Programme           567          567                -    
 

      444        444     1,455  

Neighbourhoods ICT Data Centre           162          162                -    
 

           -               -           162  

Neighbourhoods ICT Programmes (Staff)           526           526                -    
 

       500        500     1,526  

Neighbourhoods Townships Capital Programme           265          265                -    
 

      400         400     1,065  

Neighbourhoods Housing Standards Fund          564          564                -    
 

      800        800     2,164  

Neighbourhoods Kirkholt Investment             73           273          (200)  
 

           -               -            73  

Neighbourhoods New Cemetery Sites          714          714                -    
 

           -                -           714  

Neighbourhoods Replacement Parks/Street Machinery           130             86             44  
 

      120        120        370  

Neighbourhoods Rights Of Way            88            88                -    
 

         80          80         248  

P
age 40



 
 

Service Scheme 2020/21 
Budget,  

£k  

2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

Variation 

£k  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

Total 
budget, 
£k  

Neighbourhoods Rochdale Cemetery Lodge Repair           176          176                -    
 

           -               -          176  

Neighbourhoods Section 106 - Environmental 

Management 

       1,407       1,407                -    
 

            -               -        1,407  

Neighbourhoods Townships Capital - Environmental 

Management 

          132          132                -    
 

            -               -           132  

Neighbourhoods Upgrade Play Equipment           160           204           (44)  
 

         75           75         310  

Neighbourhoods Vehicle Replacement Programme        2,026       2,026                -    
 

   1,405     1,839     5,270  

Neighbourhoods Waste Bin Replacement Programme          360          360               -    
 

       360         360     1,080  

Neighbourhoods Waste Services Investment 521 - 521  - - - 

Neighbourhoods Asset Management Group       2,780       2,300           480 
 

             

1,750  

             

1,750  

             

6,280  

Neighbourhoods Local Transport Plan        2,544       2,544                -    
 

 1,967      1,967     6,478  

Neighbourhoods Townships Capital - Highways          372          372               -    
 

      150             -          522  

Neighbourhoods Burglary Reduction Scheme 100  100   -    
 

      100         100        300  

Neighbourhoods Energy Efficiency Schemes             84            84          -    
 

          -         -    84  

P
age 41



 
 

Service Scheme 2020/21 
Budget,  

£k  

2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

Variation 

£k  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

Total 
budget, 
£k  

Neighbourhoods Coroners Service accommodation 156  156   -    
 

 -    -    156  

Neighbourhoods Additional Highways Funding  219   219  -    
 

-       -    219  

Neighbourhoods J19 Feasibility 6,267  3,500   2767  
 

20,265   -    26,532  

Neighbourhoods Developer Contributions 75  75   -    
 

-    -    75  

Neighbourhoods Property Transfers From Townships 42  42  -    
 

 -     -    42  

Neighbourhoods GM Full Fibre Programme 926  300  626  
 

 -    -    926  

Neighbourhoods Service Desk System Replacement            60            60              -    
 

        50          50        160  

Neighbourhoods Compulsory Purchase Order 

Programme 

          490          490             -    
 

    1,300     1,430      3,220  

Neighbourhoods Travellers Authorised Stopping Site          70            70                -    
 

           -               -             70  

Neighbourhoods Climate Emergency             50            50                -    
 

    1,950      1,000      3,000  

Neighbourhoods Car Parking Machines            17            17               -    
 

            -               -            17  

Neighbourhoods Cashless System School Catering               6              6                -    
 

           -               -               6  

Neighbourhoods Dippy Exhibition Equipment              3              3               -    
 

            -               -               3  

Neighbourhoods N1R Revolving Doors               -                 -                 -    
 

       120             -           120  

P
age 42



 
 

Service Scheme 2020/21 
Budget,  

£k  

2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

Variation 

£k  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

Total 
budget, 
£k  

Neighbourhoods Allotments 2017-18 Manifesto Funding             50            50               -    
 

       123             -          173  

Neighbourhoods Accelerated Housing           150          150               -    
 

   1,450        650     2,250  

Neighbourhoods Affordable Housing        2,751       2,751               -    
 

            -               -       2,751  

Neighbourhoods Customer Transformation Programme        1,225       1,225               -    
 

      150             -        1,375  

Neighbourhoods CCTV Upgrade           172         172               -    
 

            -               -          172  

Neighbourhoods Library Self Service             70            70               -    
 

           -               -    70  

Neighbourhoods Extended Library Hours                -                 -                 -    
 

      150             -    150  

Neighbourhoods GM Air Quality Monitoring Station             52            52                -    
 

           -               -            52  

Neighbourhoods Town Centre Signage             62            62               -    
 

           -               -            62  

Neighbourhoods Highway Investment Programme        5,545       5,225           320  
 

   3,000             -       8,545  

Neighbourhoods Bowlee Free School        1,384          200        1,184  
 

           -               -       1,384  

Neighbourhoods      33,593     27,895         5698  
 

  36,709    11,565   81,647  

Public Health Link4Life Capital Project           608          608                -    
 

   4,008        360     4,976  

Public Health           608          608               -    
 

   4,008        360     4,976  

P
age 43



 
 

Service Scheme 2020/21 
Budget,  

£k  

2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn, 
£k  

Variation 

£k  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£k  

2022/23 
budget, 
£k  

Total 
budget, 
£k  

Resources New HR & Payroll System      151          154             (3)  
 

           -               -          151  

Resources Manchester Airport       3,730       3,730               -    
 

           -               -        3,730  

Resources Investment Fund        1,500       1,500             -    
 

           -               -       1,500  

Resources  5,381       5,384             (3)  
 

           -               -        5,381  

Total Capital Forecast Position at September 2020      77,265     70,688        6,577  
 

107,448   44,124  228,617  P
age 44



 
 

Appendix C – Collection Fund 

Business Rates 

The 2020/21 forecast outturn position relating to Business Rates is a deficit 

of £25,599k.  

Description Budget 

2020/21 
Forecast 
Outturn 

(Surplus)/  
Deficit 

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 
movement 
from 
previous 
update 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Gross income (87,190) (86,052) 1,138 572 

Net Small Business Rate relief 7,682 8,200 518 200 

Mandatory Charitable relief 4,354 4,354 0 0 

Discretionary relief 1,983 22,422 20,439 (1) 

Empties & Part Occupied relief 3,614 5,500 1,886 (614) 

Net Income (69,557) (45,576) 23,981 157 

Less:          

Charge re bad debt provision 800 3,184 2,384 652 

Allowance for cost of collection 308 308 0 0 
Provision for rateable value 
revaluations  3,932 3,932 0 0 

Renewable energy schemes 582 582 0 0 

Net yield (63,935) (37,570) 26,365 809 

2020/21 payments to preceptors/billing 
authority 63,935 63,935 0 0 

In year (surplus)/deficit 0 26,365 26,365 809 

(Surplus)/deficit brought forward from 
2019/20 (1,103) (1,869) (766) 0 
Payments to preceptors/billing 
authority re 2019/20 surplus per the 
2020/21 Budget process 1,103 1,103 0 0 

Forecast (Surplus)/Deficit as at 
31/03/2021 0 25,599 25,599 809 

 

  

Page 45



 
 

 

Council Tax 

 
Net Income Raised 
 
The 2020/21 forecast position relating to Council Tax is a deficit of £4,851k.  

2020/21 Forecast Council Tax Income 

Description Budget 
2020/21 
Outturn 

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

movement 
from 

previous 
report 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

INCOME         

Income from Council Tax (144,213) (143,900) 313 (300) 
Income from premium on Empty 
Properties (453) (550) (97) -  

Council Tax discounts  14,598 14,297 (301) (100)  
Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
(LCTSS) 19,251 21,500 2,249 (50)  

Prior year adjustments 208 300 92 - 

Total income (110,609) (108,353) 2,256 66 

EXPENDITURE         

Charge re bad debt provision 2,212 3,193 981 (359) 

Total expenditure 2,212 3,193 981 (359) 

Net income to be raised for precept/ 
billing authority after LCTSS 
awarded (108,397) (105,160) 3,237 (809) 

2020/21 payments to Preceptors/billing 
authority 108,397 108,397 -  -  

In year (surplus)/deficit -  3,237 3,237 (809) 

(Surplus)/deficit brought forward from 
2018/19 (677) 937 1,614 -  

Payments to preceptors re 2018/19 
surplus as per the 2019/20 Budget 
process 677 677 -  -  

Forecast (Surplus)/Deficit as at 
31/03/2021 -  4,851 4,851 (809) 

 

  

Page 46



 
 

Appendix D Treasury Management   

 Table 1 below summarises the borrowing activity of the Council in the first half 

of the year showing the types of loan, the average interest rate and the 

average length of maturity of each class of loan. 

Table 1 Borrowing  

Debt Type Balance 

at 1/4/20  

£m 

New 

Borrowing 

to Sep-20 

£m 

Repayments 

to Sep-20 

£m 

Balance at 

Sep-20 

£m 

Average 

Rate  

% 

Average 

Maturity 

Years 

Fixed Rate 

Debt 

      

PWLB Debt 109.472 - (3.419) 106.053 2.35% 11.10 

Market Debt 61.000 - - 61.000 4.25% 48.36 

Salix 0.303 - (0.021) 0.282 0.00% 1.81 

Short Term 

Debt 

- - - - - - 

Total Fixed 

Rate Debt 

170.775 - (3.440) 167.335 3.03% 24.67 

       

Variable Rate 

Debt 

      

PWLB - - - -   

Market Debt 59.000 - - 59.000 4.60% 44.09 

Total Variable 

Rate Debt 

59.000 - - 59.000   

       

TOTAL DEBT 229.775 - (3.440) 226.335 3.44% 29.73 

 

  

  

Page 47



 
 

No long term borrowing has been undertaken so far in 2020/21. The current 

year’s revised capital programme, including rephasing from previous years, 

reductions and planned rephrasing to future years (totalling £54m) has so far 

been funded by internal (from reserves and balances) borrowing and running 

down investments. A similar policy, has been used to support the capital 

programme in the previous 7 years resulting in cumulative internal borrowing at 

the start of the year of £112m This means there is potential for external 

borrowing of £166m in 2020/21 and future years as balances are used for their 

intended purpose or to bridge the overall budget gap. Our current projections 

and balance sheet review indicate that in year borrowing will be limited to the 

need to fund our in-year capital programme. 

Delaying our long term borrowing has led to savings of £339k compared to our 
revised estimate in the first part of the year. Planned rephasing of the capital 
programme has yielded further savings of £475k  
 

A projection of the net cost of interest on the Council’s borrowings and 

investments is shown in table 2. 

 Table 2 Interest Summary 

Interest Original 

Estimate  

£’000 

Current 

Projection  

£’000 

Variation 

Under/Over 

 £’000 

Interest Costs on Borrowing (net of 

Contributions 

7,295 6,481 814 

Investment Income (338) (237) (101) 

Other Interest Related Budgets (net) 354 280 74 

TOTAL INTEREST 7,311 6,524 787 

 

 The Treasury Management Strategy details a number of Prudential Indicators 

which the Prudential Code requires the Council to manage and report on. The 

indictors are as follows: 

 Maturity Structure of Fixed Interest Borrowing 

 Operational and Authorised Limits 

 

 Maturity 

The maturity structure of fixed interest borrowing should enable the maturity of 

loans across a range of years so that the Council will not be exposed to a 

requirement for large amounts of repayment at a particular time. This needs 

balancing against the requirement for certainty of costs to secure budgets going 

forward and the desire to secure the best possible rates. The Prudential Code 

requires the Council to place upper and lower ranges on maturity.  

Page 48



 
 

Table 3 Period of Maturity 

 

Period of Maturity Upper 

Limited 

Lower 

Limited 

Actual to 

Date 

Under 12 months 60% 0% 3.03% 

Between 12 & 24 months 60% 0% 3.35% 

Between 2 & 5 years 60% 0% 9.28% 

Between 5 & 10 years 70% 0% 12.27% 

Over 10 years 100% 25% 72.07% 

 

 Debt Boundaries & Limits 

The Council’s Operational Boundary (the limit which borrowing should not 

normally exceed) in 2020/21 (adjusted for PFI projects and externally 

managed debt) is £545m. The Authorised Limit (a control on our maximum 

level of borrowing) is £672m. Current borrowing (adjusted for PFI and other 

debt related long term liabilities) is £322.5m – comfortably within the approved 

limits. We do not expect to exceed these limits in the latter half of the year.  

 Investments  

The level of investments on 1st April 2020 was £156.9m (inflated by Covid 

support grant receipts) and is £99.7m at 30/9/20. The level of investments the 

Council targets to maintain in the future will generally be between £30-40m. 

The balance has remained above our target due to slower capital spend and 

the maintenance of reserves and balances. The Council will not meet its 

investment income target of £338k by around £101k as despite having higher 

balances than planned, this is more than offset by significantly reduced interest 

rates caused by base rate cut in response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  The 

average interest rate earned on investments in the first part of the year was 

0.32% compared to our benchmarks of 0.09% / -0.04% (7 Day LIBOR/LIBID 

plus 2 basis points). 

 Investments represent surplus cash as a result of timing differences between 

receipt of funds and related expenditure which creates earmarked reserves and 

balances held for future need. The Council’s main investment priority continues 

to be the security of capital followed by liquidity and yield / return. The Treasury 

Management Team aims to achieve the optimum return commensurate with 

proper levels of security and liquidity. In the current economic climate, with 

continuing credit concerns it is considered appropriate to keep investments 

relatively short dated with no investments placed for more than a year.  Over 

half (54.9%) of our current portfolio is available on call (including Money Market 

Funds) with the remainder invested in notice accounts and fixed term deposits. 

Page 49



 
 

All investments are made with counterparties with strong credit ratings and 

adhere to the limits (duration and amount with each institution) specified in our 

Treasury Management Strategy. 

 The relative percentages of the investment portfolio held on 30th September 

2020 are detailed in table 10 by maturity, investment type, institution and credit 

rating. 

Table 4 Investment Portfolio 

Maturity 

Maturing Amount  

£m 

% 

Instant Call 54.7 54.9% 

Less than 1 Month 0.0 0.0% 

1-3 Months 2.0 2.0% 

3.-6 Months 28.0 28.1% 

6 Months to 1 Year 15.0 15.0% 

Over 1 Year 0.0 0.00% 

Total 99.7 100% 

 

Type of Investment 

Investment Types Amount £m % 

Fixed Term Deposits 30.0 30.2% 

Notice Accounts 15.0 15.0% 

Call and Overnight 9.7 9.7% 

Money Market Funds 45.0 45.1% 

Total 99.7 100% 

 

  

Page 50



 
 

 

Institutions 

Institutions Amount £m % 

UK Banks 39.7 39.9% 

Building Societies 0.0 0.0% 

Other Local Authorities 15.0 15.0% 

Money Mark Funds 45.0 45.1% 

Total 99.7 100% 

 

Ratings 

Institution Rating Amount £m % 

A – British 5.0 5% 

A+ British 34.7 34.9% 

AAA – MMFs 45.0 45.1% 

OLA’s – No Ratings 15.0 15.0% 

Total 99.7 100% 

 

Page 51



 

Report to Cabinet 
 

 

Date of Meeting 1 December 2020 
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

Report Author Carolyn Goddard 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Calculation of 2021-22 Taxbase 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. 
 
 
 
1.1 
 
1.2 

To agree the statutory Council Tax Base calculation for 2021/22, calculated in 
accordance with The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
(England) Regulations 2012 as part of the 2021/22 Estimates process. 
 
For the Local Council Tax Support Scheme to remain unchanged for 2021/22. 
 
To approve the precept payment dates for 2021/22. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.1 

Cabinet are asked to consider, for submission to Council on 16 December 
2020: 
 
a. The Council Tax base expressed as “Band D equivalent properties”, be 

recommended as 54,637 for 2021/22 (55,745 2020/21) as detailed at 
Appendix 1. 
 

b. The Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 2021/22 remains unchanged. 
 
The proposed precepts payment schedule detailed in paragraph 4.2. 

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 

Rochdale Borough Council, as a Council Tax billing authority, is required each 
year to make statutory calculations specified in Section 33 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended). The Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 require 
authorities to calculate the Council Tax base (number of taxable properties), 
expressed as "Band D equivalent properties". Approval of these calculations is 
required by 31st January in each financial year.  
 
The Local Government Finance Act 1992 prescribes the procedures to be 

Page 52

Agenda Item 7



 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 

adopted in setting precept payment dates. The Act requires billing authorities 
to notify precepting authorities of a proposed payments schedule. This 
notification must be given before 31st December in respect of the following 
financial year. The final payments schedule is then confirmed by 31st January. 
 
The calculation of the tax base has to be made by 31st January and notified to 
the major precepting and levying authorities. Under Section 84 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 the determination can be delegated to a committee or 
sub-committee in accordance with Section 101 of the Local Government Act 
1972. This report recommends that Cabinet considers this report for 
submission to Council on 16 December 2020. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.1 
 
4.1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.3 
 
 
 
 
4.1.4 
 
 
 
4.1.5 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
4.2.1 
 
 
 

Calculation of the Council Tax Base 
 
The calculation of the tax base starts with the number of recorded 
properties in each tax band (A to H) as at 14 September 2020, adjusted 
for:  

 changes expected to occur up to 31 March 2022 as a result of 
appeals, demolition and new home construction;  

 estimated number of disabled person’s reductions;  

 discounts allowed for single person households, students and 
empty/exempt properties. 

 
Following on from the resulting figure from the application of the 
process outlined in paragraph 4.1.1, the tax base calculation also takes 
account of the additional charges resulting from the local discount 
scheme in place for empty properties and second homes, along with 
the impact of the Local Council Tax Support scheme. 
 
The calculated number of properties in each band is then multiplied by 
a factor specified in the regulations to give an "equivalent number of 
band D properties" and then by an estimate of the likely collection rate 
for 2021/22 to give the tax base. 
 
The Council Tax base is used by the precepting authorities to apportion 
their net expenditure to their constituent authorities and by Rochdale 
Borough Council to set the level of Council Tax for 2021/22. 

 
The Council's net budgeted spending, including precepts and levies 
and after taking account of receipts of Business Rate income, is divided 
by the tax base to produce the Council Tax level for Band D properties, 
which is the headline tax figure. 
 
Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
 
Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires local 
authorities to annually review their local scheme; with any revisions to 
the scheme requiring a period of consultation and must be agreed by 
Council by 31st January each year. There are no requirements to 

Page 53



 
 
4.2.2 
 
4.3 
 
 
4.3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 

consult, should the scheme remain unchanged. 

 
It is proposed that the Scheme continues unchanged for 2021/22. 
 
Precepting Authority and Payment Dates 2021/22 

 

From 2018/19 elected Combined Authority Mayors were able to raise 
additional resources through a precept (or additional charge) on local 
Council Tax bills. The Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) 
sets a precept with two separately identified elements for the Mayor’s 
general functions, including the precept previously made for GM Fire & 
Rescue Authority, and for Police & Crime Commissioner functions.  
 

For 2021/22 the precepting authorities will continue to be: 
 

a) Rochdale Borough Council – General Functions 
b) Rochdale Borough Council – Adult Care 
c) GMCA Mayoral Police & Crime Commissioner 
d) GMCA Mayoral (including Fire Services) 

 
The Local Government Finance Act 1992 prescribes the procedures to 
be adopted in setting precept payment dates. The Act requires billing 
authorities to notify precepting authorities of a proposed payments 
schedule. This notification must be given before 31st December in 
respect of the following financial year. The final payments schedule is 
then confirmed by 31st January. 
 
The proposed payments schedule, is in line with the one operating in 
the current year, which was agreed by all Greater Manchester 
Authorities: 
 

20th April 2021 20th October 2021 

20th May 2021 22nd November 2021 

21st June 2021 20th December 2021 

20th July 2021 20th January 2022 

20th August 2021 21st February 2022 

20th September 2021 21st March 2022 

 
Alternatives Considered 
 
No alternative is available, as the Council has a statutory requirement to 
calculate and approve a Council Tax base each financial year. 
 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5.1 
 
5.2 
 

The detailed calculation of the tax base is set out in Appendix 1. 
 

The total number of properties has increased by 478 from 94,729 to 95,207 in 
the year ending on 14 September 2020. In the previous two years the net 

Page 54



 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
5.5 
 

change had been increases of 743 (2019) and 609 (2018). There continues to 
be a level of new build across the Borough, and whilst some of this is offset by 
demolitions, this further increase shows a continuing growth in the overall 
property numbers. 

 
The Local Council Tax Support scheme forecast provided in the tax base is 
based on the 2020/21 local scheme which was approved by Council on 18 
December 2019. The 2020/21 scheme includes a banded income scheme for 
working age residents in receipt of Universal Credit. 

 
The overall estimated collection rate is reducing to 97% to reflect the forecast 
on-going financial impact of the Covid 19 pandemic on the borough’s residents 
(98% in 2020/21). 
 
An estimate of the outturn for 2020/21 Council Tax income will be compared to 
the 2020/21 budgeted baseline amount. Differences between the budget and 
the projected actual outturn for 2020/21 will be considered as part of setting 
the 2021/22 Estimates process.  
 
The Local Authorities (Collection Fund: Surplus and Deficit) (Coronavirus) 
(England) Regulations 2020 come into force on 1 December 2020. The 
regulations require the repayment of Collection Fund deficits arising in 
2020/21 to be spread over the next three years, 2021/22 to 2023/24, rather 
than the usual period of a year.  Council Tax precept payments will be 
adjusted to reflect the requirements of the regulations. 
 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 

It is necessary to comply with Section 33 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 (as amended); The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax 
Base) (England) Regulations 2012; Section 84 of the Local Government Act 
2003 and Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, to ensure that there 
is no risk of the authority acting ultra vires in relation to its Council Tax 
arrangements.   
 
It is necessary to comply with Section 33 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 (as amended) and The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax 
Base) (England) Regulations 2012, to ensure the Council Tax Base is 
correctly calculated. 
 

Consultation 

 
7. This report is part of the budget setting process and consultation is 

undertaken with stakeholder groups, staff and service users as appropriate 
throughout the budget process. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 55



Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. There are no background papers  

 

For Further Information Contact: Carolyn Goddard, Tel: 01706 926051, 
Carolyn.Goddard@Rochdale.Gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



Appendix 1 – Calculation of the Council Tax base for 2021/22 

1.1 Property Details 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) 

Band Valuation * 
Properties @ 14th 
September 2020 

Adjusted number of properties, 
after discounts, exemptions etc. 

(see 1.2 below) 
Factor 

Band D 
Equivalent 

A (Disabled) £40,000 99 89 5/9 49 

A £40,000 50,985 30,577 6/9 20,385 

B £52,000 16,581 13,276 7/9 10,326 

C £68,000 12,570 10,832 8/9 9,628 

D £88,000 7,944 7,359 1 7,359 

E £120,000 4,428 4,060 11/9 4,962 

F £160,000 1,674 1,552 13/9 2,242 

G £320,000 870 779 15/9 1,298 

H 
over 

£320,000 
56 39 18/9 78 

TOTAL   95,207 68,563   56,327 

 
* Valuations based on property values as at 1st April 1991. 
 
1.2 The total number of properties at 95,207 on 14th September 2020 (column 3) compares to 94,729 last year, reflecting that new 

house building developments within the Borough were greater than demolitions during the year, resulting in a net growth in the 
overall number of properties. Adjustments are made to reflect the forecast level of discounts and exemptions given to Council 
Tax payers: 

 
 
 
 

P
age 57



 

1.3   To calculate the statutory tax base, the number of Band D equivalent properties (column 6) is multiplied by the estimated eventual        

  collection rate for income raised relating to 2021/22. The estimated collection rate used for 2021/22 is 97% (2020/21: 98%). 

 

1.4   Applying a 97% collection rate gives a 2021/22 statutory tax base calculation of 54,637 Band D equivalent properties (56,327 x        

  97%). 

 

1.5  The proposed 2021/22 statutory tax base of 54,637 Band D equivalent properties has reduced by 1,108 properties from the 

equivalent for 2020/21 of 55,745 properties. Although the overall number of properties liable for Council Tax charges has 

increased, the impact of the Covid- 19 pandemic has resulted in an estimated increase in the level of Local Council Tax Support 

discount to be given, and a reduction in the estimated Council Tax collection rate. This has resulted in the reduction of the Council 

Tax base calculated. 

 

1.6 Variations in the outturn tax base due to the under/over achievement of the collection rate, or differences between theassumptions 

and  actuals  in calculating the number of Band D equivalent properties, will result in a surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund. 

This is shared between Rochdale Borough Council and the precepting bodies. 

 

Properties at 14th September 2020       95,207 

Forecast for net new growth (after demolitions) 599 

Forecast for exemptions  (1,800) 

Forecast for adjustments relating to Single Person discounts, Local Council Tax Support, and Empty/other 
discounts  (25,443) 

Net adjusted number of properties to be used in calculation of the Council Tax Base 68,563 

P
age 58



 

Report to Cabinet 
 

 

Date of Meeting 1 December 2020 
Portfolio  Cabinet Member for 

Corporate Delivery 
Report Author Carolyn Goddard 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Council Tax Empty Property Charges 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. This report seeks approval to increase the council tax empty property premium 

from 200% to 300% with effect from 1 April 2021 for properties that have been 
empty in excess of 10 years. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. That Cabinet notes the proposal and that approval will be sought from Council 

on 16 December 2020 to agree the empty property premium increase.  
 

eason for Recommendation 

 
3. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
3.2 

In April 2013, Government gave local authorities power to determine the level 
of empty property discounts in dwelling classes B, C and D (Section 12 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 2012). The power included an option to charge 
a premium of up to 50% where a property has been empty in excess of two 
years. The Council decided to introduce a 50% premium with effect from 1 
April 2013 and increased this to 100% with effect from 1 April 2019. 
 
From 1 April 2020, Government increased the optional maximum empty 
property premium charge to 200% for properties that have been empty in 
excess of 5 years.  The Council decided to introduce this 200% premium with 
effect from 1 April 2020.  
 
From 1 April 2021, Government is increasing the optional maximum empty 
property premium charge to 300% for properties that have been empty in 
excess of 10 years. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 
 

In April 2013, there were 552 properties in the Rochdale borough which were 
subject to the empty property premium charge; this has reduced by 202 to 350 
by November 2020, 46 of which have been empty in excess of 10 years. 

 
 
 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8



 
4.1 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 
 
 
 
4.7 
 
 
 
 
4.8 
 
 

 
The charging of a premium is part of the Council’s overall strategy of bringing 
long-term empty homes back into use at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Long-term empty homes have a negative impact on surrounding homes and 
areas, and while tackling empty homes will not provide a solution to the need 
for new homes, it is an important part of making best use of the existing 
housing stock. 
 
Other benefits include: 

 Improving housing conditions and reducing anti-social behaviour in the 
vicinity of the empty properties. 

 Reducing pressure on the existing housing stock. 

 Providing opportunities for local suppliers in the property and 
construction trades, and on a larger scale can support training and 
employment by local companies carrying out any necessary renovation 
and building work. 

 
On implementation of the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and 
Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018, Local Government Minister, Rishi 
Sunak, said: “It is simply wrong that, while there are 200,000 long-term empty 
properties across the country, thousands of families are desperate for a 
secure place to call home.” 
 
“This new power will equip councils with the tools they need to encourage 
owners of long-term empty properties to bring them back into use – and at the 
same time tackle the harmful effect they have on communities through 
squatting, vandalism and anti-social behaviour.” 
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
The empty property premium could remain at 200%. However, Government 
has identified that additional measures are needed to continue the 
improvements already made and have amended the legislation.  
 
Of the 350 properties that are currently subject to the premium, 95 have been 
empty in excess of 5 years and a further 46 in excess of 10 years, so there are 
still problems locally that need to be addressed and the 100% and 200% 
premiums aren’t working in these cases.  
 
The 141 long-term empty properties that have been empty in excess of 5 
years and the other 209 that have been empty more than 2 years are causing 
problems in their communities and adding pressure on the overall housing 
stock. 

 
 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. This change is expected to raise an additional £67,000 in council tax income 

in 2021/22. This amount reflects the fact that this measure should help to 
further reduce the overall number of long-term empty properties. 

 

Page 60



Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. 
 
 
 
 
 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 

The proposals are permitted under the Rating (Property in Common 
Operation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018. The purpose of 
these wider powers is to encourage owners of long term empty properties to 
find ways of bringing them back into use. The powers are not specifically 
designed by government to increase revenue. 
 
The premium cannot apply to homes that are empty due to the occupant 
living in armed forces accommodation for job-related purposes, or to 
annexes being used as part of a main property. There are also specific 
statutory exemptions for properties left empty for a specific purpose, for 
example, when a person goes into care. 
 
There is a risk that some owners may refuse to pay the increased premium 
charge, but there are adequate legislative powers in place to enforce 
collection. These include Charging Orders, Empty Dwelling Management 
Orders, Enforced Sale Proceedings or Compulsory Purchase Orders. 
 

Consultation 

 
7. No consultation is required. However, the owners of these 46 properties are 

already known to officers and contact will be made with them to advise of the 
change and to promote some of things the Council can offer to assist them in 
bringing the property back into use. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. There are no background papers 
for this report 

 

 

For Further Information Contact: Carolyn Goddard, Tel: 01706 926051, 
Carolyn.Goddard@Rochdale.Gov.Uk 

 

Page 61



 

Report to Cabinet 
 

 

Date of Meeting 1st December 2020 
Portfolio  Cabinet Member for 

Corporate Delivery 
Report Author Carolyn Goddard  
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

2021/22 Setting the Business Rate Base 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. This report seeks approval from Council on 16 December 2020, for the setting 

of the Business Rates baseline for 2021/22 in accordance with the Local Government 

Finance Act 1988 and the Non-Domestic Rating Regulations 2013; and approval of  
the precept payment dates for 2021/22. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. Cabinet is asked to consider, for submission to Council on 16 December 2020: 

 
a) The draft Business Rate baseline figure of £63.251m for 2021/22, 

subject to any changes which may result from: 
 

 the provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2021/22. 

 a change to the current pilot scheme for 100% retention of 
Business Rates 

 the issue of the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government (MHCLG) guidance on completion of the 2021/22 
Business Rates baseline return (NNDR1), due in January 2021. 

 
b) The Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 

Finance, to be authorised to conclude and agree the final Business 
Rates baseline return (NNDR1) due on 31 January 2021, should the 
final information yet to be received from MHCLG change the baseline 
figure for 2021/22. 
 

c) That the precepts payment schedule detailed in paragraph 4.2 be 
approved. 

 
 
 

Reason for Recommendation 

 

Page 62

Agenda Item 9



3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 

The Non-Domestic Rating (Rates Retention) Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/452) 
require billing authorities to notify the Secretary of State and their major 
precepting authority of their calculation of non-domestic rating income for the 
following financial year and the estimated surplus/deficit on the Collection 
Fund by 31st January each year. 
 
The figures are produced subject to the MHCLG guidance being published 
and provided, following which the figure in this report may have to be revisited. 
 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.1 
 
4.1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.3 
 
 
 
 
4.1.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.5 
 
 
 
 
 

Setting the Business Rates Baseline 
 
From 1st April 2013 the Business Rates Retention Scheme (BRRS) was 
introduced as part of the move to localise and stimulate business 
growth at a local level. Under the original BRRS the Authority paid 50% 
of its Business Rates income to Central Government, 1% to Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) – Fire Services, and retained 
the remaining 49%. 
 
The Local Government Settlement 2017/18 included the introduction of 
the 100% retention of Business Rates for identified regional pilot 
authorities, including Greater Manchester. The Council is awaiting 
confirmation from the government that the GM pilot scheme will 
continue in 2021/22. Under the pilot scheme 100% of the Business 
Rates income is retained locally, in lieu of Revenue Support Grant and 
Public Health Grant. The precept arrangement under the pilot scheme 
is 99% to Rochdale BC and 1% to GMCA Mayoral General (including 
Fire Services).  

 
Central Government has assessed potential retained Business Rates 
income and provided a “top up” grant within the local government 
finance settlement to bridge the gap in funding as a result of the move 
to the BRRS. 

 
The BRRS is accounted for within the Collection Fund. This account 
reflects the statutory requirements for the Council to maintain a 
separate Collection Fund, in relation to the operation of the BRRS and 
Council Tax. The Fund records all the transactions for billing, payments 
by Council Tax/ Business Rates payers, reliefs granted, write offs and 
payments to the precepting authorities. At the end of each year the 
surplus/deficit on the Fund is allocated to the precepting authorities on 
the basis of their level of precept on the Collection Fund. 

 
In January of each year the Authority is required to set an estimated 
Business Rates income yield for the following year which is to be used 
to inform the precepting authorities of their precept on the Fund. If the 
current pilot scheme for 100% retention of Business Rates continues, 
the income yield will be allocated as follows:  
 

Page 63



 
 
 
4.1.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
4.2.1 
 
 
 
 
4.2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
4.3.1 
 

Rochdale BC – General Fund                                            99% 
GMCA Mayoral General (including Fire Services)               1% 

 
A Central Government standard form is used (known as the NNDR1) to 
ensure a common approach for the collection of the Business Rates 
income forecast. The return to be used for the completion of the 
2021/22 estimate has not yet been made available by MHCLG. The 
setting of the baseline for 2021/22 has been prepared on a draft basis 
until further clarification is received from MHCLG. 
 
Precept Payment Dates 2021/22 

 
The Business Rates retention regulations require that the local authority 
should agree a precept schedule with the precept authority, which in the 
case of Rochdale Council will be GMCA Mayoral General (including 
Fire Services). 

 
It is proposed that the same payments schedule be adopted as set out 
for the Council Tax precept, which is detailed below: 
 

20th April 2021 20th October 2021 

20th May 2021 22nd November 2021 

21st June 2021 20th December 2021 

20th July 2021 20th January 2022 

20th August 2021 21st February 2022 

20th September 2021 21st March 2022 

 
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
No alternative is available, as the Council has a statutory requirement to 
estimate and set a Business Rates Baseline each financial year. 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 

A final NNDR1 must be agreed by the Chief Financial Officer and returned to 
MHCLG by 31st January each year.  The final return must include: 

 
a) the anticipated gross income to be billed to businesses in 2021/22; 
b) estimates for any growth in Business Rates anticipated in 2021/22, net 

of any demolitions; 
c) forecast  for any increases in Business Rates relief including empty 

reliefs; 
d) changes in amounts to be collected should those premises that still 

have outstanding appeals from the rateable value revaluation changes 
in 2005, 2010, and 2017 be resolved; 

e) changes in amounts to be collected from premises that are subject to a 
reduction as a result of the appeals process or Valuation Office Agency 
(VOA) adjustments. 

 
A final baseline position for 2021/22 cannot be included in this report, as the 

 

Page 64



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

final guidance will be issued by MHCLG in mid-January 2021. Members are 
requested to approve that the Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Finance, be authorised to conclude and agree the final 
Business Rates baseline return (NNDR1), due on 31 January 2021, should the 
final information yet to be received from MHCLG change the baseline figure 
for 2021/22. 
 
The Government will set out the 2021/22 provisional Business Rates 
multiplier; this will be confirmed after either the Local Government Finance 
Report for 2021/22 has been approved by the House of Commons or 1 March 
2021, whichever is earlier. 

 
Using the estimated Business Rates multipliers currently assumed in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Business Rates baseline for 2021/22 
would be £63.251m split between: 
 
 
 

 
 

 
The 2021/22 estimated Business Rates baseline takes into account the latest 
forecast for 2020/21, and estimated changes in the baseline for 2021/22. 
  
An estimate of the outturn for 2020/21 Business Rates income to be collected 
will be compared to the estimated baseline amount provided in the NNDR1 for 
2020/21. Differences between the estimate and the projected actual collected 
will be considered as part of setting the 2021/22 Estimates process.  
 
The Local Authorities (Collection Fund: Surplus and Deficit) (Coronavirus) 
(England) Regulations 2020 come into force on 1 December 2020. The 
regulations require the repayment of Collection Fund deficits arising in 
2020/21 to be spread over the next three years, 2021/22 to 2023/24, rather 
than the usual period of a year. Business Rates precept payments will be 
adjusted to reflect the requirements of the regulations. 

Rochdale Borough Council £62.619m 

GMCA Mayoral (including Fire 
Services)    

£0.632m 

Total £63.251m 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

It is necessary for the Council to comply with the Non-Domestic Rating (Rates 
Retention) Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/452) to ensure that it does not act ultra 
vires in relation to its arrangements for the setting of the Business Rates Base 
for 2021/22.  
 
Subject to government confirmation, in 2021/22 the Council will continue to be 
part of the GM pilot to retain 100% of Business Rates. The 100% Business 
Rates pilot will mean that the Council will take 99% of the risk for the 
collection of all Business Rates rather than 49% under the previous system. 
Major changes to Business Rates, such as awards of mandatory reliefs for 
schools converting to academies, will be borne mainly by the local authority.  
 

Page 65



6.3 
 
 
 
6.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.5 
 

As part of the 100% pilot the Council will be responsible for 99% of the cost of 
changes to rateable values as a result of appeals, which introduces further 
volatility to the Business Rates income collected. 

 
There are still a number of rateable value appeals outstanding where 
businesses have appealed against the values set by the Valuation Office 
Agency in 2005 and 2010. These may have a significant impact for the 
business rates to be collected and retained by the local authority, including the 
costs of any backdated amounts. A provision is held to support the ongoing 
mitigation of this risk.   
 
Businesses now use the check, challenge and appeal process against 
rateable values that came into effect on 1 April 2017 which may have a 
financial impact on business rate income. A provision is held to offset the 
possible impact of successful appeals, and other rateable value reductions 
made by the Valuation Office Agency. 
 

Consultation 

 
7. This report is part of the budget setting process and consultation is 

undertaken with stakeholder groups, staff and service users as appropriate 
throughout the budget process. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. There are no background papers  

 

For Further Information Contact: Carolyn Goddard, Tel: 01706 926051, 
Carolyn.Goddard@Rochdale.Gov.uk 

 

Page 66



 

Report to Cabinet 
 

 

Date of Meeting 1 December 2020 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Children's Services 
Report Author Monitoring Officer 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. Members will recall the findings of the Social Care and Local Government 

Ombudsman (SCLGO) reported to Cabinet earlier this year when he made a 

finding that a special guardian had suffered injustice as a result of the Council’s 

Special Guardianship Support Policy (the Policy). The SCLGO also 

recommended, and Cabinet agreed, that the Policy be reviewed and consulted 

on. That process is now complete and requires an adoption decision from 

Members.  

             

Recommendation 

 
2. 

 
That the Special Guardianship Support Policy is approved. 

  

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. The Council is required to adopt a legally compliant Policy. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 

Late last year, the SCLGO published a finding of maladministration against 
the Council in respect of the Policy. The Ombudsman concluded that the 
Policy was contrary to the relevant statutory guidance to which it must have 
regard and to the principles established in case law. In particular the Policy 
did not reflect that a child’s financial needs increase as they get older, and 
should be structured so as to include age bandings linked to the level of 
allowance payable rather than freezing payments at the level being received 
at the time the Special Guardianship Order was granted.   
     
The SCLGO made other recommendations to the Council which were fully or 
partially accepted by Cabinet. These included compensation to the 

Page 67

Agenda Item 10



 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
4.5 

complainants with respect to the payments they would have received had the 
Policy been compliant. A capped compensation scheme was established to 
compensate other affected Special Guardians. 
 
Cabinet also agreed to consult on a new Policy. This took the form of a 
targeted engagement with those in receipt of an Allowance, or who were 
starting to engage with the system and may be eligible to receive an allowance 
in the near future. The consultation period lasted 5 weeks. No responses 
about the Policy changes were received. 
 
The final version of the Policy is appended to this report, for approval by 
Cabinet. 
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
There are no alternatives recommended. 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. The projected costs for SGO payments in 2020/2021 is £927,000 and is 

included within approved budgets. 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. 
 
          

 
Failure to adopt a compliant Policy will put the Council at risk of legal 
challenge and further complaints to and findings by the Ombudsman. 
  

Consultation 

 
7. Special Guardians. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8.  The Policy document appended to this 
report 

Floor 2, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1AB 

 

For Further Information Contact: david.wilcock@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

Page 68



 

Special Guardianship 
Support Policy 

[Subject] 
 

Page 69



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 1 
 
 
 

Document Control 

 

Document Title:  
 
Summary 
 

Publication Date  

Related Legislation / Applicable Section 
of Legislation 

 

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents 

 

Replaces  

Joint Policy (Yes/No)  

Name of Partner(s) if joint  

Policy Owner (Name/Position)  

Policy Author (Name/Position)  

Applies to  

 
 

Review of Strategy 
 

Last Review Date  

Review undertaken by  

Next Review Date  

 

Document Approvals 
 
This document requires the following approvals. 
 
Name Title Date of Issue Version Number 

    

    

    

Page 70



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 2 
 
 
 

    

Page 71



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 3 
 
 
 

1. Assessment for Support Services  
 

In all cases where an application for a Special Guardianship Order (SGO) is made to the court, the 
local authority will carry out an investigation into the suitability of the prospective special guardian and 
the needs of the child. In carrying out such an investigation it may become apparent that support from 
the authority, or arranged by the authority, is necessary to promote the child’s welfare.  
 
If the authority decides that it is not necessary to carry out an assessment of the need for support the 
special guardian will be notified and given an opportunity to make representations as to why such an 
assessment should be carried out. Any such representations must be received within 28 days of receipt 
of the notification of the decision not to carry out an assessment. If representation is received, such 
representation will be considered by the responsible Head of Service. 
 
All children who were Looked After by the authority at the time of the application for a Special 
Guardianship Order, or immediately before the Special Guardianship Order was made, will be 
assessed for support services, following which the authority will produce a ‘notice of assessment’ and 
where there is an going need, a Support Plan, setting out the support it will provide.  
 
Support may be provided in many ways such as advice, mediation, therapeutic, or financial e.g. by  
providing one-off payment for a ‘settling-in’ grant or where there is a recurring financial expenditure. 
The purpose of this support is to ensure that the child’s needs are met and the relationship between the 
child and special guardian is preserved. Lack of support, financial or otherwise, should never be the 
reason why a special guardianship arrangement fails.  
 
If it appears that, a child who is the subject of the Special Guardianship Order may have a need for 
support from another agency, such as health or education they will be consulted with in preparation of 
the SGO Support Plan.  
 
 
Provision of Support 
 
The legal framework governing Special Guardianship arrangements is set out within Section 14F of the 
amended Children Act, 1989 and the associated regulations (Special Guardianship Regulations 2005 
(as amended by the Special Guardianship (Amendment) Regulations 2016).   
 
This framework places a duty on the local authority to make arrangements for a range of services to 
support Special Guardianship arrangements. 
  
Special Guardianship support services are defined as:  

• Financial support;  
• Services to enable children, Special Guardians (including prospective special guardians) and 
parents to discuss matters relating to the special guardianship  
• Assistance including mediation in relation to contact between the child and their parents, relatives 
or significant others with whom the child has a relationship that the authority considers to be 
beneficial to the welfare of the child   
• Therapeutic services for the child 
Assistance to ensure continuance of the relationship between the child and the (proposed) Special 
Guardian, including training to meet any special needs of the child, respite care, and mediation  
• Counselling, advice and information  

Page 72



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 4 
 
 
 

 
The framework emphasises the need for financial support to be seen as one component of the range of 
possible sources of support for these Special Guardianship arrangements.  In addition, services should 
not be seen in isolation from universal mainstream services and it is important to ensure that special 
guardians are assisted in accessing these services, including accessing their entitlements to tax credits 
and social security benefits.  Rochdale Borough Council is therefore committed to ensuring that holistic 
support needs are assessed before a Special Guardianship Order is made, and that this approach 
continues as part of regular reviews of holistic needs. 
 
The Special Guardianship Support Plan  
 
Where an assessment identifies the need for ‘on-going’ support services, a Special Guardianship 
Support Plan must be completed using the SGO Support Plan Template (See Appendix 1).  The 
support plan should identify access to the full range of support services available (including those 
within Universal and targeted services as well as more specialist support) in order to ensure the child’s 
needs are fully supported. A copy of a typical support plan is also available in Appendix 1 of this 
document. 
 
The Special Guardianship Support Plan will need to be agreed by the Practice Manager and approval 
sought by the Rochdale Borough Council SGO Panel chaired by a Head of Service.  
 
Once the necessary approval has been obtained, the social worker must send the proposed plan to the 
person requesting support, and allow 28 days for that person to make representations about the 
proposed plan. The SW should also give information to the person concerned about who to contact to 
obtain independent advice and advocacy.  
 
Where representations are received with new or additional information, they should be referred to the 
Practice Manager who will discuss this with the responsible Head of Service to make a decision to 
amend or confirm the Plan.  If a decision is made to amend the plan this should be referred to the SGO 
panel for final agreement.  The allocated social worker must then write to the person concerned setting 
out the final plan.  
 
NB: Particular attention must be given to the content of the Support Plan in relation to the 
financial information of the Special Guardian and ensure that this confidential information is not 
shared with birth parents when submitted to Court. 
 
The plan should not usually be amended outside the local authority process. However, if additional 
information on the need for support, such as, revised expert opinion, be received after determination of 
the final plan then the matter can be re-referred to the SGO Panel for re-consideration.  In exceptional 
circumstances and where there is a pressing need for amendment, such as a determination of 
additional need arising at Court and it is not possible to re-convene the SGO Panel, then the issue of 
amendment can be referred to the responsible Head of Service or similar Head of Service.   
 
Provision of Financial Support 
 
Carers who are proposing to care for a child under a Special Guardianship Order, or who are caring for 
a child under a Special Guardianship order can request an assessment for support, including financial 
support. Rochdale Borough Council may provide support to a Special Guardian, or prospective Special 
Guardian, in order to maintain or achieve permanence for a child or young person, via Special 

Page 73



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 5 
 
 
 

Guardianship. This policy applies where Special Guardianship support has been assessed to be in the 
best interests of the child or young person  
 
Regulation 7 (Special Guardianship Regulations 2005 (as amended by the Special Guardianship 
(Amendment) Regulations 2016) states ‘Financial issues should not be the sole reason for a special 
guardianship arrangement failing to survive. The central principle is that financial support should be 
payable in accordance with the Regulations to help secure a suitable special guardianship 
arrangement where such an arrangement cannot be readily made because of a financial obstacle’.  
 
The payment of financial support is at the discretion of Rochdale Borough Council and is subject to an 
assessment of need and cannot be relied upon as a regular source of income.  
 
It is important to ensure that special guardians are helped to access benefits to which they are entitled. 
Rochdale Borough Council will therefore provide the necessary information and support for special 
guardians or prospective special guardian to ensure they are aware of, and taking advantage of, all 
benefits and tax credits available to them.   The statutory guidance makes it clear that any other 
payment available to the special guardian or prospective special guardian (e.g. grant, benefit, 
allowance or resource) in respect of their needs as a result of becoming a special guardian of the child 
must be taken into account when determining the amount of any allowance. 
 
When considering providing financial support Rochdale Borough Council will normally consider the 
special guardian or prospective special guardian’s means taking into account  

(a) the special guardian or prospective special guardian’s financial resources (including significant 
income from any investments, but not their home), including any tax credit or benefit, which would 
be available to them if the child lived with them.  
(b) the amount required by the special guardian or prospective special guardian in respect of his 
reasonable outgoings and commitments, e.g. housing and transport costs, and daily living expenses 
(but not outgoings in respect of the child) 
(c) the financial needs that relate to the child (e.g. because of special diet or need for replacement 
bedding) and the resources of the child (e.g. a trust fund) 

 
The Department of Work and Pensions has the primary duty to provide a level of income maintenance 
in circumstances where parents are unable to provide an adequate level of financial support to a child 
who is subject of Special Guardianship Order. Where the local authority is considering undertaking a 
financial assessment regarding ongoing payments (allowances) in respect of Special Guardianship 
Orders, advice will be provided to the carer to ensure they are claiming all relevant and appropriate 
benefits and/or tax credits available to them 

 
 
Circumstances in which Financial Support may be payable  
 
Financial support may be provided to those who are granted Special Guardianship Orders in respect of 
children who were previously looked after or who would, in the opinion of the Practice Manager, 
otherwise have become looked after if such orders had not been granted.   
 
 
 
Circumstances where financial support may be payable:   
 

Page 74



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 6 
 
 
 

1. Where it is necessary to ensure that the carers can look after the child, where this would not be 
practicable without financial support and where this is not available from another source;  

2. Where the child needs special care which requires greater expenditure of resources by reason of 
illness, disability, emotional or behavioural difficulties or the consequences of past abuse or 
neglect; 

3. Where the local authority consider that it is appropriate to contribute to any legal costs including 
court fees associated with the making of a Special Guardianship; 

4. Where such support is to meet recurring costs in respect of travel for the purpose of visits between 
the child and a related person, in line with the child’s support plan;  
 
 
N.B. Where assistance would normally be provided by another agency (e.g. adaptations to 
the home for a disabled child) these should be applied for separately by the carers to the 
appropriate agency. 

 
Financial support to Former Foster Carers 
 
Specific provision is made in regard of financial support for Special Guardian(s) who were formerly 
foster carers for the specific child or young person.  The general principle underpinning this is that 
financial support should not include any element of remuneration (skills payment) but former foster 
carers are exempted from this for a period of up to 2 years.  This principle is to allow for a period of 
financial adjustment following the making of the SGO and will not usually be extended beyond that 
period.   
 
In exceptional circumstances linked to the specific needs of the child(ren) such an element could 
continue beyond 2 years, which is at the discretion of Rochdale Borough Council. The support plan will 
outline the level of financial support to be paid to the Carers and how this will be assessed on an 
annual basis.  
The carers will be able to review and agree this prior to the application being made to the Court. 
 
The level of financial assistance paid to Foster Carers will commence at the level of fostering payments 
they receive at the time of the Special Guardianship Order being granted. Additional payments relating 
to holiday, birthday and Christmas or Festival Allowances will not usually be paid.  Where the annual 
Support Plan Review indicates that the need for financial support remains; payments will be linked to 
the fostering rates payable at the time the review is undertaken.  The amount payable will also be 
linked to the age of the child according to the fostering allowance age bandings applicable at the time 
the review is undertaken.  Details of the current payments are included in Appendix 2 of this policy. 
 
The payment age bandings are: 0-4 years; 5-10 years; 11-15 years; 16+ 
 
The decision to grant or continue with a Special Guardianship Allowance will be made by Rochdale 
Borough Councils SGO Panel.  The SGO Panel consists of key senior professionals within Children’s 
Services.  Cases will be presented to the panel by the assessing social worker and/or their Practice 
Manager.  Any views of Special Guardian’s or prospective Special Guardians will be represented via 
that reporting mechanism.  The role of the SGO panel will be to consider all aspects of support to the 
child of which allowances are only one element.  To this end any assessment and support plan should 
focus on the holistic needs and support to maintain the arrangement. 
 
 

Page 75



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 7 
 
 
 

Non Means Tested Financial Support 
The Local Authority will not means test the prospective Special Guardian(s) where it considers it 
appropriate to make a contribution towards:  
1. expenditure on legal costs, 
2. expenditure associated with a child or young person’s introduction to a prospective permanent 

carer or 
 
Types of Financial Support 
In accordance with its overall policies and procedures in this regard, financial support may be provided in 
the following ways: 

 Periodic financial support - In determining the amount of any ongoing financial support, Rochdale 
Borough Council will take into account the amount of fostering allowance which would have been 
payable if the child were fostered. Rochdale’s core maintenance allowance plus any enhancement 
that would be payable in respect of the particular child, will make up the maximum payment.  The 
standard means test carried out as appropriate to the circumstances would use this maximum 
payment as a basis and deduct any calculated amount. (Appendix 2 of this document outlines some 
specific cases in more detail. 

 A lump sum payment, which will cover items or adaptations that are required as a consequence of 
assessment of a child's individual needs and as determined by the Local Authority 

 The commissioning by the Local Authority, possibly alongside other agencies, of specific items or 
services 

 
 

Method of Payment  
 
In line with Regulation 8 (Special Guardianship Regulations 2005 (as amended by the Special 
Guardianship (Amendment) Regulations 2016) financial support may be paid either:  

i) periodically, if it is provided to meet a need which is likely to give rise to recurring expenditure; or  
ii) by a single payment; or  
iii) if the local authority and the Special Guardian or prospective Special Guardian agree, by 
instalments.  
 

Decision to provide support  
 
The decision to provide support must be sought from the SGO Panel which acts as a quality-assurance and 
approval mechanism, and ensures that the SGO Court Report, Support Plan and financial assessment 
(where appropriate) are completed to the required standard within the required timescales.  
 
Exceptionally, where time does not allow for this, the designated Head of Service should have sight of the 
reports and agree these in advance of submission to court.  
 
Following changes to the support plan, reviews and receipt of appeals, the appropriate documentation 
(including a financial assessment) must be submitted to Panel following which the appropriate Practice 
Manager will inform the SG in writing of the outcome of the Panel’s decision.  
 
In summary the SGO Panel will have 4 main roles:  
▪ To oversee the process of completing assessments is undertaken within the given timescale;  
▪ To ensure that proposals for financial support are discussed;  

Page 76



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 8 
 
 
 

▪ To assure the quality of the assessment and report;  
▪ To recommend the level and type of support (if any) to be offered by Children’s Services.  
 
Notice of Decision  
After approval has been sought and a decision made to provide support financial support, the Special 
Guardian will be provided with a ‘Notification of Entitlement’ letter, sent by the Children’s Services Payment 
Team which sets out the following information:  
▪ The method of determination of the amount of financial support  
▪ Whether financial support is to be paid in regular instalments and if so, the frequency of payment;  
▪ Where financial support is to be paid as a single payment, when the payment is to be made;  
▪ The amount of financial support;  
▪ The period for which the financial support is to be paid;  
▪ When payment will commence;  
▪ Arrangements and procedure for review and termination  
• Any conditions attached to the payment 
• Details of the support plan 
• The onus on the (proposed) Special Guardian to inform the local authority without delay of any change in 
their own, or the child’s circumstances 
 
Any notice must be given in writing and accompanied by a copy of the support plan where it is proposed to 
provide specified services.  
 
Review of Support (including financial support)  
 
Regulation’s 17 and 18 requires that where the local authority provides general and/or financial support 
periodically, it must review the financial support:  
a) Annually, requesting appropriate documentary evidence;  
b) If there is any change of circumstances or breach of any condition (see  
Terms & Conditions Agreement);  
c) At any stage in the implementation of the plan that the local authority considers appropriate. the Special 
Guardianship Allowance will be reviewed annually and each year Special Guardians will be required to re-
complete the financial assessment document. 
 
An early review may be initiated if: 
- Rochdale Borough Council become aware of any significant changes in the circumstances of the family 
- The Special Guardian(s) notifies Rochdale Borough Council of any significant changes or requests an 
early review because of a change in financial circumstances. 
 
In Rochdale we are keen to ensure that finance is not the only element of support that is considered on an 
annual basis.  We all know that children’s needs may increase or decrease over time and the annual review 
of support enables the authority to respond according to any fluctuating need that may require additional 
practical, health, educational or other support. 
 
Any significant changes to the financial circumstances of the Special Guardianship (s) household are likely 
to result in a change in the level of allowance that is awarded. The SGO Panel will always take note of the 
Court agreed support plan, which will identify a level of payment and support. However depending on the 
means testing assessment and the level of benefits received, this may change each year in line with the 
annual review, depending on the Special Guardian’s circumstances 
 

Page 77



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 9 
 
 
 

 
 
Terms & Conditions  
Regulation 10 provides that financial support that is to be paid periodically is not payable until the special 
guardian or prospective special guardian agrees to the following conditions. As the local authority has the 
discretion to impose any appropriate condition this will apply for the purpose of any financial support 
provided.  
 
As outlined within the Terms & Conditions, financial support will always cease to be payable to the Special 
Guardian or prospective Special Guardian if the child or young person:  

a) ceases to have a home with him or her; or  
b) ceases full-time education or training and commences employment; or  
c) qualifies for income support or job seeker’s allowance in his or her own right: or 
d) attains the age of 18 years, (unless he or she continues in full-time education or training, when it 
may continue until the end of the course or training he or she is then undertaking)  

 
The Special Guardian or prospective Special Guardian must agree to:  

a) inform the local authority immediately if the Special Guardian changes his or her address, the 
child/young person dies, or there is a change in the financial circumstances of the Special Guardian 
or the needs or resources of the child, or if any of the events occur which would lead to the 
cessation of the support.  
b) complete and supply the local authority with appropriate annual financial documentation of his or 
her financial circumstances, the financial needs and resources of the child or young person, and his 
or her address and whether the child/young person still has a home with him or her.  

 
The Special Guardian must also sign the ‘Terms & Conditions’ Agreement and adhere to the conditions set 
out within this Agreement.  
 
Rochdale Borough Council may suspend or terminate the payment of financial support, and seek to recover 
all or part of the financial support paid, if any of the above conditions are not complied with, but where the 
non-compliance is the failure to provide annual financial documentation, the local authority is under a duty 
to send the Special Guardian a written reminder of the need to provide this documentation and to give the 
person 28 days within which to comply.  
 
Notice of any change of circumstances of the Special Guardian or the child/young person may initially be 
given orally, but must be confirmed in writing within 7 days.  
 
 
12. Making Representations/Appeals Process  
 
If the carer(s) wishes to make representations and appeal against a decision or wants the terms of a 
decision to be reconsidered, he/she would need to appeal in writing and send the Appeal to the Special 
Guardianship Team within 28 days of receipt of the letter. The letter must clearly provide full details of the 
additional costs incurred as a result of ceasing financial support.  
 
Applicants who remain dissatisfied with the decision will be entitled to use the Rochdale Borough Council 
Complaint’s Procedure. 
 
  

Page 78



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 10 
 
 
 

Appendix 1.: SGO Support Plan template  
 

SGO Support Plan  - 
blank (2).doc

 
 

Example SGO 

support plan October 2019.doc
 

  

Page 79



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 11 
 
 
 

Appendix 2:  
 
SGO payments to former foster carers in years 1 & 2 post order  
(nb.  These rates are applicable as at 1st April 2019 and subject to revision periodically) 
 
 
 
  

Level 1 Basic Weekly 
Allowance 

Additional Weekly 
Payment 
(Skills) 

Maximum Amount 
Payable 

0-4 132                          0 132 

5-10 146                          0 146 

11-15 167                          0 167 

16+ 194                           0 194 

Level 2 
  

 

0-4 132 75                            207 

5-10 146 75                                                   221 

11-15 167 75                            242 

16+ 194 75                            269 

Level 3 
  

 

0-4 132 140                          272 

5-10 146 140                          286 

11-15 167 140                          307 

16+ 194 140                          334 

Level 4 
  

 

5-10 146 280                          426 

11-15 167 280                          447 

16+ 194 280                          474 

Page 80



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 12 
 
 
 

Current Fostering Payments: SGO payments to former foster carers years 3+  
(nb.  These rates are applicable as at 1st April 2019 and subject to revision periodically) 
 
  

Level 1 Basic Weekly 
Allowance 

Additional Weekly 
Payment 
(Skills) 

Maximum Amount 
Payable 

0-4 132                          0 132 

5-10 146                          0 146 

11-15 167                          0 167 

16+ 194                           0 194 

Level 2 
  

 

0-4 132 0                         132 

5-10 146 0                                                 146 

11-15 167 0                            167 

16+ 194 0                            194 

Level 3 
  

 

0-4 132 0 132 

5-10 146 0 146 

11-15 167 0 167 

16+ 194 0 194 

Level 4 
  

 

5-10 146 0                      146 

11-15 167 0                     167 

16+ 194 0                 194 

Page 81



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 13 
 
 
 

Appendix 3: Finance Examples 
 
Example 1. 
 
I am a family and friend’s foster carer approved under Regulation 24 temporary approval and have 
been receiving a level 1 payment.  I am going to take an SGO in relation to my 2 year old nephew.  
Neither me or my partner work and we have children of our own.  What payments will I receive from 
the local authority? 
 
For the first 2 years, unless there is a significant change in your financial circumstances you will receive the 
same payment as you are getting as a foster carer (£132) minus child benefit and any other child related 
benefits that you are able to claim.   The allowance will change in line with changes to Rochdale Borough 
Council fostering allowances.  If changes in line with fostering allowances do occur then these will usually 
take effect from 1st April.   
 
A general review of support needs will take place annually and this will usually include a financial 
assessment using the Standard Means test tool to determine any amount you will continue to be paid.  
When the child you are caring for moves through one of the payment age bandings your allowance will 
increase accordingly.  The first age related increase will occur when the child becomes 5 years old (£146 
plus any uplift that was put in place on 1st April in each of the years since the making of the order).  
Depending on the outcome of the any means test, and any benefits including child benefit you receive will 
usually be deducted from the maximum amount payable) 
 
Worked Example Year 3+ 
 
 

1) PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME  

   

i) Pay 
Parent 

1 Parent 2 

Basic net monthly pay 0 0 

Drawings if self employed 0 0 

Total subsection 1i 0   

   

ii) Benefits and pensions (parents) 
Parent 

1 Parent 2 

Employers' sick pay (after compulsory deductions) 0 0 

Incapacity benefit 0 0 

Statutory maternity, paternity and/or adoption pay and/or maternity 
allowance 0 0 

Bereavement benefit 0 0 

Working tax credit (if paid directly and not as part of pay and excluding 
any childcare element paid) 0 0 

All pension payments being received 0 0 

Other benefits 0 0 

Total subsection 1ii 0   

   
iii) Benefits (family/children)     

Page 82



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 14 
 
 
 

Income Support/Jobseeker's Allowance per household 
                     
396.50    

Child tax credit per household  
                     
954.20    

Child benefit for each child, excluding child/children who are the subject 
of this assessment application     

Total subsection 1iii 1350.7   

   
iv) Other sources of income     

Income from capital, savings and investments - net monthly interest 0   

Income from boarders/lodgers (see guidance for details of calculation) 0   

Income from unfurnished properties 0   

Income from furnished properties 0   

Maintenance payments received for any child in household 0   

Existing adoption or special guardian 'allowances' (including any 
enhancements or specific payments for special needs) paid for any child     

Total subsection 1iv 0   

   

v) Income relating to child(ren) being adopted or becoming a 
special guardian child     

Any regular interest on capital and/or income in which the child(ren) has 
a legal interest and entitlement e.g. trust fund, property or other type of 
legacy.  Do not include payments from Criminal Injuries Compensation 
Awards 0   

Any other income 0   

Total subsection 1v 0   

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME 1350.7  

DISREGARD FIRST 20% 270.14  
FAMILY INCOME FOR PURPOSES OF TEST 1080.56  

 
 

2) PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE  

   
i) Home     

Mortgage payments (capital and interest) including any endowment 
payments linked to mortgage 0   

Rent (after any housing benefit payable) 0   

Council tax (after any council tax benefit payable) 7.5   

Total subsection 2i  7.5   

   
ii) Other outgoings    

Page 83



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 15 
 
 
 

Loan repayments for essential purposes (see guidance notes) 0  
Maintenance payments 0  
Court orders 0  
Private pension contributions 0  
National insurance if self employed 0  

Reasonable child care costs including nursery fees (after any childcare 
element paid as part of the working tax credit) 0  

Total subsection 2ii 0  

   
iii) Core regular family expenditure    

Based on 125% income support allowances per household 1693.71  
Total subsection 2iii 1693.71  

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE: 1701.21  

 
 

CALCULATION    
     

Total projected net family income (per month): 1080.56  
Total projected family expenditure (per month): 1701.21  

Disposable income (per month): -620.65  
     

Local Authority Maximum Payment                                        ENTER 
MANUALLY: 528.00 4x132 

     
Amount of payment to adopters or special guardian 528.00  

     

Minus child benefit for child/children who are subject of this application                                                     
ENTER MANUALLY:   per month 

   
Final payment to adopters or special guardian: 528.00 per month 

  121.85 weekly payment 

 
 
  

Page 84



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 16 
 
 
 

Example 2 
 
I am a Level 3 foster carer with a monthly income and would like to take an SGO in relation to my 10 
year foster child who has been living with me for the last 3 years.  How will my payments be 
structured.  I work part time and my partner is retired. 
 
For the first 2 years unless there is a significant change in your financial circumstances you will continue to 
receive the amount you were getting as a foster carer (£286 minus any child related benefits).  The 
maintenance element will increase from the date the child becomes 11 years old (£307), this will again 
increase when the child becomes 16.  You will continue to receive the skills element of your payment during 
this initial 2 year period.  The allowance will change in line with changes to Rochdale Borough Council 
fostering allowances.   If changes in line with fostering allowances do occur then these will usually take 
effect from 1st April. 
   
A general review of support needs will take place annually and this will usually include a financial 
assessment using the Standard Means test tool to determine any amount you will continue to be paid.   
 
After 2 years the skills payment element will usually cease and the general review of support needs will  
include a financial assessment using the Standard Means test tool to determine any amount you will 
continue to be paid.  
 
We will continue to pay a maintenance allowance up to a maximum of subject to the outcome of the 
Standards means test based on your income and outgoings.  The starting point will be the standard 
fostering allowance for the age of the child (£167) minus the usual benefits and any amount that the means 
test tool determines 
 
Worked Example Year 3+ 
 
 
 

1) PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME  

   
i) Pay 

 Parent 1 Parent 2 

Basic net monthly pay 
                  
1,102.00    

Drawings if self employed     

Total subsection 1i 
                  
1,102.00    

   
ii) Benefits and pensions (parents) Parent 1 Parent 2 

Employers' sick pay (after compulsory deductions) 0 0 

Incapacity benefit 0 0 

Statutory maternity, paternity and/or adoption pay and/or maternity 
allowance 0 0 

Bereavement benefit 0 0 

Working tax credit (if paid directly and not as part of pay and excluding 
any childcare element paid) 0 0 

Page 85



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 17 
 
 
 

All pension payments being received 0 103 

Other benefits 0 0 

Total subsection 1ii 103   

   
iii) Benefits (family/children)     

Income Support/Jobseeker's Allowance per household 0   

Child tax credit per household  63.92   

Child benefit for each child, excluding child/children who are the subject 
of this assessment application 0   

Total subsection 1iii 63.92   

   
iv) Other sources of income     

Income from capital, savings and investments - net monthly interest 0   

Income from boarders/lodgers (see guidance for details of calculation) 0   

Income from unfurnished properties 0   

Income from furnished properties 0   

Maintenance payments received for any child in household 0   

Existing adoption or special guardian 'allowances' (including any 
enhancements or specific payments for special needs) paid for any child 0   

Total subsection 1iv 0   

   

v) Income relating to child(ren) being adopted or becoming a 
special guardian child     

Any regular interest on capital and/or income in which the child(ren) has 
a legal interest and entitlement e.g. trust fund, property or other type of 
legacy.  Do not include payments from Criminal Injuries Compensation 
Awards 0   

Any other income 0   

Total subsection 1v 0   

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME 1268.92  

DISREGARD FIRST 20% 253.784  
FAMILY INCOME FOR PURPOSES OF TEST 1015.136  

 

2) PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE  

   
i) Home     

Mortgage payments (capital and interest) including any endowment 
payments linked to mortgage     

Rent (after any housing benefit payable)     

Council tax (after any council tax benefit payable) £122.61   

Page 86



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 18 
 
 
 

Total subsection 2i  £122.61   

   
ii) Other outgoings    

Loan repayments for essential purposes (see guidance notes) 0  
Maintenance payments 0  
Court orders 0  
Private pension contributions 200  
National insurance if self employed 0  

Reasonable child care costs including nursery fees (after any 
childcare element paid as part of the working tax credit) 0  

Total subsection 2ii 200  

   
iii) Core regular family expenditure    

Based on 125% income support allowances per household 975.15  
Total subsection 2iii 975.15  

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE: 1297.76  

 
 

CALCULATION    
     

Total projected net family income (per month): 1015.14  
Total projected family expenditure (per month): 1297.76  

Disposable income (per month): -282.62  
     

Local Authority Maximum Payment                                        ENTER 
MANUALLY: 668.00 per month 

     
Amount of payment to adopters or special guardian 668.00 167 x 4 

     

Minus child benefit for child/children who are subject of this application                                                     
ENTER MANUALLY: 89.7 per month 

   
Final payment to adopters or special guardian: 578.30 per month 

  133.45 weekly payment 

  

Page 87



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 19 
 
 
 

 
 
Example 3 
 
I am a level 2 foster carer with a total household income of £4,500 per month and would like to take 
an SGO in relation to my 15 year old foster child. 
 
For the first 2 years unless there is a significant change in your financial circumstances you will continue to 
receive the amount you were getting as a foster carer (£242) minus any child related benefits to which you 
are entitled. The maintenance element will increase from the date the child becomes 16 years old to create 
an overall payment of £269).  You will continue to receive the skills element of your payment during this 
initial 2 year period.  The allowance will change in line with changes to Rochdale Borough Council fostering 
allowances.  If changes in line with fostering allowances do occur then these will usually take effect from 1st 
April.   
 
A general review of support needs will take place annually and this will usually include a financial 
assessment using the Standard Means test tool to determine any amount you will continue to be paid.   
 
After 2 years the skills payment element will usually cease and the general review of support needs will  
include a financial assessment using the Standard Means test tool to determine any amount you will 
continue to be paid. 
 
Given the level of your income it is highly likely that the standard mean’s test model will determine that no 
further allowance is payable. 
 
Should your financial circumstances e.g. through redundancy or retirement, we will re-assess your 
circumstances using the standards means test model. 
 
 
Worked Example Year 3+ 
 
 

1) PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME  

   
i) Pay Parent 1 Parent 2 

Basic net monthly pay 
                  
2,000.00  2500 

Drawings if self employed     

Total subsection 1i 
                  
4,500.00    

   
ii) Benefits and pensions (parents) Parent 1 Parent 2 

Employers' sick pay (after compulsory deductions) 0 0 

Incapacity benefit 0 0 

Statutory maternity, paternity and/or adoption pay and/or maternity 
allowance 0 0 

Bereavement benefit 0 0 

Page 88



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 20 
 
 
 

Working tax credit (if paid directly and not as part of pay and excluding 
any childcare element paid) 0 0 

All pension payments being received 0   

Other benefits 0 0 

Total subsection 1ii 0   

   
iii) Benefits (family/children)     

Income Support/Jobseeker's Allowance per household 0   

Child tax credit per household  63.92   

Child benefit for each child, excluding child/children who are the subject 
of this assessment application 0   

Total subsection 1iii 63.92   

   
iv) Other sources of income     

Income from capital, savings and investments - net monthly interest 0   

Income from boarders/lodgers (see guidance for details of calculation) 0   

Income from unfurnished properties 0   

Income from furnished properties 0   

Maintenance payments received for any child in household 0   

Existing adoption or special guardian 'allowances' (including any 
enhancements or specific payments for special needs) paid for any child 0   

Total subsection 1iv 0   

   

v) Income relating to child(ren) being adopted or becoming a 
special guardian child     

Any regular interest on capital and/or income in which the child(ren) has 
a legal interest and entitlement e.g. trust fund, property or other type of 
legacy.  Do not include payments from Criminal Injuries Compensation 
Awards 0   

Any other income 0   

Total subsection 1v 0   

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY INCOME 4563.92  

DISREGARD FIRST 20% 912.784  
FAMILY INCOME FOR PURPOSES OF TEST 3651.136  

 
 

2) PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE  

   
i) Home     

Page 89



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 21 
 
 
 

Mortgage payments (capital and interest) including any endowment 
payments linked to mortgage     

Rent (after any housing benefit payable)     

Council tax (after any council tax benefit payable) £122.61   

Total subsection 2i  £122.61   

   
ii) Other outgoings    

Loan repayments for essential purposes (see guidance notes) 0  
Maintenance payments 0  
Court orders 0  
Private pension contributions 200  
National insurance if self employed 0  

Reasonable child care costs including nursery fees (after any childcare 
element paid as part of the working tax credit) 0  

Total subsection 2ii 200  

   
iii) Core regular family expenditure    

Based on 125% income support allowances per household 975.15  
Total subsection 2iii 975.15  

   
TOTAL PROJECTED FAMILY EXPENDITURE: 1297.76  

 
 
 

CALCULATION    
     

Total projected net family income (per month): 3651.14  
Total projected family expenditure (per month): 1297.76  

Disposable income (per month): 2353.38  
     

Local Authority Maximum Payment                                        ENTER 
MANUALLY: 776.00 194 x 4 

     
Amount of payment to adopters or special guardian -400.69  

     

Minus child benefit for child/children who are subject of this application                                                     
ENTER MANUALLY: 89.7 per month 

   
Final payment to adopters or special guardian: -490.39 per month 

  -113.17 weekly payment 

 
 

Page 90



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 22 
 
 
 

Year 3 – due to level of income, the outcome of the means test assessment is a negative amount therefore 
no further payments are to be made by Rochdale BC. 
  

Page 91



 
 
 
 
 

Special Guardianship Support Policy 
 
 
 

rochdale.gov.uk 23 
 
 
 

  

Rochdale Borough Council 

Number One Riverside 

Smith Street 

Rochdale OL16 1YH 

 

  rochdale.gov.uk 

  01706 647474 

  council@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 92



 

Report to Cabinet 

 

 

Date of Meeting 1st December 2020 
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Delivery 

Report Author Julie Murphy  
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Savings Programme 2021/22 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. This report provides Cabinet Members with recommendations regarding 

Savings Proposals in order to meet the pre Covid-19 budget gap for 2021/22. 
Following the Local Government Finance Settlement 2021/22, further savings 
proposals will be brought forward should any be required. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. 
 
2.1 
 
 
2.2 
 
 

It is recommended that Members: 
 
Consider and approve the savings proposals rated as green and amber to 
address the budget gap and for public consultation starting 4th January 2021.  
 
Consider and approve the proposal to earmark £0.5m of one-off funds in 
contingency, which will be allocated to Adult Care Service in 2021/22 if 
additional demand pressures materialise. 

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. Cabinet members are required to recommend a balanced 2021/22 Revenue 

Budget to Budget Council, and provisional budgets for 2022/23 to 2023/24. 
The Council is required to set a balanced budget for 2021/22 by 11th March 
2021. 
 

Key Points for Consideration 
  

Page 93

Agenda Item 11



4. 
 
4.1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.2  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.2 
 
4.2.1 
 
 

Revenue Budget Position 2020/21 
 
The estimated unfunded Covid pressure for 2020/21 is currently £12.498m. 
Of this £9.5m relates to the Collection Fund deficit, which will not impact on 
the General Fund budget until 2021/22 and will be addressed across 3 
financial years.  The deficit also includes income losses from Sales, Fees 
and Charges (£2.073m), these will be funded by Central Government in two 
tranches, November 2020 and January 2021.  It is also proposed to use 
specific reserves of £0.8m. This results in a net deficit to be address by 
Council resources of £0.125m. 
 
Previously Cabinet had agreed to use up to £7.0m from reserves in order to 
balance the 2020/21 budget; this use of reserves being in line with the 
Council’s Covid returns to MHCLG. It must be noted that as the pandemic 
continues the cost in Table 1 may increase during 2020/21 and the full use 
of reserves may be required.  The next MHCLG return will be submitted mid-
December. 
  
Table 1 Revenue Budget Position 2020/21 
 
Expenditure £'000s 

Adult Social Care      9,257  

Children's Social Care     2,729  

Education          68  

Highways and transport, Public Health & Housing     3,617  

Cultural & Related     2,970  

Environmental and regulatory services     1,727  

Finance & Corporate      4,647  

Other services     1,215  

Estimated Total Spending Pressure   26,230  

Less funding received for Infection Control, Test & Trace, Hardship 
Fund and Health (via CCG) 

(15,300) 

Estimated Funding Pressure   10,930  

  

Income £'000s 

Sales, fees and charges     3,703  

Commercial Income   10,596  

Other   

Estimated Total reduction in Income   14,299  

Total Estimated Pressure   25,229  

Government Emergency Funding (22,231) 

Forecast Government compensation re: Sales, Fees & Charges 
Income, and use of Reserves 

(2,873) 

Residual Pressure        125  

 
Revenue Budget Gap 2021/22 

As part of the budget setting process, the Council makes a number of 
assumptions in respect of the key elements of the Council’s revenue budget.   
 

Page 94



4.2.2 
 
 
4.2.3 
 
 
4.2.4 
 
 
 
4.2.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2.6 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2.7 
 
 
4.2.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

An updated Revenue Budget position for 2021/22 to 2023/24 was reported 
at Cabinet 29th September 2020.  
 
Since September Cabinet a number of actions have been taken in order to 
reduce the Budget Gap. 
 
A 2% increase in Discretionary Fees and Charges, subject to certain 
exemptions to be agreed, was approved for consultation at Cabinet on 29th 
September 2020. 
 
The assumptions regarding service budget pressures have been reviewed. 
As a result, the assumption relating to the 2021/22 pressures for Adult Care 
has been reduced from £1m to £0.5m. This is a reduction of £0.5m compared 
to the assumption used in the figures reported to Cabinet on 29th September. 
However, it is intended to earmark £0.5m of one-off funds in contingency 
which will be allocated in year to the service if these additional demand 
pressures do materialise. 
 
On 29th September 2020 Cabinet approved the results of a review of the 
Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2023/24, undertaken in order to establish 
which projects could be delayed, reduced or removed, in order to reduce the 
impact of borrowing costs on the Council’s revenue budget. This has resulted 
in a saving of £1.172m in 2021/22. 
 
Cabinet 28th July approved bringing the Customer Contact Centre back in-
house, resulting in an ongoing saving of £0.083m for 2021/22.  
 
Table 2 overleaf provides the estimated Revenue Budget position for 
2021/22 to 2023/24. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2.9 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 2 Revenue Budget Position 
 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  £m £m £m 
       

Budget Gap - Budget Council February 2020 2.000 2.000 2.000 
       

Pre-Covid Issues      

Rochdale Riverside development pressures 0.750 0.750 0.750 

Adults growth and contracts inflation 0.950 1.409 1.877 

Adult Care - RLW impact on contracts  1.112 0.610 0.000 

Transformation Funding (1.112) (0.610) 0.000 

Council Tax freeze 2021/22 1.848 1.903 1.957 

3% Pay Award 2021/22  0.706 0.692 0.706 

Waste smoothing reserve adjustment (0.350) (0.350) (0.350) 

Budget pressures funding adjustment 0.000 0.500 0.500 

Neighbourhoods Growth removed (0.279) (0.360) (0.419) 
Discretionary Fees & Charges (subject to 
consultation) (0.071) (0.071) (0.071) 

Additional inflation for contractual increases 0.732 0.746 0.968 

Reduction in use of one-off funding 0.000 0.000 4.724 

Increments 0.000 0.000 1.000 

Capital Programme Review  (1.172) (1.037) (0.491) 
Impact of new capital schemes - subject to 
consultation 0.052 0.418 0.611 

Contact Centre - bringing back in house (0.083) (0.083) (0.083) 

Accounting Adjustments (0.005) (0.075) (0.159) 

  3.078 4.442 11.520 
        

Pre-Covid Budget Gap 5.078 6.442 13.520 

        

Post-Covid Issues       

Council Tax income reduction 2.887 2.246 1.244 

Business Rates income reduction 2.221 2.474 1.952 

Airport dividend shortfall 8.517 8.517 (0.389) 
Ongoing Covid-19 pressures - Children's 
Services 3.000 3.000 3.000 

Ongoing Covid-19 pressures - Economy 1.500 1.500 1.500 

Collection Fund Deficit 2020/21 9.500 0.000 0.000 

  27.626 17.737 7.307 
       

Post-Covid Budget Gap 32.704 24.180 20.826 

 

Table 3 summarises the movements in the budget position since the position 
reported to Cabinet 29th September. 
 
 
 
 

Page 96



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2.10 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
4.3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3.2 
 
 
 
4.3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3.4 
 
 
 
 
4.3.5 
 
 
 
4.3.6 
 
 
 
4.3.7 
 

Table 3 Movements in Budget Position since Cabinet 29th September 
 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  £m £m £m 

       

Adult Care Pressures 2021/22 - reduction (0.500) (0.500) (0.500) 

Capital Programme Review  (1.172) (1.037) (0.491) 
Impact of new capital schemes - subject to 
consultation 0.052 0.418 0.611 

Contact Centre - bringing back in house (0.083) (0.083) (0.083) 

  (1.703) (1.202) (0.463) 

 

The updated Budget position for 2021/22 to 2023/24 is based on the best 
estimates at a point in time and these will be reviewed again following the 
Local Government Finance Settlement. 
 
Actions planned to mitigate the Budget Gap 
 
The government has announced that the local government funding 
settlement for 2020/21 will be a one-off. The 2021/22 Settlement is expected 
to be announced in mid-December 2020. The planned significant reforms to 
the local government funding system are now expected to be introduced for 
2022/23. At this stage the impact of these reforms on individual authorities is 
unknown.   
 
Given the level of uncertainty around the ongoing impact of Covid-19 and the 
future level of government funding, a number of actions have been identified 
to mitigate the estimated impact on the Council’s financial position. 
 
Discussions are ongoing with regards to considering a New Operating Model 
for the Council. Given the time needed to develop the model, the one-off 
nature of the government funding settlement for 2021/22, and the continuing 
uncertainty over the medium-term impact of Covid-19 it is proposed to treat 
2021/22 as a transitional year.  
 
Once the 2021/22 Settlement has been announced the Revenue Budget 
Gap 2021/22 will be reviewed to establish the savings required in order to 
set a balanced budget for 2021/22, and look forward in the medium term to 
years 2022/23 and 2023/24. 
 
A savings programme has been developed in order to address the estimated 
Pre-Covid budget issues, currently estimated at £5.078m, to help achieve a 
balanced budget for 2021/22.  Details are covered in the private appendices. 
 

A model has been developed to best utilise the Council’s reserves to smooth 
the impact of estimated loss of income for the Manchester Airport and 
Collection Fund on the Revenue Budget. 
 
The government has recently announced that local authorities are to spread 
the impact of the loss of Council Tax and Business Rates income over three 

Page 97



 
 
 
 
4.3.8 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3.9 
 
 
 
4.3.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
4.4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4.2 
 
 
 
 
4.4.3 
 
 

rather than the usual one year. This will not provide any additional funding to 
the Council, but will delay the need to utilise the Council’s reserves in the 
smoothing model. 
 
A review of Treasury Management and Reserve budgets is ongoing and will 
feed into the medium term financial strategy for the Council.The Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) is currently reviewing its reserves 
in order to agree those that can be returned to districts in order to help 
alleviate their financial pressures. 
 
Long term government support will be needed in order to offset the ongoing 
impact of the pandemic on income from Business Rates, Council Tax, 
Manchester Airport, and the ongoing service pressures.  
 
If the government does not provide sufficient funding then the Council will 
need to develop a strategy to utilise its reserves in order to balance the 
budget. This will need to include a re-payment plan, to recover the level of 
the reserves to ensure that reserves are available to meet their original 
purpose and the authority remains a going concern. Further reports will be 
provided later in December, when there is more certainty over the level of 
funding and the level of financial pressures. 
 
It is currently estimated that by 2022/23 c 34m of the Council’s reserves will 
need to be utilised in order to balance the budget.  The airport and Collection 
Fund losses are being managed in year and as instructed by Central 
Government which delays the use of the Council’s reserves in this financial 
year, yet the impact will be felt across a longer period potentially post 
2023/24.  As highlighted in section 4.1, if the cost pressures increase in the 
second half of 2020/21 this could change.  The length and final total of the 
use of reserves is also dependent on the recovery of the airport. 
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced revenue budget. The budget 
setting process is complex and must be undertaken in a planned way. Whilst 
budgets are prepared in accordance with the approved guidelines a number 
of alternative options relating to savings proposals and budget pressures are 
considered as part of the overall budget setting process. 
 
Consideration has been given to a number of options in putting forward the 
savings proposals contained in this report and the individual reports outline 
any alternatives considered. To do nothing was not considered to be an 
option as the Council is legally required to set a balanced budget. 
 
Cabinet Members could decide not to implement these proposals and 
provide alternative options to enable a balanced budget to be achieved. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. 
 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
5.3 
 
 

 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Savings Proposals 2021/22 
 
Draft savings proposals are included in the private appendix and are rated as 
either green or amber.  Officers are recommending to Cabinet that these 
proposals are approved, and further proposals will be brought forward for 
consultation following the Local Government Finance Settlement, this being 
subject to discussions at Cabinet on 21st December post the settlement. 
 
Individual savings proposals are private and will be made public at the 
consultation stage which begins on 4th January.  

 
If savings are still required to produce a balanced budget following the Local 
Government Finance Settlement, approval to move to the consultation stage 
on further individual proposals will be considered at Cabinet on 21st 
December. 
 
The settlement is complex, built up from a number of funding streams. When 
the 2021/22 allocations are notified, some elements might be favourable 
compared to our estimates included in producing the current proposed gap 
and others could be less favourable.  Any less favourable funding streams 
would increase the gap, for example a lower rate of CPI would reduce income 
available to the council from business rates, which would only be partly offset 
by a reduction in costs, resulting in a net pressure.   

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 

Page 99



6.1 
 
6.1.1 
 
 
 
6.1.2 
 
 
6.2 
 
6.2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2.2 
 
 
 
 
6.2.3 
 
 
 
6.2.4 
 
 
 
 
6.2.5 
 
 
 
 
6.3 
 
6.3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk Implications 
 
The budget forecast has been based on a number of assumptions, known 
levels of expenditure and anticipated levels of resources. Final confirmation 
of these assumptions are not likely to be received until December this year. 
 
The key assumptions are reviewed and updated throughout the year based 
upon latest information available. 
 
Legal Implications 
 
The Council is under a duty to calculate the budget in accordance with 
Section 32 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and must make three 
calculations namely: an estimate of the Council’s gross revenue expenditure; 
an estimate of anticipated income; and a calculation of the difference 
between the two. The amount of the budget requirement must be sufficient 
to meet the Council’s budget commitments and ensure a balanced budget. 
The amount of the budget requirement must leave the Council with adequate 
financial reserves. The level of budget requirement must not be 
unreasonable having regard to the Council’s fiduciary duty to its Council Tax 
payers and non-domestic rate payers. 
 
Failure to make a lawful Council Tax on or before 11th March could have 
serious financial results for the Council and make the Council vulnerable to 
an Order from the Courts requiring it to make a specified increase in Council 
Tax. 
 
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 places a general duty on 
local authorities to make arrangements for ‘the proper administration of their 
financial affairs'. 
  
Information must be published and included in the Council Tax demand 
notice. The Secretary of State has made regulations, which require charging 
authorities to issue demand notices in a form and with contents prescribed 
by these regulations.  
 
There is also a duty under Section 65 of the 1992 Act to consult persons or 
bodies appearing to be representative of persons subject to non-domestic 
rates in each area about proposals for expenditure (including capital 
expenditure) for each financial year. 
 
Workforce Implications 
 
The detailed 2021/22 budget timetable includes the requirement to 
undertake formal workforce consultation with the staff and trade unions. The 
consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s established 
formal staff consultation processes including meetings of the Joint 
Consultative Negotiation Group (JCNG) and Service Consultative Groups 
(SCG). Any Workforce proposals that are agreed by cabinet will be 
implemented through the delegated Decision making process (DDM). 
 

Page 100



6.4 
 
6.4.1 
 
 
 
 
6.4.2 
 

Equalities Impacts  
 
Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment 
Workforce equality impact assessments will be provided with any savings 
proposals and an overall workforce equality impact assessment on the 
budget will be presented to facilitate final decision making. 
 
Equality/Community Impact Assessments 
Equality Impact assessments will be provided with any savings proposals and an 
overall equality impact assessment on the budget will be presented to facilitate final 
decision making 
 
 

Consultation 

 
7.1 
 
 
 
7.2 
 
 
7.3 

Consultation will be undertaken with stakeholder groups, staff and service 
users as appropriate for the approved savings proposals. Consultation will 
commence on 4th January 2021 and end on 17th February 2021.  
 
The report will be presented for consultation to Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 8th February 2021. 
 
Post consultation options will be presented to Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 22nd February followed by Cabinet on 25th February. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8.   

 

For Further Information Contact: Samantha Smith  
samantha.smith@rochdale.gov.uk 
01706 924198 

 

Page 101

mailto:samantha.smith@rochdale.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 102

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



 

Report to Cabinet 
 

 

Date of Meeting 1 December 2020 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Healthy Lives 
Report Author Nicola Rogers 
Public Document Public 

 

 

Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1. 
 
 
 
1.1 
 
 
1.2 

The Council has to determine and publish a Statement of Licensing Policy 
every 5 years in order to meets its statutory obligations. The determination and 
publishing of such is required to be undertaken by January 2021.  
 
The purpose of the policy statement is to define how the responsibilities under 
the Licensing Act 2003 are going to be exercised and administered. 
 
To report on the consultation responses received on the Council’s draft 
Statement of Licensing Policy and seek agreement from members on 
amendments where necessary and to recommend adoption of the policy to full 
Council. 

 

Recommendation 

 
2. That Members recommend that Council adopt the amended Statement of 

Licensing Policy 2021-2026.   
 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. Councils have a statutory duty to prepare and publish a statement of principles 

that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under the Licensing Act 
2003. This is valid for a five year period and therefore the Council is require to 
review its policy statement every five years to meet its statutory requirements 
and adopt and publish a statement of Licensing Policy. The existing statement 
was effective from 31 January 2016. 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 
 
 

The existing statement of Licensing Policy has been reviewed and updated. 
The changes, by way of additional / revised content to the draft policy, are 
highlighted in red.  
 

Page 251

Agenda Item 12



4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
4.4 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
4.6 

In order to comply with statutory requirements, the Council has consulted 
with the Responsible Authorities under the Act, national bodies, 
representatives of licensees, residents and with representatives of 
businesses. A list of consultees forms part of the draft statement of licensing 
policy.  
 
The consultation period was from 20 July 2020 and ended on 11 September 
2020. 
 
A total of 1 response was received, the contents of which have been duly 
considered. 
 
The amended draft statement of licensing policy is detailed in Appendix 1. 
 
The detail of the consultation response and the response to such is detailed in 
Appendix 2. 
 
Alternatives Considered 
None; it is a statutory duty for all Council’s to determine and publish its 
statement of Licensing Policy and there is no alternative option to this.  
 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. There are no financial implications. 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. 
 
 
 
 
 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
6.3 
 
 
6.4 
 
 

The Licensing Act 2003 established a single integrated system for licensing 
premises that are used for alcohol, entertainment and late night refreshment. 
Under this legislation, each local authority is known as the ‘licensing authority’ 
and is responsible for licensing alcohol, entertainment and late night 
refreshment in its geographical area. 
 
When preparing its licensing policy, the Council is required to have regard to 
the following: 

 Promoting the 4 licensing objectives, namely: (a) the prevention of 
crime and disorder; (b) public safety; (c) the prevention of public 
nuisance; and (d) the protection of children from harm; 

 Statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of State; and 

 The 2003 Act.  
 
The draft updated policy has been drafted taking these into account. 
 
There are no legal implications other than the statutory duty already identified 
in the report. 
 
There are no personnel implications. 
 

Page 252



Consultation 

 
7. As stated in paragraphs 4.2 to 4.6 above. 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. None  

 

For Further Information Contact: Nicola Rogers, Tel: 01706 924124, 
nicola.rogers@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

Page 253



 

DRAFT Statement of 
Licensing Policy  
2021-2026 
Licensing Act 2003 

 
 

Page 254



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 1 

Document Control 

 

Document Title: Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 – 
Licensing Act 2003 
     
Summary 
 

Publication Date January 2021 

Related Legislation / Applicable Section 
of Legislation 

Licensing Act 2003 

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents 

Statement of Licensing Policy 

Replaces Statement of Licensing Policy 2016-2021 

Joint Policy (Yes/No) No 

Name of Partner(s) if joint  

Policy Owner (Name/Position) Nicola Rogers (Head of Public Protection) 

Policy Author (Name/Position) Jahangir Alom (Licensing Operational Manager) 

Applies to Licensing Act 2003 

 
 

Review of Strategy 
 

Last Review Date January 2021 

Review undertaken by Jahangir Alom 

Next Review Date 31 January 2026 

 

Document Approvals 
 
This document requires the following approvals. 
 

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number 

    

    

    

    

Page 255



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 2 

STATEMENT OF POLICY 
Under Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 

Contents 
Item Page 

1. Glossary 3 

Background   

2. Introduction 6 

3. Overview of this Policy 7 

4. Consultation on this Policy 7 

5. The Integration of Policies / Strategic Links 8 

6. Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 8 

7. Authority Profile 9 

8. Scope / Context of the Policy and Operating Schedules 9 

9. Licensable Activities 12 

  

Licensing Objectives   

10. Licensing Objectives – Prevention of Crime & Disorder 14 

11. Licensing Objectives – Promoting Public Safety 19 

12. Licensing Objectives – Prevention of Public Nuisance 20 

13. Licensing Objectives – Protection of Children from Harm 25 

  

Other Important Information  

14. Planning & Licensing  28 

15. Provisional Statements 28 

16. Compliance and Enforcement 28 

17. Conditions 29 

18. Special Occasions 29 

19. Premises Licences  29 

20. Club Premises Certificates 29 

21. Temporary Events notices (TENS) 30 

22. Late Night Levy 31 

23. Early Morning Restriction Orders 31 

24. Suspension of Premises Licences/Club Premises Certificates 31 

25. Personal Licences 32 

26. Adult Entertainment  32 

27. Alcohol Delivery Services 32 

28. Large Scale Events 33 

29. Tables and Chairs on the Highway 35 

30. Film Classifications 35 

31. Counter Terrorism 36 

32. Public Health 36 

33. The Licensing Process 37 

  

Appendices  

Appendix A – Consultees & Responsible Authorities 39-42 

Appendix B – Exercise & Delegation of Functions 43-44 

Appendix C – Statutory Qualifying Conditions for Clubs 45-47 

Appendix D – The Hypnotism Act 1952: Conditions 48 

Page 256



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 3 

 
1.  GLOSSARY 
 
1.1 Act 
 The Licensing Act 2003 as amended. 
 
1.2 Applicant – within the statement of licensing policy may mean applicant, licence  holder, club 

premises certificate holder as appropriate 
 
1.3 Designated premises supervisor/DPS 

Designated person with day to day control in premises that sell alcohol (specified on  the 
Premises Licence)  
NB there is no requirement for a DPS in premises operated through a club premises certificate 

 
1.4 Other Persons - ‘Interested Parties’ 

 persons who live, or are involved in a business, in the relevant licensing authority’s area; 

 a member of the relevant licensing authority. 

 
1.5 Licensing Authority (the Authority) 
 Rochdale Borough Council. 
 
1.6 Licensing Objectives 

Licensing Authority must carry out its functions under the Licensing Act 2003 with a view to 
promoting the licensing objectives:  

 
 a) The prevention of crime and disorder 
 b) Public safety 
 c) The prevention of public nuisance and 
 d) The protection of children from harm. 
 
1.7 The Licensing Register 
 The Licensing Register contains details of all Premises Licences and Club Premises 
 Certificates. The register is available online at:  
 http://licensing.rochdale.gov.uk/1/WcaHome   
 
1.8 Operating schedule 

Document prepared by an applicant as an essential part of the application. It will detail the 
licensable activities to be carried out at the premises, the hours of  operation which may be different 
for different activities, the steps to be taken to support the licensing objectives and where alcohol is 
sold details of the designated premises supervisor. 

 
1.9 Relevant Representations 

There are various types of applications that can be made under the Act, and in most cases 
representations are invited in relation to them. However, to be considered by an Authority they must 
be ‘relevant representations’ as defined by the Act. 

 
 A ‘relevant representation’ is one that is made in writing and: 

 is about the likely effect of the licence on the promotion of the licensing objectives; 

 has been made by a responsible authority, or other person as defined by the 

Act, within the relevant time period as prescribed by regulation; 

 has not been withdrawn; and 

Page 257

http://licensing.rochdale.gov.uk/1/WcaHome


 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 4 

 has not been determined by the Licensing Authority as frivolous or vexatious or repetitious. 

 
1.10 Responsible Authorities – bodies defined within the Act as detailed at Appendix A. 
 
1.11 Secretary of State’s Guidance 

Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act. To which the Licensing Authority must  have 
regard in discharging its duties. 

 
1.12 The Policy 

The Statement of Licensing Policy as produced by Rochdale Borough Council  Licensing 
Authority. 

 
1.13 Appendices 
 A) Consultees and Responsible Authorities 
 B) Exercise and Delegation of Functions 
 C) Statutory Qualifying Conditions for Clubs 
 D) The Hypnotism Act 1952: Conditions  
 
1.14 Consultees  
 A list of consultees can be found at Appendix A. 
  
 Further details about the licensing and application process, including application  forms and/or any 

related licensing matter, can be obtained from: 
 
 Rochdale Borough Council 
 Licensing Service 
 Number One Riverside 
 Smith Street 
 Rochdale  
 OL16 1XU 
 
 Telephone: 01706 924114 
 Email: licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk  
 Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk  
 
 
1.15 Useful web links 

http://licensing.rochdale.gov.uk/1/WcaHome - Rochdale Council’s Licensing Authority Public 
Register 

 www.rochdale.gov.uk  – Rochdale Borough Council website 
 www.gov.uk  – contains the Licensing Act 2003 and associated regulations 
 
 
1.17 Please Note: Whilst this policy endeavours to reflect the legal requirements of the Licensing Act 

2003, the Act rather than the Policy will be the definitive reference  source for such requirements.  
 
 

 
Page 258

mailto:licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/
http://licensing.rochdale.gov.uk/1/WcaHome
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/
http://www.gov.uk/


 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 5 

 
 
 
 

Background 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 259



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 6 

2.0 INTRODUCTION  
 
2.1  Rochdale Borough Council is the Licensing Authority for the Metropolitan area of Rochdale under 

the provisions of the Act and is responsible for the regulation of licensing matters within the 
borough.  

 
2.2  The Act requires the Council to produce a Statement of Licensing Policy every 5 years. This policy 

was published on XXXXX and will be due for review no later than 31 January 2026. It can be 
reviewed at any time during the 5 year period, with any changes being subject to statutory 
consultation.  

 
2.3  The Policy is published under Section 5 of the Act and states how Rochdale Borough Council, as 

the Licensing Authority, will exercise its licensing functions in order to promote the four Licensing 
Objectives which are:  

 

 The prevention of crime and disorder;  

 The prevention of public nuisance;  

 Public safety; and  

 The protection of children from harm. 

 
2.4 Each licensing objective is considered to be of equal importance within this Policy. They will be 

considered in relation to matters centred on the premises or within the control of the licensee and 
the effect if any, which the carrying on of that business has on the vicinity. 

 
2.5 The Authority recognises that the entertainment/leisure industry is a major contributor to the 

economy and cultural development of the Borough. 
 
2.6 The Authority wishes to encourage licensees to provide a wide range of entertainment activities 

within the Borough throughout their opening hours and to promote live music, dance, theatre etc., 
for the wider cultural benefit of the community, and will seek to monitor the effects of licensing on 
these activities. 

 
2.7 The Authority will endeavour to carry out its licensing functions in a way that ensures public safety, 

supports well managed premises where licence holders display sensitivity to the potential impact of 
activities on local residents and other businesses, and protects residents from detrimental effects. 

 
2.8 The Authority will have regard to how littering and fouling, noise, street crime and the capacity of the 

Authority’s infrastructure, resources and police resources impact on the licensing objectives. 
 
2.9 In adopting this policy, the Authority recognises that each application will be considered on its 

individual merits. 
 
2.10 The Authority will work in partnership with the police, residents and all local businesses to promote 

the licensing objectives, and to implement strategies to achieve them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 260



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 7 

3.0 OVERVIEW OF THIS POLICY 
 
3.1 The overall aim of this policy is to actively promote the Licensing Objectives. It seeks to provide 

information and guidance to applicants, responsible authorities and any person who may be affected 
or interested in licensing matters. It clarifies the manner in which the Council will consider 
applications and how it will approach matters relating to licensing. It will also set out what the 
Licensing Authority expects of licence holders and how they can contribute to the promotion of the 
Licensing Objectives  

 
3.2  In preparing and publishing this policy, the guidance issued by the Secretary of State for the Home 

Office under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 has been taken into account along with good 
practice advice issued by approved government advisory bodies. 

 
3.3 The policy has regard for the Council’s statutory responsibility under the Health and Social Care Act 

2012 for the health of the population of Rochdale and notes that it is a public health priority to 
reduce alcohol related harm. 

 
3.4  The policy also takes into account the Council’s statutory duty under the Crime and Disorder Act 

1998 to have regard to the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder, 
misuse of drugs and alcohol reoffending in the area. 

 
3.5 The Licensing Authority will always have regard for its obligations under the Equality Act 2010, and 

will ensure that the policy does not disproportionately impact any particular equality group. 
 
3.6 The Licensing Authority has taken account of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, 

the Live Music Act 2012 and the Deregulation Act 2015, which brought in legislative changes to the 
Act which have been reflected in this Policy. 

 
3.7 The Licensing Authority is committed to protecting children from harm and recognises how an 

effective licensing regime can assist and inform other agencies in helping to tackle child sexual 
exploitation (CSE). 

 
 
4.0 CONSULTATION ON THIS POLICY 
 
4.1 In accordance with Section 5(3) of the Act, the following were consulted in order to  

finalise this policy:  
 

 The Chief Officer of Police in Rochdale;  

 The local Fire Authority;  

 Public Health Department  Rochdale Borough Council 

 Such persons the Licensing Authority considers to be representative of holders of  

Premises Licences in Rochdale; 

 Such persons the Licensing Authority considers to be representative of holders of Club Premises 

Certificates in Rochdale;  

 Such persons the Licensing Authority considers to be representative of holders of Personal 

Licences issued in Rochdale; and 

 Such other persons the Licensing Authority considers to be representative of businesses and 

residents in Rochdale. 

4.2 A list of the consultees can be found at Appendix A.  

Page 261



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 8 

5.0 THE INTEGRATION OF POLICIES / STRATEGIC LINKS  
 
5.1 Whilst the overall aim of this Policy is to promote the Licensing Objectives, it is recognised that there 

are other key Council policies, Government and partnership agency policies in place, which also 
contribute to the Council Plan. This Policy integrates as far as reasonably possible with those 
strategies/policies, such as: 

 

 Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy 

 Enforcement Concordat 

 Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy  

 National Drug Strategy & Local treatment Plans 

 Safer Nightlife 

 LACORS/TSI Code of Practice on Test Purchasing 

 Culture and Tourism Strategies 

 Greater Manchester Local Transport Policy 

 Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and documents prepared as part of the Local Development 

Framework 

 Rochdale Borough current Community Strategy 

 Rochdale Borough Local Neighbourhood Renewal Strategy 

 Rochdale Borough Economic Strategy 

 
5.2 Licensing regulation also forms part of an overall strategy to address issues generated by licensed 

premises. Licensing will work in partnership with other Council departments and agencies with a 
view to promoting the Licensing Objectives. Other controls include: 

 

 Planning control; 

 Positive measures to create safe and attractive town and district centres;  

 Powers of the Council to designate public areas where the consumption of  

alcohol is not permitted;  

 The confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas; 

 Police enforcement of disorder and anti-social behaviour;  

 Prosecution of personal licence holders and staff for selling alcohol to persons who are under 

age or drunk;  

 Police powers to close down instantly any licensed premises on the grounds of disorder or 

likelihood of disorder or excessive noise emanating from the premises;  

 Powers of the Council under the Environmental Protection Act and Health and Safety at Work 

Act;  

 Power of a Responsible Authority, or other person to seek a review of a licence; and 

 Alcohol misuse and dependency/Reducing alcohol related harm 

 
 
6.0 TACKLING CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION (CSE)  
 
6.1 The Licensing Authority is committed to protecting children from harm. It recognises that alcohol 

use, misuse and abuse is one of the recurring key ‘parental factors’ in child protection and 

Page 262



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 9 

safeguarding, often contributing to parental neglect of children and domestic abuse and violence 
within families. 

 
6.2 Alcohol is also reported as a factor in CSE. Young people are encouraged or coerced into drinking 

alcohol, leaving them vulnerable to perpetrators of CSE. Licensed premises have been implicated 
nationally in the involvement with CSE, either taking place on the licensed premises or the premises 
being used for the purposes of grooming and enticement. 

 
6.3 The Licensing Authority will report any issues of concern regarding the safeguarding of children to 

the appropriate safeguarding authorities and will act on any reports from them accordingly in relation 
to the promotion of the Licensing Objectives. Where there are serious concerns and/or any criminal 
investigations in relation to the abuse of children in connection with a licensed premises, serious 
consideration will be given to lodging a review of the premises licence / certificate as it relates to the 
negative impact on the Licensing Objectives and in particular crime and disorder and the protection 
of children from harm. 

 
6.4 The Licensing Authority expects licence holders and operators of licensed premises: 
 

 To understand that the sexual exploitation of a child is a criminal offence;  

 To ensure that they and their employees are fully aware of the signs of CSE and how to report it; 

 To report any concerns to the appropriate authorities or to the Licensing Authority who will then 

flag up their concerns to the relevant safeguarding professionals on their behalf.  

 
 
7.0 AUTHORITY PROFILE 
 
7.1 The Authority is one of the 10 Metropolitan Districts of Greater Manchester. 
 
7.2 Rochdale is a large market town in Greater Manchester. It lies amongst the foothills of the Pennines 

on the River Roch, 5.3 miles north-northwest of Oldham, and 9.8 miles north-northeast of the city of 
Manchester. The Borough of Rochdale has an approximately total population of 218,400 (ONS UK 
Census 2017) people. It occupies an area of 16,100 hectares and is based on the townships of 
Rochdale, Middleton, Heywood and Pennines.  

 
7.3 The Authority currently licences: 
 

 482 Premises Licences with Alcohol 

 124 Premises Licences without Alcohol 

 52 Club Premises Certificates with the provision for Alcohol 

 2632 Personal Licence Holders  

 
 
8.0 SCOPE / CONTEXT OF THE POLICY AND OPERATING SCHEDULES 
 
8.1 Applications for new premises licences or variations need to be supported by an operating schedule. 

The schedule must specify (amongst other things) the steps which the applicant proposes to 
promote each of the Licensing Objectives. 

 
8.2  If no relevant representation is made with regard to the application, the Authority must grant the 

application as set out in the operating schedule, subject only to mandatory conditions under the Act. 

Page 263



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 10 

Steps proposed by the applicant within the operating schedule will become licence conditions. The 
licensing authority will have no discretion to refuse the application or to alter or add to the conditions 
arising from the operating schedule. 

 
8.3 Where there are relevant representations, then a Licensing Sub-Committee Hearing will normally 

follow. The Licensing Sub-Committee must, having regard to the representation and take such steps 
as it considers appropriate to promote the Licensing Objectives. These may include refusing the 
application, or adding to or modifying the conditions proposed in the operating schedule. 

 
8.4 In exercising its discretion, the Licensing Sub-Committee will have regard (amongst other things) to 

this Policy. In preparing their operating schedule, applicants are advised to read the Policy carefully. 
Where an operating schedule complies with this Policy, it is generally less likely that a responsible 
authority or other person will object to it. Compliance with this Policy is likely to assist the applicant 
to avoid the delay and expense of a contested hearing and the risk of a refusal or the addition of 
unwanted licence conditions. 

 
8.5 This is not to say that an opposed application which complies with the Policy will necessarily be 

granted or that an opposed application which does not comply with it will necessarily be refused. 
Where there have been relevant representations, the Authority will always consider the merits of the 
case for the promotion of the Licensing Objectives. Blanket or standard conditions will not be 
applied without regard to the merits of the individual case.  

 
8.6 The Policy represents the Authority’s view of the best means of securing the Licensing Objectives in 

most normal cases. It has been drawn up in consultation with other expert bodies and responsible 
authorities, together with community stakeholders. While the contents of the operating schedule are 
a matter for the applicant, where there is objection to a schedule which departs from the Policy, the 
Licensing Sub-Committee hearing an opposed application will normally expect to be given a good 
reason for the departure if it is to be asked to make an exception to the Policy. 

 
8.7  In this Policy, there are a number of references to the licensing Authority’s expectations of 

applicants. As explained above, the Policy is only engaged where the Authority has a discretion 
following the receipt of objections. In such cases, the Authority will not apply the policy rigidly, but 
will always have regard to the merits of the case with a view to promoting the Licensing Objectives. 

 
8.8 Further, the licensing authority may use this Policy when exercising other licensing functions. For 

example, when considering an application for review of a licence, the Authority is likely to view with 
concern premises which are being operated in clear breach of the terms of this Policy. 

 
8.9 In undertaking its licensing functions, the Authority will be mindful of other legislation which may 

impact on the promotion of the Licensing Objectives, for example: 
 

 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 in particular Section 17; 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended); 

 Noise Act 1996; 

 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014; 

 Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 (including powers for the Local Authority to 

issued fixed penalty notices to licensed premises emitting noise that exceeds the permitted level 

between 11pm and 7am); 

 Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006; 

 Police and Crime Act 2009; 

Page 264



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 11 

 Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011; 

 Health Act 2006; 

 European Union Services Directives; 

 Human Rights Act 1998; 

 Equality Act 2010 

 
8.10 The Authority will not attempt to regulate matters that are provided for in other legislation through its 

licensing functions. Duplication with other legislation and regulatory agencies will be avoided as far 
as possible and conditions will only be attached to licences which are appropriate for the promotion 
of the Licensing Objectives.  

 
8.11  The Policy sets out a general approach to the making of licensing decisions that are compatible with 

the Licensing Act 2003 and the associated guidance. It does not prevent any individual from making 
any application and having it considered on its individual merits. Nor does it seek to override the 
right of any person to make representations on an application or to seek a review where the Act 
allows them to do so. When considering applications the Authority will take into account all relevant 
representations, and the measures to support the licensing objectives taken by or proposed by the 
applicant through the operating schedule. The Authority recognises that unless relevant 
representations are received in respect of an application there is no provision for the Licensing 
Authority, to refuse an application or impose conditions on a licence other than those proposed 
within the application. 

 
8.12 The Policy is integral in managing the role licensed premises play throughout the 

Borough. A key aim of the Policy is to ensure that licensed premises have a positive impact on their 
locality. The Authority is aware of the need to avoid the imposition of conditions and other controls, 
which could deter some forms of live entertainment. Only proportionate and reasonable controls that 
are appropriate for the promotion of the Licensing Objectives will be considered. 

 
8.13 The Policy aims to strike a balance between the safety and amenity of residents, visitors, 

businesses and those working or engaged in normal activity in and around the Borough. It seeks to 
support the Borough as a desirable destination for the widest range of user groups. In embracing a 
vision for the development of a successful and vibrant night time and evening economies, it will 
encourage an entertainment and cultural offer with a diverse range of activity rather than premises 
focused mainly or exclusively on the sale of alcohol. The Policy and seeks to support the philosophy 
of Purple Flag. 

 
8.14 The Policy cannot detail every factor that influences the achievement of the Licensing 

Objectives nor can it detail all the control measures that may be appropriate. Individual applicants 
and licence holders must consider the licensing objectives and control measures with regard to the 
particular nature of their business. Additional opportunities for licensable activities must be matched 
by appropriate and proportional measures to support the Licensing Objectives. 

 
8.15  The Policy is designed to deal with matters within the control of the licence/club certificate holder on 

and in the vicinity of their premises. It is not a mechanism for the general control of anti-social 
behaviour by individuals once they are beyond the direct control of the licensee or licensed 
premises. 

 
8.16 Whilst the policy is prepared for the Authority’s area it will also take account of the position in 

adjoining Authorities where common boundaries are relevant in licensing terms. 
 

Page 265



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 12 

8.17 In some cases additional licences may be required under separate legislation, for 
example, sexual entertainment venue licences etc. 

 
8.18 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 and the Health and Social Care Act 2012, 

amends the 2003 Act so as to include a Local Authority’s ‘Public Health’ department as a 
responsible Authority. As a responsible authority, the Public Health department can make 
representations in relation to applications for the grant, variation, minor variation or review of 
premises licences and club premises certificates; in addition, public health may themselves seek a 
review of a premises licence. Any representation must be specific to the premises and cannot be a 
general objection. Representations should be evidence-based and should demonstrably refer to one 
or more of the Licensing Objectives. As there is no Licensing Objective relating to public health, the 
public health department must ensure representations are relevant to one of the four existing 
objectives. 

 
 
9.0 LICENSABLE ACTIVITIES  
 
9.1 This policy relates to the licensable activities defined by the Act, namely:- 
 

a) retail sales of alcohol 
b) the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club 
c) the provision of regulated entertainment, being: 
 
i) performance of a play 
ii) exhibition of a film 
iii) an indoor sporting event 
iv) boxing or wrestling entertainment 
v) performance of live music 
vi) playing of recorded music (excluding incidental music) 
vii) a performance of dance 
viii) entertainment of a similar description to that falling within v, vi and vii) 

where the entertainment takes place in the presence of an audience. 
 

d) the provision of late night refreshment at any time between 11.00pm and 5.00am for 
consumption on or off the premises. 

 
9.2 The meaning of the licensable activity ‘regulated entertainment’ is complex and has been subject to 

a series of Government deregulation measures. It covers live or recorded music, dance, plays, films 
and some sporting activities, however there are a number of exemptions and restrictions on the 
types of activities subject to licensing. In addition to this the Deregulation Act 2015 and Live Music 
Act 2012 means that live and recorded music at certain times of the day and in certain 
circumstances (for audiences less than 500 people and/or that which takes place between 8am and 
11pm), is no longer regulated. 

 
9.3 An authorisation for regulated entertainment is however always required for all of the above 

activities that take place before 8am and after 11pm, unless exempted under any other provision of 
the Act. 

 
9.4 Please contact the Licensing Authority for further information on such matters: 

Telephone: 01706 924114 
 Email: licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk  

Page 266

mailto:licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 13 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Licensing Objectives 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 267



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 14 

10.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVE – PREVENTION OF CRIME AND DISORDER 
 
10.1 Personal Licences 
 
 The Licensing Authority recognises it has very little discretion regarding the granting of these 

licences.  In general, provided an applicant has a qualification determined by the Home Office and 
does not have certain criminal convictions, the application must be granted.  

 
 If an applicant has a relevant conviction the police can oppose the application.  If an objection is 

lodged by the police, a hearing of the Licensing Authority’s Licensing Sub-Committee will be held. 
(For further information on Personal Licences, please refer to paragraph 25.0).  

 
Policy 

 
 At that hearing the Authority will consider carefully whether the grant of the licence will be in the 

interests of the crime prevention objective. It will consider the seriousness and relevance of the 
conviction(s), the period that has elapsed since the offence(s) were committed and any mitigating 
circumstances.  The Authority will only grant the application if it is satisfied that doing so will promote 
this objective. 

 
Reason 

 
 Prevention of crime is both an objective of the Licensing Act 2003 and an important responsibility of 

the Council under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  A person holding a personal licence should be 
a person who is not only properly qualified but a person who will assist the fight against crime.  
Granting a licence to a known criminal will in many cases undermine rather than promote the crime 
prevention objective. 

 
10.2 Prevention of Crime 
 
 Policy 
 
 In appropriate cases, the Authority will expect the applicant to indicate in his/her Operating Schedule 

the steps proposed to prevent crime and disorder, such as: 
 

 Use of CCTV both within and outside the premises. 

 Metal detection and search facilities. 

 Measures to prevent the use or supply of illegal drugs. 

 Employment and regulation of licensed door supervisors and other appropriately trained staff. 

 Active participation in an appropriate Pub & Club Watch Scheme, or other scheme designed to 

ensure effective liaison with the local community, the relevant authorities and other licensees. 

 Participation in a local radio/pager link scheme. 

 A Dispersal Policy. 

 
This list is not exhaustive and is provided, simply, to provide examples of appropriate proposals for 
inclusion in an operating schedule. 
 
 
 
 

Page 268



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 15 

Reason 
 
Prevention of crime is both an objective of the Licensing Act 2003 and an important responsibility of 
the Council under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  It is important, therefore, that the applicant be 
able to demonstrate to the Authority the practical steps that will be taken to further this objective. 

 
10.3 Cumulative Impact  
 
 Policy  
 
 Where the Licensing Authority receives representations from a responsible authority or an interested 

party that the cumulative effect of new licences is leading to an area becoming saturated with 
premises making it a focal point for large groups to gather in and circulate away from, and that this 
is creating exceptional problems of disorder and/or nuisance over and above the impact of the 
individual premises, the Licensing Authority can properly consider whether or not the granting of an 
additional licence might lead to one or more of the Licensing Objectives being undermined.  

 
 That said, nothing in this policy will seek to limit the number of licensed premises simply because 

the Authority, any interested party or responsible authority considers that there are enough licensed 
premises to satisfy demand.  This is properly a commercial decision for the applicant. The Authority 
also recognises that the economic regeneration of an area can have positive effects on issues such 
as crime and disorder. 

 
 However, the Authority recognises that a potential cumulative effect of a proliferation of late night 

entertainment premises (including night cafes) may result in an increase in numbers of people either 
walking through or congregating in streets during the night and this in turn may have a number of 
undesirable consequences, as set out below: 

 

 An increase in crime against both property and persons 

 An increase in noise causing disturbance to residents 

 Traffic congestion and/or parking difficulties 

 Littering and fouling 

 
This may result in the amenity of local residents being placed under severe pressure, and it will not 
always be possible to attribute a particular problem to customers of particular premises.  This means 
that, whilst enforcement action to ensure conditions are complied with is taken, this may not resolve 
all problems. 
 
The Authority recognises that only a minority of consumers may behave badly. 

 
 It should be re-iterated that the Licensing Policy is only one means of addressing the problems 

identified above. Other mechanisms include: 
 

 Planning controls 

 Powers of local authorities to designate parts of the local authority area as places where alcohol 

may not be consumed publicly and confiscation of alcohol in these areas 

 Police powers to close down premises or temporary events on the grounds of disorder, the 

likelihood of disorder or excessive noise 

 Prosecution of personal licence holders who sell alcohol to people who are drunk 

Page 269



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 16 

 Powers of the Police, responsible authorities or local residents or businesses to seek a review of 

a premises licence or club certificate 

 Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and anti-social behaviour 

 Use of CCTV 

 Metal detection and search facilities  

 Minimising risks from drink promotions and similar  

 Drug control policies, including installation of drug safes  

 Use of trained security and other staff  

 Participation in local trade liaison schemes, such as Pub & Club Watch where available and 

including radio/communications schemes  

 Consideration of use of Anti-Social Behaviour Orders 

 Transport provision  

 
 Where there is evidence that a particular area of the district is already suffering adverse effects 

arising from the concentration of late night premises, or that residential areas are under stress, this 
will be taken into account in determining any further application for premises within any area 
identified. 

 
As such, the Authority will take into account: 

 

 The character of the surrounding areas 

 The impact of the licence on the surrounding area, both individually and cumulatively with 

existing licences; and 

 The nature and character of the proposed operation 

 
In considering all licence applications, the Authority will consider the adequacy of measures 
proposed to deal with the potential for nuisance and/or public disorder and to support the licensing 
objectives. 

 
 Reason  
 
 The ‘cumulative impact’ of the granting of an additional/variations to premises licences on the 

promotion of the Licensing Objective to prevent crime and disorder is a proper matter for the 
Licensing Authority to consider under this policy.  

 
However the policy will not seek to limit the number of licensed premises which will be permitted, 
simply because the Licensing Authority considers that there are already enough licensed premises 
to satisfy the demand.   

 
10.4 Special Saturation Policy 
 
 Policy 
 

The Licensing Authority will consider adopting a special saturation policy if it considers that an area 
is already saturated with licensed premises.  Before a Special Saturation Policy is adopted, the 
following must take place:- 

 

 Identification of concern about Crime and Disorder or Public Nuisance; 

Page 270



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 17 

 Consideration of whether it can be demonstrated that Crime and Disorder and nuisance are 

arising and are caused by the customers of licensed premises, and if so identifying the area 

from which problems are arising and the boundaries of that area; or that the risk factors are 

such that the area is reaching a point when a cumulative impact is imminent; 

 Consultation with those specified by section 5(3) of the 2003 Act as part of the general 

consultation required in respect of the whole statement of licensing policy 

 Subject to that consultation, inclusion of a special policy about the future premises licence or 

club premises certificate applications from that area within the terms of this licensing policy. 

 Publication of the Special Policy as part of this licensing policy. 

 
If a Special Saturation Policy is adopted, it will be reviewed every three years to see if it is still 
needed or it has had the desired effect. 
 
Reason   
 
This section provides the framework to facilitate the Licensing Authority adopting a special 
saturation policy where this is deemed necessary to support the licensing objective of preventing 
crime and disorder.  

 
10.5 Sex-Related Activities  
 
 Where the activities proposed under the licence include those of a sex-related nature (e.g. topless 

waitresses, striptease, table dancing) the Authority will take into account the increased risk to the 
licensing objectives.  For the sake of convenience the term “striptease” in this part of the policy 
should be taken to refer to any entertainment or service involving exposure of private parts or the 
sexual stimulation of patrons. 

 
 Policy  
 
 It will be the policy of the Licensing Authority not normally to grant licences which involve a sex 

related element near schools, churches, hospitals, youth clubs or other sensitive premises where 
significant numbers of children are likely to attend.   
Where such licences are granted it will impose conditions designed to ensure that children are not 
admitted to and cannot witness these activities and to prevent crime and disorder problems.  For 
example: 

 
The area proposed for striptease shall: 

 

 be in a position where the performance cannot be seen from the street; 

 be in a designated area of the premises with segregation from the audience; 

 be in a position where the performers will have direct access to the dressing room without 

passing through or in close proximity to the audience. 

 
 Whilst striptease entertainment is taking place no person under the age of 18 shall be on the 

licensed premises and a clear notice shall be displayed at each entrance to the premises in a 

Page 271



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 18 

prominent position, so that it can be easily read by persons entering the premises, in the following 
terms: 

 
NO PERSON UNDER 18 WILL BE ADMITTED 

 
To prevent the possibility of children seeing unsuitable advertising material the Policy of the 
Authority will be to attach a condition to the effect that “Except with the consent of the Licensing 
Authority there shall be no external advertising of the striptease entertainment either at the premises 
or in its immediate vicinity.” In considering the grant of applications involving striptease the Authority 
will also have regard to the increased risk of nuisance to nearby residents and will consider rejecting 
the application or attaching appropriate conditions. 

 
 Reason  
 
 These policies are designed to further the licensing objective of protecting children by preventing 

them being exposed to unsuitable material or acts.  They are also designed to further the crime 
prevention and prevention of nuisance objectives by recognising the increased risk of nuisance or 
illegal activities posed by such activities. 

 
10.6 Drugs  
 
 Almost every recent survey indicates that more people are taking illegal drugs and are using a wider 

range than ever before.  This is particularly true of what are often referred to as ‘recreational drugs’.  
Their misuse can hold grave dangers and has even led to fatalities.  

 
 Other factors may have contributed to these deaths, such as lack of drinking water, excessive 

drinking of water, an overly hot environment with inadequate ventilation, or a lack of adequate 
information about drugs. 

 
 Drugs alter the way people behave, so their distribution and possession is controlled by law.  

Controlled drugs are usually manufactured and supplied illegally, which attracts criminal involvement 
in their distribution.  Drugs manufactured illegally often vary in quality and strength.  This puts 
people taking such drugs in danger. 

 
 The Authority recognises that drug-use by young people in a club environment is not something that 

is relevant to all licensed premises.  However, many entertainment venues such as night clubs and 
dance venues can be popular both with drug misusers and suppliers, and there is evidence of 
increased use of drugs even in traditional community-type public houses. 

 
 Policy  
 
 The Authority will expect licensees of venues likely to be affected by drug issues to take all 

reasonable steps to prevent the entry of drugs into licensed premises, to take appropriate steps to 
prevent drugs changing hands within the premises and to take practical measures to prevent 
tragedies as a result of drug misuse. 

 
 In particular, the Authority will expect licensees of such venues to be familiar with the contents of 

Chapter 4 (drug awareness) of the BIIAB Level 2 National Certificate for Entertainment Licensees 
and to be following the recommendations of that handbook.  The Authority will also expect licensees 
to be following the best practice guide on safer nightlife which builds on the safer clubbing published 
by the Home Office. 

Page 272



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 19 

 
 It is hoped that licensees will follow these recommendations on a voluntary basis as failure to do so 

could lead to the licence being reviewed with the possibility of revocation.  In appropriate cases the 
Authority will consider imposing the recommendations detailed in these documents by way of 
licence conditions. 

 As part of the Operating Schedule for the premises, the Authority may require written drug control 
policies, which document the control measures in place. 
 
Reason  

 
 The purpose of this policy is to further the crime prevention objective and to ensure public safety by 

preventing a tragic loss of life caused by drug abuse, overheating and other factors. 
 
 
11.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVE – PROMOTING PUBLIC SAFETY 
 
11.1 Venue Safety 
 
 Policy  
 
 The Authority will expect the premises to be constructed and maintained to the highest possible 

standards of safety.  It will expect the applicant to have addressed the requirements of Health and 
Safety at Work and Fire Safety legislation and where appropriate the Technical Standards published 
by the District Surveyors Association. 

 
Premises with large areas of ceiling that are unsupported, e.g. domed or vaulted ceilings to 
premises such as theatres, cinemas, etc. may require specific structural assessments on a 
programmed basis. 

 
The Authority will also expect that Operating Schedules will contain the significant findings of the fire 
risk assessments, including such matters as emergency evacuation, staff training and systems for 
ensuring the adequacy of safety equipment where appropriate. 

 
The Authority will also expect the Operating Schedule to detail how the premises will be properly 
managed and maintained to ensure public and staff safety at all times. 

 
Reason 

 
 Public safety is a very important licensing objective as it is about protecting the safety and the lives 

of patrons.  It is the intention of the Authority that anyone visiting a licensed venue can do so in 
complete safety, confident that they are visiting premises that have been constructed with safety in 
mind and that are well managed and maintained.  

 
11.2 Hypnotism 
 
 Policy 
 
 If an applicant wishes to have any performance of stage hypnotism at any time this should be 

addressed in the Operating Schedule.  In the event of any performance of stage hypnotism the 
Authority will normally require written notification 8 weeks prior to the performance taking place.  

Page 273



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 20 

Where consent is given for this type of entertainment the council will impose specific licence 
conditions. 
 
Reason 

 
It is recognised that Hypnotism poses specific risks and therefore additional licensing conditions 
should be covered within the Operating Schedule, designed to ensure the safety of the audiences 
and in particular to ensure that children are not admitted to and cannot participate in such activities.   

 
 Examples of conditions relevant to Hypnotism can be found in Appendix D.  
 
11.3 Drugs 
 

The Authority recognises that the management of drug issues is relevant to the Licensing Objective 
to protect Public Safety.  However the council’s policy in respect of drugs issues is outlined in 
paragraph 10.6.  

 
 
12.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVE – PREVENTION OF PUBLIC NUISANCE 
 
12.1 Licensing Hours 
 
 Policy  
 

The Authority recognises that widespread fixed closing times in certain areas can lead to peaks of 
disturbance and disorder when large numbers of people emerge onto the streets at the same time.  
Flexible licensing hours, particularly where alcohol is involved, may therefore be an important factor 
in reducing friction at late night food outlets, taxi ranks and other late night services. 

 
The Authority accepts the principle of activity taking place over 24 hours and 7 days a week. 
 
No general restriction or limitation on hours in any area is imposed by this policy. 

 
The hours requested by the applicant will normally be approved where the applicant can show that 
the proposal would not adversely affect the environmental quality, residential amenity and character 
of any particular area, and that the licensing objectives would not, in any other way, be 
compromised. 

 
Shops, stores and supermarkets will generally be permitted to sell alcohol during the normal hours 
they intend to open for shopping.  However, in the case of individual premises which are a focus for 
disorder and disturbance then, subject to representations, limitations may be appropriate. 

 
It will be necessary for applicants, who wish to vary the hours during which alcohol is sold for 
consumption on the premises, to include in the Operating Schedule the times when the premises 
will open, when sales of alcohol will commence and cease, and the time when the premises will be 
closed. This will, in effect, facilitate “drinking up time”. 

 
Where late hours are requested, particularly involving entertainment, the imposition of conditions 
may be necessary to ensure the achievement of the Licensing Objectives. 
 
 

Page 274



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 21 

Reason 
This policy is aimed at the fulfilment of the licensing objective of “preventing public nuisance”. 

 
 
12.2 Location and Impact of Activity  
 

This part of the policy is concerned with whether a proposal is appropriate in a location with 
particular regard to the impact on any residential areas.  In most of the Borough, which is 
predominantly residential, the policy will in appropriate cases limit the normal hours of opening for 
new licensed activities to a maximum time which is no later than midnight. 
Later opening hours are considered to be acceptable, in principle, for premises in commercial areas 
with high levels of public transport accessibility.  However, in all cases, the granting of a licence will 
depend on impact of an activity, particularly on local residents.  It is necessary to consider, amongst 
other things, the level of impact that could arise from noise and vibration, litter, parking, people 
coming and going, transport, crowds and queuing; and whether any impact is particularly 
unacceptable late at night. 
 
Policy  
 
If relevant representations are received, the Authority will normally expect a closing time of no later 
than midnight for licensed premises in residential areas, but a later closing time may be permitted 
for premises located: 
 

 in predominantly commercial areas, 

 where there is a high level of accessibility to public transport services; and 

 where there is an appropriate amount of car parking, readily accessible to the premises, and in 

places where vehicular movement will not cause demonstrable adverse impact to local 

residents; and 

 the Operating Schedule submitted with the application indicates that the applicant is taking 

appropriate steps to comply with the licensing objective of preventing public nuisance. 

 
Exceptions may be made to permit a later closing time/earlier opening time where it can be 
demonstrated that: 
 

 the licensed activities would not be likely to cause adverse impact especially on local residents, 

and that, if there is a potential to cause adverse impact, appropriate measures will be put in 

place to prevent it; and  

 there will not be any increase in the cumulative adverse impact from these or similar activities, 

on an adjacent residential area. 

 
Reason 
 
This part of the policy dealing with opening hours is based on a broad distinction between the 
approach to be taken in certain predominantly commercial areas, like parts of the town centres, and 
the rest of the Borough.   
 
Any activity involving public entertainment or eating or drinking on the premises has the potential to 
impact adversely on the surrounding area due to noise, smells, or congestion on the footway.  It 
may also be caused by the customers being noisy when leaving, leaving litter or taking up on-street 

Page 275



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 22 

car parking space in close proximity to residential premises. The impact of noise generated by these 
activities, especially customers departing either on foot or in cars, is particularly intrusive at night 
when ambient noise levels are much lower.  

 
12.3  Management of Potential Noise Nuisances  
 

Policy  
 
The applicant will be expected to propose practical steps to prevent disturbance to local residents in 
appropriate cases.  In relation to noise from within the building the Authority will expect the applicant 
to have considered the likelihood of any sound leakage from the premises.  This noise could relate 
not only to music but also to equipment or patrons.  If there appears to be a potential for sound 
leakage the applicant will be able to address this in practical ways such as: 
 

 Keeping doors and windows closed and providing adequate mechanical ventilation. 

 Reducing sound levels and installing a sound-limiting device to prevent sound exceeding the 

appropriate level. 

 Installing soundproofing measures to contain sound and vibration. 

 
The Authority will expect popular venues, which attract queues, to formulate a system to avoid 
disturbance to residents.  This can sometimes be achieved by simply ensuring that the direction of 
the queue is away from residential accommodation.  
 
However, excessive noise and/or disorder require more rigorous action.  It is important that queues 
formed later in the evening are supervised to keep noise to a minimum.  This action can also help 
stop drug dealers from supplying drugs during the queuing process but the prime purpose is to 
prevent noise and disturbance.  Door supervisors will generally carry out this role, but they must be 
given clear instructions as to their duties and responsibilities and be adequately supervised. 

 
In terms of patrons leaving the premises, particularly late at night or early in the morning, the 
Authority will expect the applicant to have included in the Operating Schedule any practical steps 
considered appropriate, such as the examples given below, although there will be few premises that 
need to address all these: 

 

 Erecting prominent notices at the exits to premises asking customers to leave quietly and not 

to slam car doors. 

 At appropriate times using the PA system to make announcements to the same effect. 

 Instructing door staff to ask customers leaving the premises to leave the area quietly. 

 Reducing the volume of music towards the end of the evening and where appropriate playing 

quieter, more soothing music as the evening winds down. 

 Availability of licensed Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles to take patrons from the 

premises. 

 In appropriate cases door supervisors or a manager patrolling nearby streets to assess for 

themselves whether there is a problem and how best to deal with it. 

Page 276



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 23 

 Banning from the premises people who regularly leave in a noisy fashion. 

 Increasing outside lighting levels, where practicable without causing further nuisance. 

 Where there is a private forecourt, preventing patrons from using it for eating and drinking etc. 

after 11pm, or ensuring it is vacated 30 minutes before the terminal hour. 

 Ensuring that customers are not permitted to take open bottles or glasses of alcohol out of the 

premises.   

 Taking appropriate steps where necessary to deal with noxious smells and light pollution. 

 
Reason  

 
One of the greatest irritations to residents trying to sleep is the sound of music escaping from 
licensed premises.  Such an escape of sound might preclude the grant of a licence or, if one has 
already been granted, for it to be reviewed with a view to possible revocation.  It might also lead to a 
Noise Abatement notice being issued under the Environmental Protection Act by the responsible 
authority.  Responsible applicants and licensees will wish to avoid the need for such action, as they 
will wish to comply with the licensing objective of preventing public nuisance. 

 
There can be little doubt that a well-managed licensed venue can benefit the local community.  On 
the other hand, there is clearly a risk of local residents being disturbed, particularly if the venue is 
open late at night. 

 
This is because people leaving the premises, particularly late at night or in the early hours of the 
morning, can be a significant problem.  Customers may be less inhibited about their behaviour and 
may be unaware of the noise they are creating.  

 
The area will be generally quieter and any noise will, therefore, be amplified and provide more 
disturbance for residents.  Clearly a responsible applicant or licensee will wish to further the 
licensing objective of preventing public nuisance by introducing practical measures, such as those 
referred to above, to prevent such nuisance. 

 
12.4  Consideration of the Impact of Licensed Activities 
 
 Policy   
 

When considering whether any licensable activity should be permitted, on receipt of any relevant 
representations, the Authority will assess the likelihood of it causing unacceptable adverse impact, 
particularly on local residents, by considering the following factors amongst other relevant matters: 

 

 the type of use, the number of customers likely to attend the premises and the type of customers 

at the time of the application;  

 the proposed hours of operation; 

 the level of public transport accessibility for customers either arriving or leaving  premises and 

the likely means of public or private transport that will be used by the customers; 

 the means of access to the premises, which should have customer entrances on the principal 

pedestrian routes;   

Page 277



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 24 

 the cumulative impact of licensed premises in an area;  

 the scope for mitigating any impact; 

 how often the activity occurs.  

 
and, in considering any application for a premises which is already licensed, the Authority will take 
into account any evidence: 

 

 of past demonstrable adverse impact from the activity, especially on local residents;  

or 

 that, if adverse impact has been caused, appropriate measures have been agreed and put into 

effect by the applicant to mitigate the adverse impact.   If, however, such measures have not 

been put into effect or there has been insufficient time to assess them, this could impact on the 

determination of the application; 

 
or 

 of past history of the premises, where there have been no relevant complaints or problems. 

 
Reason 

 
The prime purpose of this part of the policy is to achieve the licensing objective of preventing public 
nuisance.  In furtherance of this aim the policy lists particular matters that the Authority will take into 
account in considering whether a licensed activity is likely to cause an adverse impact, particularly 
to local residents: 

  

 The precise nature of the activity, especially for entertainment, will be a factor in considering the 

impact, principally in terms of the age and orderliness of the customers. 

 Levels of noise from licensed premises, which may be acceptable at certain times of day, may 

not be acceptable later in the evening or at night when ambient noise levels are much lower. 

 The Authority's preference is to see licensed activities located in places where customers are not 

reliant on private car use, and can walk or use public transport. The Borough varies 

considerably.  In town centres, a high use of public transport could be expected by the 

customers of licensed premises but, even there, car use is likely to increase when activities go 

on very late.  Consequently, there could be unacceptable parking and traffic in nearby residential 

areas.    

 The main impact of customers arriving, queuing and leaving should be confined to principal 

pedestrian routes as far as possible.  It would not be appropriate, for instance, to have licensed 

activities which cause large numbers of people to exit into a residential area as opposed to a 

situation where pedestrian movement takes place directly to and from nearby public transport 

services. 

 Car parking by customers of licensed premises can be a serious problem.  This affects local 

residents in terms of noise and their ability to find a parking space, particularly after the hours 

when any controlled parking zones are in operation.  It can also affect the movement of essential 

traffic on primary routes and delay bus and emergency services.  When considering the possible 

impact on residents, the Authority will look at the area within which the impact could be 

experienced, in particular the likely distance at which most customers arriving by car would seek 

to park.  The potential parking area for major entertainments can be substantial.  

Page 278



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 25 

 
With any adverse impact it may be possible to take steps to mitigate or prevent the impact and if 
such measures are reliable an activity may be licensed.  In accordance with Government advice, the 
decisions taken by the Authority will obviously be focused on matters within the control of individual 
licensees, and others granted relevant permissions, and the steps they can take to achieve the 
licensing objectives.  Accordingly, these matters will centre on the premises and places being used 
for licensable activities and the likely impact of those activities on members of public living, working 
or engaged in normal activity in the area concerned.  
 
In taking its decisions the Authority accepts the difficulty a licence holder has in preventing anti-
social behaviour by individuals, once they are beyond the direct control of that licence holder. 
However, it will also take into account that the licensing objective of preventing public nuisance will 
not be achieved if patrons from licensed premises regularly engage in anti-social activities to the 
detriment of nearby residents or businesses. Furthermore it will also take into account its 
responsibility under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to do all it can to prevent crime and disorder in 
the Borough. 

 
The aim of the policy is, therefore, to achieve a balanced approach to these difficult issues. 

 
12.5 Cumulative Impact 
 

The Authority recognises that the issue of Cumulative Impact is relevant to the     Licensing 
Objective to prevent Public Nuisance.  However the Authority’s Policy in respect of Cumulative 
Impact is outlined in paragraph 10.3. 

 
12.6  Special Saturation Policy 
 

The Authority recognises that Special Saturation Policies are relevant to the Licensing Objective to 
prevent Public Nuisance.  However the Authority’s Policy in respect of Special Saturation Policies is 
outlined in paragraph 10.4. 

 
 
13.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVE – PROTECTION OF CHILDREN FROM HARM 
 
13.1  Children  
 
 Policy  
 

The Authority recognises that the Act allows for the free access of children to all licensed premises, 
subject to the licensee’s discretion and any conditions applied to the licence. There is also the 
proviso that children under the age of 16 must be accompanied by an adult over the age of 18 on 
premises licensed to sell alcohol. 
The Authority will not impose any conditions which specifically require access for children to be 
provided at any premises.  Under normal circumstances access by children will remain a matter for 
the discretion of the individual licensee or club, subject to there being no conflict with the licensing 
objective to protect children from harm. 

  
When considering applications for premises licences, the Authority will take into account the history 
of a particular premises and the nature of the activities proposed to be provided when considering 
any options appropriate to prevent harm to children.  For example: 

 

Page 279



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 26 

 Where there have been convictions of members of the current staff for serving alcohol to minors 

or with a reputation for underage drinking 

 With a known association with drug taking or dealing 

 Where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises, or 

 Where entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is commonly provided 

 
In these circumstances, conditions may be attached to any licence to:- 

 

 Limit the hours when children may be present 

 Restrict the age of persons allowed on a premises 

 Limit or exclude when certain activities may take place, or 

 Require an accompanying adult. 

 
In premises showing films a mandatory condition will restrict access only to those who meet the 
required age limit in accordance with any certificate granted by the British Board of Film 
Classification or, in specific cases, a certificate given to the film by the Authority. 
 
Where large numbers of unaccompanied children are likely to be present, for example, a children’s 
show or pantomime, conditions may be imposed requiring the presence of an appropriate number of 
adult staff to ensure public safety and protection from harm.  
 
For the purpose of this policy, the Licensing Authority recognises the following body as “the 
responsible body” to advise on matters relating to the protection of children from harm: 
 
Rochdale Borough Council Safeguarding Children Unit 
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU 
 
Reason 
 
These policies are designed to allow flexibility for the licensee to ensure that, where appropriate, 
licensed premises are “user friendly” for children, but also to ensure that they are adequately 
protected. 

 
13.2 Sex- Related Activities  
 

The Authority recognises that the provision of sex related activities is relevant to the Licensing 
Objective to protect Children from Harm.  However the Authority’s Policy in respect of provision of 
sex-related activities is outlined in paragraph 10.5.  

 
13.3 Proof of Age  
 

The consumption of alcohol by people under the age of 18 is a serious problem that the Authority is 
keen to address. Licensees are, therefore, encouraged to seriously consider the adoption of a policy 
within their Operating Schedule for the production of proof of age by young people attempting to 
purchase alcohol. It is suggested that any scheme adopted should comply with the PASS 
accreditation system, and should include passports and photo-driving licences. 
 

Page 280



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 27 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Other Important 
Information 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 281



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 28 

14.0 PLANNING AND LICENSING  
 
14.1 There are a number of key differences between licensing and planning control. Licensing is 

concerned with the operation and management of the premises whereas planning control relates to 
the use of the premises. 

 
14.2 The Licensing Authority recognises that there should be a clear separation of the licensing, planning 

and building controls to avoid duplication and inefficiency. Licensing applications should not be seen 
as a re-run of any planning application. Licensing Committees are not bound by decisions made by 
a planning committee and vice versa. 

 
14.3 The granting of a premises licence does not negate the need to obtain the appropriate planning 

permission and/or building control approval. 
 
14.4 When exercising its licensing functions, the Licensing Authority will not be influenced by a question 

of need, unless there is a Cumulative Impact Policy in place for the area in which the premises is 
situated. The issue of whether or not there is a need for a particular premises is a commercial matter 
and not relevant to the Licensing Authority’s considerations. 

 
14.5 There may be circumstances when, as a condition of planning permission, a terminal hour has been 

set for the use of premises for commercial purposes. Where these hours are different to the licensed 
hours, the earlier closing time must be observed. Any premises operating in breach of their planning 
permission would be liable to enforcement action under planning law. 

 
14.6 Building Regulations govern a variety of issues which directly contribute to the Licensing Objectives, 

including means of escape, structural integrity, accessibility and public safety. Building Regulation 
Approval and Completion Certificates may be required prior to the use of the premises for licensable 
activities. 

 
 
15.0 PROVISIONAL STATEMENTS  
 
15.1  The Authority recognises that in certain situations businesses and developers need to have security 

that a premises licence is likely to be granted following construction of new premises or alteration of 
existing unlicensed premises. 

 
The Authority will issue provisional statements in accordance with the Act and guidance. 

 
16.0 COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT  
 
16.1 If the need arises enforcement action will be taken in accordance with the Authority’s agreed 

Enforcement Policy.  
 

A protocol on the implementation of a shared enforcement role between the Authority, GMP and 
other agencies has been agreed by all parties. 

 
In general terms, enforcement will be targeted on agreed problem, and high-risk, premises/activities 
which require greater attention. Premises which are well run and managed, and therefore present a 
lower risk, will enjoy a greater degree of self-regulation. 
 

 

Page 282



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 29 

17.0 CONDITIONS  
 
17.1 The Authority will, as far as it is possible to do so, avoid imposing disproportionate and over-

burdensome conditions on premises. The Authority does not propose to implement standard 
conditions of licence across the board, but instead will draw upon the Model Pools of Conditions 
issued by the Home Office and attach conditions as appropriate given the circumstances of each 
individual case, where relevant representations are received. 

 
The Authority reserves the right to require the use of Door Supervisors, in appropriate cases, in 
order to support the Licensing Objectives. 

 
The Authority accepts the principle that conditions should not be imposed on licences to deal with 
issues that can be the subject of enforcement using existing legislation. 

 
18.0 SPECIAL OCCASIONS  
 
18.1 The Authority will follow any licensing hours orders made by the Secretary of State as regards to 

any special occasion. 
 
19.0 PREMISES LICENCES  
 
19.1 The Authority expects that, normally, there will be at least one Personal Licence holder on any 

licensed premises when alcohol is being sold or supplied. 
 

The Authority also expects that, normally, premises providing entertainment, eg public houses, 
nightclubs, theatres, cinemas, etc, will have maximum capacities stated on the licences, to assist in 
the achievement of public safety, unless their Operating Schedules satisfy the Responsible 
Authorities that maximum capacities are not necessary. Such premises will also need to consider 
the provision of sufficient, adequately-trained first-aiders. 

 
If it is intended to provide “special-risk” entertainments, which involve pyrotechnics, smoke, vapour, 
strobe lighting, lasers, etc., then it will be expected that these would be taken into account within the 
Operating Schedule. 

 
20.0 CLUB PREMISES CERTIFICATES  
 
20.1 The Act recognises that premises, to which public access is restricted and where alcohol is supplied 

other than for profit, give rise to different issues for licensing law than those presented by 
commercial enterprises selling direct to the public. For this reason, it preserves aspects of earlier 
alcohol licensing law as it applied to “registered members clubs”. These clubs are organisations 
where members have joined together for particular social, sporting or political purposes and then 
combined to buy alcohol in bulk as members of the organisation for supply in that context. 

 
20.2 Clubs have traditionally not been “licensed” because “sales” do not take place there. The grant of a 

club premises certificate means that a qualifying club is entitled to certain benefits. These include:  
 

 the authority to supply alcohol to members and sell it to guests on the premises to which the 

certificate relates without the need for any member or employee to hold a personal licence;  

 the absence of a requirement to specify a designated premises supervisor;  

 more limited rights of entry for the police and authorised persons because the premises are 

considered private and not generally open to the public;  

Page 283



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 30 

 the club premises not being subject to police powers of instant closure on grounds of disorder 

and noise nuisance (except when being used under the authority of a temporary event notice or 

premises licence) because they operate under their codes of discipline and rules which are 

rigorously enforced; and  

 not being subject to potential orders of the magistrates’ court for the closure of all licensed 

premises in an area when disorder is happening or expected. 

 
20.3 Previously, registered members clubs also enjoyed another privilege of being outside the normal 

licensing regime: the freedom to sell alcohol to minors and allow them to consume it on the club 
premises. Although in recent years most clubs have operated voluntary rules which prohibit sales 
and supply of alcohol to those under 18 years old, the Act has removed this privilege and the sale or 
supply of alcohol to children in such clubs is now unlawful. 

 
20.4 The new authority for the supply of alcohol, and provision of other licensable activities on qualifying 

club premises, is a club premises certificate and this is issued by the Licensing Authority. 
 
20.5 The arrangements for applying for, or seeking to vary, club premises certificates are extremely 

similar to those in respect of a premises licence. Club Operating Schedules prepared by clubs, as 
with Operating Schedules for premises licences, must include the steps the club intends to take to 
promote the licensing objectives. These will be translated into conditions included in the certificate, 
unless the conditions have been modified by the Licensing Authority, following consideration of 
relevant representations by responsible authorities or interested parties. 

 
20.6 The legislation detailing the statutory qualifying conditions for clubs is provided at Appendix C. 
 
 
21.0 TEMPORARY EVENT NOTICES (TENS) 
 
21.1 If a licensable activity is planned to take place on none licensed premises, the organiser can submit 

a Temporary Events Notice (TEN). A TEN can also be used to include additional licensable activities 
or alter the hours of operation on licensed premises. They can cover any period up to 168 hours. A 
TEN has to be served on the Police, Environmental Health and the Licensing Authority at least 10 
working days prior to commencement of the event, a longer period is preferable wherever possible. 
There is nothing to prevent simultaneous notification of multiple events at a single time so long as 
the first event is at least 10 working days away and there must be at least 24 hours between events. 
Only the Police and Environmental Health can object to a TEN. 

 
21.2 Standard TENs must be given a minimum of 10 working days prior to the first day of the event and 

the Licensing Authority recommend that wherever possible notice-givers submit their TEN a 
minimum of 28 days prior to the commencement of the event. There is provision for making an 
application for a late TEN. Such applications may be made no earlier than 9 working days before the 
event and no less than 5 working days before the event. The Licensing Authority understands this to 
mean 9 or 5 clear days exclusive of the day on which the event is to start and exclusive of the day 
on which the notice is given. 

 
21.3 Where one or more of the relevant statutory limits are exceeded, the Licensing 

Authority will serve a Counter-Notice to prevent the licensable activities from going ahead. There is 
no provision under the Act to appeal against the issue of a Counter-Notice. 
 

Page 284



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 31 

21.4 Greater Manchester Police or the Council’s Environmental Health service can issue an objection 
notice. The Licensing Authority will consider any such notice at a hearing (unless the objection 
notice is withdrawn before the hearing date). The hearing will be confined to consideration of the 
Licensing Objectives and will be held in accordance with the procedure. There is no provision for a 
hearing in the case of a late TEN. 
 

21.5 The Licensing Authority will notify the applicant of its decision at least 24 hours before the beginning 
of the event period specified in the temporary event notice. Depending on the nature and location of 
such events, these can have serious crime and disorder implications. Whilst accepting that the 
statutory notification period is a minimum of 10 days organisers of these events are encouraged to 
submit their notification as soon as reasonably practicable to enable the Police and the Authority to 
work with them. 

  
22.0 LATE NIGHT LEVY 
 
22.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 introduced Late Night Levies. A Late Night 

Levy (LNL) enables Licensing Authorities to raise a contribution towards the costs of policing the 
Night Time Economy by charging a levy on holders of Premises Licences and Club Premises 
Certificates authorised to sell alcohol. 
 
It would apply across the whole Borough and be applicable to any premises licensed to operate 
from a fixed time between 00.00 hrs – 06.00 hrs. 
 
Any consideration for the introduction of a LNL would be the subject of separate formal consultation 
and, if it is to be introduced, must be adopted at a meeting of the full Council.  

 
 
23.0 EARLY MORNING RESTRICTION ORDERS  
 
23.1 The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 also introduced Early Morning Restriction 

Orders (EMRO) which is a power enabling the Licensing Authority to prohibit the sale of alcohol for 
a specified time period between the hours of midnight and 6am in the whole or part of its area, if it is 
satisfied that this would be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 
23.2 EMROs are designed to address recurring problems such as high levels of alcohol related crime 

and disorder in specific areas at specific times, serious public nuisance and other instances of 
alcohol related anti-social behaviour which is not directly attributable to specific premises.  

 
23.3 The Licensing Authority may consider whether an EMRO is appropriate once all other avenues to 

resolve problems associated with licensed premises and the promotion of the licensing objections 
have been exhausted. The EMRO can only be an appropriate step to promote the licensing 
objectives on the basis that it is reasonable, justified and proportionate in the circumstances. 

 
 
24.0 SUSPENSION OF PREMISES LICENCES/CLUB PREMISES CERTIFICATES 
 
24.1  The Licensing Authority is required to suspend a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate if 

the annual fee has not been paid when it is due. Where a Premises Licence or Club Premises 
Certificate has been suspended, no licensable activities can be lawfully carried out at the premises 
until the annual fee has been paid. The suspension will be lifted immediately upon payment of the 
fee and the licensable activities can be resumed. 

Page 285



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 32 

25.0  PERSONAL LICENCES 
 
25.1 The Authority recognises it has very little discretion regarding the granting of personal licences. In 

general, provided an applicant has a qualification determined by the Home Office and does not have 
certain criminal convictions, the application must be granted. A person holding a personal licence 
should be a person who is not only properly qualified but a person who will assist the police and 
relevant authorities in the fight against crime. Granting a licence to a person with a criminal history 
may in some cases undermine rather than promote the crime prevention objective. 

 
25.2 If an applicant has a relevant conviction the police can oppose the application. If an objection is 

lodged by the police, a Licensing Sub-Committee will be held. The Licensing Sub-Committee will 
consider carefully whether the grant of the licence will be in conflict with the crime prevention 
objective. It will consider the seriousness and relevance of the conviction(s), whether the conviction 
is classed as spent under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (as amended) the period that has 
elapsed since the offence(s) were committed and any mitigating circumstances. The Authority will 
only grant the application if it is satisfied that doing so will promote this objective. A person holding a 
personal licence should be a person who is not only properly qualified but a person who will assist 
the fight against crime.  
 

25.3 Under the Deregulation Act 2015, any Personal Licence falling for renewal on or after 1st April 2015 
will not now require to be renewed. Personal Licences will now remain in force indefinitely, unless 
surrendered, forfeited etc.  

 
26.0 ADULT ENTERTAINMENT  
 
26.1  Rochdale Borough Council has adopted the provisions of Schedule 3 Local Government 

[Miscellaneous Provisions] Act 1982 and has a separate policy which relates to adult entertainment 
venues and activities. Therefore, additional licences may be required under separate legislation for 
sexual entertainment venues.   

 
 
27.0 ALCOHOL DELIVERY SERVICES 
 
27.1  The Licensing Authority considers there are particular risks associated with delivery services for 

alcohol. In accordance with current statutory guidance, “persons who run premises providing 
‘alcohol delivery services’ should notify the relevant licensing authority that they are operating such 
a service in their operating schedule. This ensures that the licensing authority can properly consider 
what conditions are appropriate. Premises with an existing premises licence, which choose to 
operate such a service in addition to their existing licensable activities, should contact their licensing 
authority for its view on whether this form of alcohol sale is already permitted or whether an 
application to vary the licence will be required”.  

 
27.2 The Licensing Authority expects measures consistent with standards expected for licensed 

premises as outlined under ‘Licensing Objectives’.  
 
27.3 In addition, the Licensing Authority expects operators to implement age-verification procedures at 

both the point of sale and delivery stages, with a Challenge 25 policy implemented at the point of 
delivery. 

 
27.4 Particular attention should be paid to making it clear to customers that receipt of orders that contain 

alcohol must be by an adult. Retailers should ensure that delivery staff have been given appropriate 

Page 286



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 33 

training in procedures relating to requesting and identifying proof of age, and implement these 
procedures as standard. 
 

27.5 Any promotional material including the name of the business and website should be consistent with 
the responsible sale of alcohol. Additionally, any website URL or telephone number to be used for 
orders is expected to be given to the Licensing Authority. 

 
27.6 The delivery of alcohol to problematic house parties causing local nuisance and disorder has been a 

problem in some areas of the Borough. Operators are expected to use their discretion to ensure that 
deliveries are refused in situations experiencing alcohol-related nuisance or disorder and to ensure 
that alcohol is not given to persons who appear drunk. 

 
27.7 Where the Authority’s discretion is engaged following relevant representations, conditions restricting 

the operation of alcohol delivery services may be imposed by the Authority / Responsible Authorities 
where appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 
27.8 A zero-tolerance approach to new psychoactive substances (NPS) is also expected of operators. 
 
 
28.0 LARGE SCALE EVENTS  
 
28.1 The Authority considers that there are specific risks associated with the holding of large public 

events, such as concerts and festivals. Therefore, this section sets out particular expectations 
regarding how such events are expected to be managed.  

 
28.2 For licensable events where the capacity exceeds 499 a premises licence will need to be applied 

for. A premises licence can be time limited so that it is only in effect for the duration of the event. 
Open air events may range from relatively small local events, like fairs, which may last for four or 
five days, to major pop festivals lasting one or more days. Despite the temporary duration of such 
major events, they can attract huge crowds of tens of thousands of people and the risks to public 
safety and to crime and disorder as well as public nuisance may be considerable. A temporary event 
likely to attract more than 499 people will require an application for a premises licence and will not 
be covered by the Temporary Event Notice provisions. 

 
28.3 If you wish to hold an event in a public space in the Borough of Rochdale, it is strongly 

recommended that you contact the Council’s Events Management Team / Safety Advisory Group 
(SAG) in the very first instance at least 6-9 months prior to the proposed event. This will allow the 
Council and other Partner Agencies sufficient time to assist the organisers to plan their events 
safely. Many events will give rise to special considerations in respect of the licensing objectives. 
Operating schedules should therefore reflect this. The Events Management Team will inform you as 
to whether any licence is required. Further guidance is available from the Licensing Authority. It is 
recommended that a licence application be made at least 3 months prior to the event.  

 
28.4 In considering applications for such events, the Licensing Authority will have particular regard to any 

track record of the event organiser as well as the comprehensiveness of the event arrangements.  
 
28.5 Licensees are expected to have regard to at least the following (this is not an exhaustive list); 
 a) Setting up a management group for the event comprising relevant agencies, including but not 

limited to all responsible authorities 
b) Overall event safety control 
c) Production details 

Page 287



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 34 

d) Medical and first aid provision 
e) Site management and the structural integrity of all temporary structures 
f) Crowd management, stewarding and security 
g) Fire safety and control 
h) Configuration and control of sound systems 
i) Management of any on-site and off-site car parking 
j) Management of concessions and franchises 
k) Provision and maintenance of water supplies 
l) Welfare and provision of information 
m) Provision and maintenance of sanitary facilities 
n) Reception, collection and removal of litter and other waste 
o) Liaison with local residents and businesses 

 
28.6 Relevant details in respect of the above may include: 

 The proposed capacity of the event 

 The provision of plans to agreed scales detailing exits, entrances, temporary bars, marquees 
and all facilities to be provided within the premises 

 Details of proposals for entertainments, together with information regarding any special effects 

 Details of proposals for concessionary activities, including food franchises, bars, restaurants and 
non-food retail sales 
 

 An alcohol management plan, which will include details of: 
 

o Responsible alcohol service 
o The designated premises supervisor 
o Personal Licence holders 
o Control of the sale of alcohol 
o Proof-of-age policy 
o Promotion of responsible drinking 
o Appropriate signage 

 

 A Safety Policy and Risk Assessment for the event 

 Details of arrangements for co-ordinating and controlling event safety on the site 

 A site safety plan, including site safety rules, requirements for construction and breakdown of 
site, structural safety calculations, drawings of temporary structures and safety barriers, details 
of electrical installations and lighting arrangements 

 Incident contingency and emergency plans (including a Major Incident Plan) 

 A crowd management, stewarding and security plan (taking into account the views of 
Greater Manchester Police) 

 A medical ambulance and first aid plan 

 A fire safety plan 

 A traffic management plan drawn up in consultation with the relevant departments of Rochdale 
Borough Council, Greater Manchester Police, Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue, North West 
Ambulance Service, TfGM and private sector partners. Where areas covered by other local 
authorities could be affected by the event, relevant departments of those respective authorities 
should also be included 

 A sound assessment with details and proposals for monitoring and controlling sound emission 

 Details for the provision of cleaning and maintenance of sanitary accommodation, washing 
facilities and drinking water 

 Details for management of litter and disposal of other waste 

Page 288



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 35 

 Details of welfare arrangement facilities and provisions for information on site 

 Details of the arrangements and facilities for disabled persons. 
 
28.7 Consideration should not solely focus on the activities taking place within the area of the licensed 

premises. Appropriate measures to address issues outside the licensable area include: 

 Putting in place plans that will help to minimise the day-to-day disruption of lives of local 
residents, businesses and existing operations for the period of the event 

 Providing a robust traffic and transport plan that takes into account the needs of the local 
community – and minimises the impact of visitors to the area for the event – while maintaining a 
safe and convenient point of access and egress for the attendees within the parameters of 
existing traffic, transport and parking provision 

 Putting in place a strategy for the control of access to and egress from the licensed premises for 
the control of disorderly behaviour 

 Providing facilities external to the licensed area that will assist in the management of the access 
and egress of visitors to the event, and minimise the impact on the existing public realm 
including, but not restricted to, additional toilet facilities and a designated park and ride area 

 Putting in place a cleansing strategy beyond the immediate perimeter of the licensed premises in 
association with the local authority 

 Providing communication channels for the local community that will enable residents and 
businesses to access sufficient detailed information prior to the event days 

 Providing a hotline and information phone number for residents and local businesses for the 
duration of the event. 

 
 
29.0 TABLES AND CHAIRS ON THE HIGHWAY 
 
29.1 Licensed premises that wish to provide tables and chairs on the public highway may only do so 

under permission of a Street Café Licence issued by Council’s Highways Service. These licences 
are subject to their own specific restrictions / conditions of use. Please contact the Council’s 
Highways Service for further information.  

 
 
30.0 FILM CLASSIFICATIONS  
 
30.1 Where a Premises Licence authorises the exhibition of films, the licence must include a condition 

requiring the admission of children to films to be restricted in accordance with: 
 

 Either the BBFC classification; 

 Or where the film is not classified by the BBFC, any recommendations made by the Licensing 
Authority. 

 
30.2 In accordance with the guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, the Licensing 

Authority shall concern itself primarily with the protection of children from harm when classifying 
films. It will not use its powers to censor films save where there is clear cause to believe this is 
required to promote the licensing objectives. 

 
30.3 The Licensing Authority considers the classification system used by the BBFC to be nationally 

understood and accepted. It will, therefore, use this system as a reference point for determining its 
recommendation(s) on the restriction of access of children to the film(s). However, it should be 
noted that the Licensing Authority is not obliged to follow these guidelines. 

Page 289



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 36 

30.4 Requests for certification by the Licensing Authority should be made at least in writing 28 days in 
advance of the proposed screening date and submitted to the Licensing Authority. Requests should 
include: 

 

 A DVD copy of the film 

 Details of any existing classification issued by an existing classification body, whether 
within or outside the UK 

 A synopsis identifying the material within the film considered by the exhibitor to be likely to have 
a bearing on the age limit for the audience for exhibition of the film 

 Such recommendation as may have been made by the film-maker upon age limit for the 
intended audience for exhibition of the film 

 Proposal of age restriction by the applicant. 
 
 
31.0 COUNTER TERRORISM  
 
31.1 Crowded places, such as bars, pubs, nightclubs and music venues have been targets of acts of 

terrorism across the UK and the world. The National Counter Terrorism Security Office (NaCTSO) 
has produced guidance to operators of crowded places giving advice to operators to reduce the 
threat of attack. Applicants and licence holders are encouraged to have regard to this guidance in 
the design and operation of their premises. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3
74593/Pubs_and_Clubs_Reviewed.pdf  

 
31.2 ACT (formerly known as Project Griffin) is the national counter terrorism awareness initiative for 

organisations produced by NaCTSO to protect towns and cities and communities from the threat of 
terrorism. ACT aims to advise raise awareness among security personnel, managers and other front 
line staff about counter-terrorism measures so that everyone is better equipped to deal with security 
challenges on a day-to-day basis and in the event of a major incident. ACT E-Learning guidance /          
training is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/news/act-awareness-elearning  

 
 
32.0 PUBLIC HEALTH  
 
32.1 Section 104 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 amends the Licensing Act 

2003 by adding local directors of public health to the list of responsible authorities, meaning that 
local public health bodies are now consulted in respect of every licensing application processed by 
the Licensing Authority. 

 
32.2 As a responsible authority, the Council’s Public Health department can make representations in 

relation to applications for the grant, variation, minor variation or review of premises licences and 
club premises certificates. In addition, the Public Health department may themselves seek a review 
of a premises licence. Any representation must be specific to the premises and cannot be a general 
objection. 

 
32.3 Representations should be evidence-based and should demonstrably refer to one or more of the 

licensing objectives. As there is no licensing objective relating to public health, the Council’s Public 
Health department must ensure representations are relevant to one of the four existing objectives. 
 

 
 

Page 290

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/374593/Pubs_and_Clubs_Reviewed.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/374593/Pubs_and_Clubs_Reviewed.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/act-awareness-elearning


 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 37 

 
33.0 THE LICENSING PROCESS 
 
33.1 The duties of the Licensing Authority under the Act may be carried out by the Licensing Committee, 

by a Sub-committee or by one or more officers, acting under authority delegated to them by the 
Authority. The scheme of delegations of licensing functions under the Act can be found at Appendix 
B.  

 
33.2 It is expected that many of the functions of the Authority will be largely administrative in nature, with 

no perceived areas of contention. In the interests of efficiency and cost-effectiveness these will, for 
the most part, be carried out by officers. 

 
33.3 The Authority will expect applicants to address the Licensing Objectives in their Operating 

Schedules, having regard to the type of premises, the licensable activities proposed, the operational 
procedures, the nature of the location and the needs of the local community. 

 
33.4 Applicants are also encouraged to make themselves aware of any relevant planning and transport 

policies, tourism and cultural strategies or local crime and disorder strategies, and to have taken 
these into account, where appropriate, in the formulation of their Operating Schedules. 

 
33.5 The Authority will have regard to Guidance issued by the Home Office when determining 

applications. In particular, account will be taken of the need to encourage and promote live music, 
dancing and similar activities for the wider cultural benefit of the community as a whole, including 
such diverse art forms as street entertainment and circuses. If representations are made concerning 
the potential for disturbance in a particular neighbourhood, then those concerns will be carefully 
balanced against the wider benefits to the community. 

 
33.6 When attaching conditions to a licence, the Authority will be aware of the need to avoid, as far as 

possible, measures which might deter live music, dancing or theatre through the imposition of 
substantial indirect costs. It will also monitor the impact of licensing on regulated entertainment, 
particularly live music and dancing. 

 

 
  
 
 

Page 291



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 38 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendices 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 292



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 39 

APPENDIX A – CONSULTEES AND RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES 
 

Consultees 
 

Greater Manchester Police 
 Greater Manchester Fire Service 
 RBC – Children Safeguarding Unit 
 RBC – Environmental Health Service 
 RBC – Trading Standards Service 
 RBC – Development Control Service 
 RBC – Public Health 
 RBC - Building Control Service  
 Home Office (Immigration) 

Mark Foxley (Chairman of the Rochdale Pub and Club Watch) 
Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership 
Rochdale Town Centre Management 
Middleton Town Centre Management 
Rochdale Boroughwide Housing  
RBC Councillors 
J W Lees (Brewers) Ltd 
Manchester Golf Club Ltd (representative of local holders of club certificates) 
Hopwood Unionist Club (representative of local holders of club certificates) 
Amber Taverns 
Nectar Taverns 
County Estate Pubs  
Joseph Holt Ltd 
Hyde's Brewery 
Marstons PLC 
Frederick Robinson Ltd 
Compass Contract Services (UK) 
Scottish & Newcastle Pub Company 
Country Estate Management Pubs 
Demar Services Ltd 
Dingle Bank Management  
Discount Booze Ltd 
DPP Restaurants Ltd 
Freshway 
GP Retail Services Ltd 
Lidl UK 
Bargain Booze 
Punch Taverns 
Young & Smith Ltd 
Tesco Licensing Team 
Zoe Orford Ltd 
Association of Convenience Stores 
Association of License multiple retailers 
Association of Town Centre Managers 
British Board of Film Classification 
British Beer & Pub Association 
British Institute of Innkeeping 
British Retail Consortium 

Page 293



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 40 

Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
Cinema Exhibitors Association 
Equity 
Independent Street Arts Network 
Institute of Licensing 
Licensed Victuallers Association 
National Pubwatch 
National Association of Local Government Art Officers 
NOCTIS 
Daniel Thwaites  
Mitchells & Butler Leisure Retail Ltd 
JD Weatherspoons 
Co-Operative Group PLC 
Admiral taverns Ltd 
Asda Stores Ltd 
Aldi Stores Ltd 
Flint Bishop Solicitors 
Greens Solicitors 
Hillyer McKeown Solicitors 
Hammonds 
Hall & Co 
Shoosmiths 
John Gaunt & Partners 
JMC Licensing  
Joelson Wilson LLP 
JST Lawyers 
Keoghs Solicitors 
Kuit Solicitors 
Kenneth Curtis & Co 
Locking Solicitors 
Lockett & Co 
Maitland walker Solicitors 
Lawrence Graham LLP 
Licensed Solutions Ltd 
Lees Solicitors 
Licensing Legal 
Lin & Co Solicitors 
Lunn Groves Solicitors 
Matrix Solicitors 
McClellans Solicitors 
Nick Dickinson Licensing Ltd 
Norton & Co Solicitors 
Pearson Hincliffe Solicitors 
Pinsent Masons 
Poppleston Allan 
Ricksons Solicitors 
Rasiah & Co  
Steeles Solicitors 
Sherrards Solicitors 
Stephensons Solicitors 
Silver Fox Licensing Consultants Ltd 

Page 294



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 41 

Trethowans 
TLT Solicitors 
Turbervilles Solicitors 
Winckworth Sherwood 
Waldron & Schofield 
W Licensing Ltd  
Anthony Collin LLP 
Crutes LLP 
Hallsalls  
David Scholes Solicitors 
Hill Dickenson  
The Coach House Brewing Company 
Hardys and Hansons PLC 
G and J Greenall brewery 
Greene King Retailing ltd 
Rochdale Law Association 
Rochdale Safer Communities Partnership 
Rochdale Cultural Trust 
Heywood Middleton & Rochdale Primary Care Trust  
Rochdale Development Agency 
Rochdale Development Agency 
Berwin Leighton Pasiner 
Bevan Brittan 
Blake Lapthorn Tarlo Lyons 
Bond Pearce LLP 
Browne Jacobson LLP 
Camden Management Services Ltd 
Cobbetts 
Cripps Harries Hall LLP 
Daniel Hurd Associates 
Davies Wallace Foyster 
E A D Solicitors LLP 
Edwards Geldard Solicitors 
Forbes Solicitors 
Ford & Warren 
Fraser Brown Solicitors (Knights) 
Freeth Cartwright 
Forshaw Davies Solicitors 
George Davies Solicitors 
Gosschalks Solicitors 
Gordons LLP 
Harrison Clark LLP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 295



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 42 

Responsible Authorities (Under the Act) 

 
Jahangir Alom 
Rochdale Borough Council  
Licensing Service 
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale  
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 924114 
Email: licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk  

PC Gary Grennan 
Greater Manchester Police 
Divisional HQ 
The Holme 
The Esplanade 
Rochdale 
OL16 1AG 
Tel: 0161 856 8485 
Email: rochdale.partnershipteam@gmp.police.uk  

Clive Smith 
GM Fire & Rescue Service  
Rochdale Central HQ 
Rochdale Fire Station 
Halifax Road 
Rochdale 
OL12 9BD 
Tel: 01706 900110 
Email: 
P&PAdminTeamBuryOldh@manchesterfire.go
v.uk  

Louise Dent 
Rochdale Borough Council 
Environmental Health Noise Nuisance 
Service  
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 924137 
Email: louise.dent@rochdale.gov.uk 

Gary Parkinson 
Rochdale Borough Council 
Environmental Health, Health & Safety 
Service  
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 924138   
Email: gary.parkinson@rochdale.gov.uk  
jackie.hall@rochdale.gov.uk    

Rochdale Borough Council 
Planning Service  
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 924134 
Email:  
Development.controlenforcement@rochdale.gov.uk  

Rochdale Borough Council 
Safeguarding Children Unit 
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale  
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 925395 / 925359 
Email: lee-anne.agard@rochdale.gov.uk  
 

Kerry Ambrose 
Rochdale Borough Council 
Trading Standards Service 
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale  
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 924167 
Email: Trading.standards@rochdale.gov.uk   

Wendy Meston 
Public Health 
Number One Riverside 
Smith Street 
Rochdale 
OL16 1XU 
Tel: 01706 652839 
Email: wendy.meston@rochdale.gov.uk   

Home Office Immigration  
Alcohol Licensing Team 
Lunar House 
40 Wellesley Road 
Croydon 
CR9 2BY 
Email: Alcohol@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk  

 

Page 296

mailto:licensing.reg@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:rochdale.partnershipteam@gmp.police.uk
mailto:P&PAdminTeamBuryOldh@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:P&PAdminTeamBuryOldh@manchesterfire.gov.uk
mailto:louise.dent@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:gary.parkinson@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:jackie.hall@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:Development.controlenforcement@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:lee-anne.agard@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:Trading.standards@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:wendy.meston@rochdale.gov.uk
mailto:Alcohol@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 43 

APPENDIX B – EXERCISE AND DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS 
 
The Council Constitution delegates the governance arrangements in respect of the 
Licensing Act 2003 to the Licensing Sub-Committee except Policy issues which are reserved to Council by 
the Act. The delegated functions are exercised in accordance with this table:  
 

Matter to be dealt with Licensing Sub-Committee Officers 

 
Application for personal 
licence 
 

 
If a representation is made 

 
If no representation is made 
 

 
Application for personal 
licence with unspent 
convictions 
 

 
All cases 

 
 

 
Application for premises 
licence/club premises 
certificate 
 

 
If a representation is made 

 
If no representation is made 

 
Application for provisional 
statement 
 

 
If a representation is made 

 
If no representation is made 

 
Application to vary 
designated personal licence 
holder 

 
If a police representation 

 
All other cases 
 
 

 
Request to be removed as a 
designated personal licence 
holder 
 

  
All cases 
 
 
 

 
Application for transfer of 
premises licence 
 

 
If a police representation 

 
All other cases 
 
 

 
Application for Interim 
Authorities 
 

 
If police representation 

 
All other cases 
 
 

 
Application to review 
premises licence/club 
premises certificate 

 
All cases 

 
 
 
 

 
Decision on whether a 
complaint is irrelevant, 
frivolous, vexatious etc 

  
All cases 

 

Page 297



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 44 

 
Decision to object when local 
authority is a consultee and 
not the lead authority 
 

  
All cases 

 
Decision to object when local 
authority is a consultee  and 
not the lead authority 
 

 
All cases 

 

 
Determination of an objection 
to a temporary event notice 
 

 
All cases 

 

 
Determination of an 
application to vary premises 
licence at community 
premises to include 
alternative licence condition 

 
If police objection 

 
All other cases 

 
Decision whether to consult 
other responsible authorities 
on minor variation application 

  
All cases 

 
Determination of application 
for minor variation 
 

  
All cases 

 
Application for review by 
Licensing Authority 
 

  
All cases 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 298



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 45 

APPENDIX C – STATUTORY QUALIFYING CONDITIONS FOR CLUBS 
 
The following qualifying conditions for clubs are extracted from the Licensing Act 2003.  
 
62  The general conditions  
(1) The general conditions which a club must satisfy if it is to be a qualifying club in relation to a 

qualifying club activity are the following.  
 
(2) Condition 1 is that under the rules of the club persons may not —  
(a) be admitted to membership, or  
(b) be admitted, as candidates for membership, to any of the privileges of membership, without an 

interval of at least two days between their nomination or application for membership and their 
admission.  

 
(3) Condition 2 is that under the rules of the club persons becoming members without prior nomination 

or application may not be admitted to the privileges of membership without an interval of at least two 
days between their becoming members and their admission.  

 
(4) Condition 3 is that the club is established and conducted in good faith as a club (see section 63). 
 
(5) Condition 4 is that the club has at least 25 members. 
 
(6) Condition 5 is that alcohol is not supplied, or intended to be supplied, to members on the premises 

otherwise than by or on behalf of the club.  
 
63  Determining whether a club is established and conducted in good faith  
(1) In determining for the purposes of condition 3 in subsection (4) of section 62 whether a club is 

established and conducted in good faith as a club, the matters to be taken into account are those 
specified in subsection (2).  

 
(2) Those matters are —  
(a) any arrangements restricting the club’s freedom of purchase of alcohol;  
(b) any provision in the rules, or arrangements, under which —  
(i) money or property of the club, or  
(ii) any gain arising from the carrying on of the club,  

is or may be applied otherwise than for the benefit of the club as a whole or for charitable, 
benevolent or political purposes;  

(c) the arrangements for giving members information about the finances of the club;  
(d) the books of account and other records kept to ensure the accuracy of that information;  
(e) the nature of the premises occupied by the club.  
 
(3) If a licensing authority decides for any purpose of this Act that a club does not satisfy condition 3 in 

subsection (4) of section 62, the authority must give the club notice of the decision and of the 
reasons for it.  

 
64  The additional conditions for the supply of alcohol  
(1) The additional conditions which a club must satisfy if it is to be a qualifying club in relation to the 

supply of alcohol to members or guests are the following.  
 

Page 299



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 46 

(2) Additional condition 1 is that (so far as not managed by the club in general meeting or otherwise by 
the general body of members) the purchase of alcohol for the club, and the supply of alcohol by the 
club, are managed by a committee whose members: 

(a) are members of the club;  
(b) have attained the age of 18 years; and  
(c) are elected by the members of the club.  
 

This subsection is subject to section 65 (which makes special provision for industrial and provident 
societies, friendly societies etc.).  

 
(3) Additional condition 2 is that no arrangements are, or are intended to be, made for any person to 

receive at the expense of the club any commission, percentage or similar payment on, or with 
reference to, purchases of alcohol by the club.  

 
(4) Additional condition 3 is that no arrangements are, or are intended to be, made for any person 

directly or indirectly to derive any pecuniary benefit from the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of the 
club to members or guests, apart from —  

(a) any benefit accruing to the club as a whole, or  
(b) any benefit which a person derives indirectly by reason of the supply giving rise or contributing to a 

general gain from the carrying on of the club.  
 
65  Industrial and provident societies, friendly societies etc.  
(1) Subsection (2) applies in relation to any club which is —  
(a) a registered society, within the meaning of the Industrial and Provident Societies Act 1965 (c. 

12)(see section 74(1) of that Act),  
(b) a registered society, within the meaning of the Friendly Societies Act 1974 (c. 46) (see section 

111(1) of that Act), or  
(c) a registered friendly society, within the meaning of the Friendly Societies Act 1992 (c. 40) (see 

section 116 of that Act). 
 
(2) Any such club is to be taken for the purposes of this Act to satisfy additional condition 1 in 

subsection (2) of section 64 if and to the extent that: 
(a) the purchase of alcohol for the club, and  
(b) the supply of alcohol by the club,  

are under the control of the members or of a committee appointed by the members.  
 
(3) References in this Act, other than this section, to —  
(a) subsection (2) of section 64, or  
(b) additional condition 1 in that subsection, are references to it as read with subsection (1) of this 

section.  
 
(4) Subject to subsection (5), this Act applies in relation to an incorporated friendly society as it applies 

in relation to a club, and accordingly —  
(a) the premises of the society are to be treated as the premises of a club,  
(b) the members of the society are to be treated as the members of the club, and  
(c) anything done by or on behalf of the society is to be treated as done by or on behalf of the club.  
 
(5) In determining for the purposes of section 61 whether an incorporated friendly society is a qualifying 

club in relation to a qualifying club activity, the society is to be taken to satisfy the following 
conditions —  

(a) condition 3 in subsection (4) of section 62,  

Page 300



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 47 

(b) condition 5 in subsection (6) of that section,  
(c) the additional conditions in section 64.  
 
(6) In this section “incorporated friendly society” has the same meaning as in the Friendly Societies Act 

1992 (see section 116 of that Act).  
 
66  Miners’ welfare institutes  
(1) Subject to subsection (2), this Act applies to a relevant miners’ welfare institute as it applies to a 

club, and accordingly —  
(a) the premises of the institute are to be treated as the premises of a club,  
(b) the persons enrolled as members of the institute are to be treated as the members of the club, and  
(c) anything done by or on behalf of the trustees or managers in carrying on the institute is to be treated 

as done by or on behalf of the club.  
 
(2) In determining for the purposes of section 61 whether a relevant miners’ welfare institute is a 

qualifying club in relation to a qualifying club activity, the institute is to be taken to satisfy the 
following conditions —  

(a) condition 3 in subsection (4) of section 62,  
(b) condition 4 in subsection (5) of that section,  
(c) condition 5 in subsection (6) of that section,  
(d) the additional conditions in section 64.  
 
(3) For the purposes of this section —  
(a) “miners’ welfare institute” means an association organised for the social well-being and recreation of 

persons employed in or about coal mines (or of such persons in particular), and  
(b) a miners’ welfare institute is “relevant” if it satisfies one of the following conditions.  
 
(4)  The first condition is that —  
(a) the institute is managed by a committee or board, and  
(b) at least two thirds of the committee or board consists —  
(i) partly of persons appointed or nominated, or appointed or elected from among persons nominated, 

by one or more licensed operators within the meaning of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (c. 21), and  
(ii) partly of persons appointed or nominated, or appointed or elected from among persons nominated, 

by one or more organisations representing persons employed in or about coal mines.  
 
(5)  The second condition is that —  
(a) the institute is managed by a committee or board, but  
(b) the making of —  
(i) an appointment or nomination falling within subsection (4)(b)(i), or  
(ii) an appointment or nomination falling within subsection (4)(b)(ii), is not practicable or would not be 

appropriate, and  
(c) at least two thirds of the committee or board consists —  
(i) partly of persons employed, or formerly employed, in or about coal mines, and  
(ii) partly of persons appointed by the Coal Industry Social Welfare Organisation or a body or person to 

which the functions of that Organisation have been transferred under section 12(3) of the Miners’ 
Welfare Act 1952 (c. 23).  

 
(6) The third condition is that the premises of the institute are held on trusts to which section 2 of the 

Recreational Charities Act 1958 (c. 17) applies. 
 
 

Page 301



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 48 

APPENDIX D – THE HYPNOTISM ACT 1952  
 
Conditions  
 
1. The artiste shall be competent in the inducement of, and reversal of, a state of hypnosis. 
 
2. No exhibition, demonstration, or performance of hypnotism shall involve any person under the age of 18 
years. 
 
3. The exhibition, demonstration or performance of hypnotism shall not, either directly or indirectly, induce, 
suggest to, or direct any person to behave in a manner which is either - 
 
                a) obscene, indecent, or offensive, and/or 
                b) aggressive, and/or 
                c) demeaning to an extent which would be unacceptable to the 
                   ordinary common person. 
 
4. Any form of induced sleep or trance, under which any person is placed in the course of the exhibition, 
demonstration, or performance of hypnotism, shall be fully reversed immediately after that person’s part in 
the exhibition, demonstration, or performance is concluded. 
 
5. These Conditions form part of the authorisation, and shall be monitored/enforced by a responsible 
member of the management of the premises. 
 
6. The hypnotist must produce satisfactory evidence of current Public Liability Insurance cover, (to a 
minimum level of £1,000,000), to the management of the venue prior to the performance taking place. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 302



 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 

rochdale.gov.uk 49 

  

Rochdale Borough Council 

Number One Riverside 

Smith Street 

Rochdale OL16 1YH 

 

  rochdale.gov.uk 

  01706 647474 

  council@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 303



Schedule of Responses to draft Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026          
 

Reference  Respondent  Comments Action Taken / Comments 

 

Email received 
24 July 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RBC Cllr Janet 
Emsley 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

‘it’s very wordy and may need an overhaul’; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
‘typos – Suspension of Premises Licences / Club Premises 
Certificates should read Suspension of Premises’ Licences 
and Club Premises’ certificates and every other reference 
should be apostrophised’; 
 
‘not sure if I am happy’ with the definition of a sex- 
related nature (e.g. topless waitresses, striptease, table 
dancing). ‘This assumes that topless females are sex 
related but males aren’t’; 
 
‘does it need an extra bit about reserving the right to do 
everything differently in a pandemic?’  
 

Due regard has been given to the comments.  
 
The Licensing Act 2003 is a lengthy and 
complex piece of legislation. The statement 
of licensing policy is intending to reflect the 
statutory provisions of the Act and attempts 
to provide comprehensive information and 
guidance to applicants in their submission of 
applications, etc.  
 
Draft policy can be amended to correct the 
typos/grammatical errors that have been 
kindly identified. 
 
 
The examples of sex-related nature has been 
lifted from Government guidance, but the 
reference to ‘topless waitresses’ can be 
removed.  
 
The practices and processes under the 
Licensing Act 2003 are statutory and acting 
outside can be deemed ultra vires. The 
Licensing Authority is unable to do anything 
differently in light of the COVID-19 
pandemic, unless there is a change in 

P
age 304



 primary legislation or there is specific set of 
guidance provided by the Government to all 
local authorities.      
 
The Licensing Authority seeks to avoid any 
duplication with other statutory/regulatory 
systems. It is already a legal obligation to 
have Health & Safety risk assessments under 
existing legislation; therefore the policy 
should not be amended in this respect.   
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 305



Document is Restricted

Page 306

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 315

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 464

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 470

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 473

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 479

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 480

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 481

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 483

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 485

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	6 Finance Update Report Period 6
	4. Revenue Budget 2020/21
	4.2 Health & Social Care Pool Budget
	4.3 Budget Pressures
	4.4 Savings
	4.5 Transformation Fund
	4.6 Capital Budget 2020/21
	4.6.1 Capital Budget Changes

	7 Calculation of 2021-22 Taxbase
	8 Council Tax Empty Property Charges
	9 2021/22 Setting the Business Rate Base
	10 Special Guardianship
	Special Guardianship Support Policy Document v8

	11 Savings Programme 2021/22
	Append. 1 for Savings Programme 2021/22

	12 Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026
	Append. 1 for Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026
	Append. 2 for Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026

	14 Savings Programme 2021/22 (Part 2)
	Append. 1 for Savings Programme 2021/22, 01/12/2020 Cabinet

	15 Financial Assessment (DLA) Review
	16 Bulk Printing Procurement
	17 Littleborough Primary School Project
	Append. 1 for Littleborough Primary School Project
	Append. 2 for Littleborough Primary School Project
	Append. 3 for Littleborough Primary School Project
	Append. 4 for Littleborough Primary School Project

	18 Proposed changes to EM Services - Bowlee Nursery

